

Nanochitin: Chemistry, Structure, Assembly, and Applications

Long Bai,* Liang Liu, Marianelly Esquivel, Blaise L. Tardy, Siqi Huan, Xun Niu, Shouxin Liu, Guihua Yang, Yimin Fan,* and Orlando J. Rojas*

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2022, 122, 11604–11674		🔇 Read C	Read Online	
ACCESS	LIII Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

ABSTRACT: Chitin, a fascinating biopolymer found in living organisms, fulfills current demands of availability, sustainability, biocompatibility, biodegradability, functionality, and renewability. A feature of chitin is its ability to structure into hierarchical assemblies, spanning the nano- and macroscales, imparting toughness and resistance (chemical, biological, among others) to multicomponent materials as well as adding adaptability, tunability, and versatility. Retaining the inherent structural characteristics of chitin and its colloidal features in dispersed media has been central to its use, considering it as a building block for the construction of emerging materials. Top-down chitin designs have been reported and differentiate from the traditional molecular-level, bottom-up synthesis and assembly for material development. Such topics are the focus of this Review, which also covers the origins and biological characteristics of chitin and their influence on the morphological and physical-chemical properties. We discuss recent achievements in the isolation, deconstruction, and fractionation of chitin nanostructures of varying axial aspects (nanofibrils and nanorods) along with methods for their modification and assembly into



functional materials. We highlight the role of nanochitin in its native architecture and as a component of materials subjected to multiscale interactions, leading to highly dynamic and functional structures. We introduce the most recent advances in the applications of nanochitin-derived materials and industrialization efforts, following green manufacturing principles. Finally, we offer a critical perspective about the adoption of nanochitin in the context of advanced, sustainable materials.

CONTENTS

1. Nanochitin and Its Sustainability		
1.1. Nanochitin as a Renewable Material	11605	
1.2. Nanochitin Characteristics	11605	
1.3. Scope of This Review	11606	
2. Origin, Biological, and Chemical Features of		
Chitin	11607	
2.1. Biological Origins of Chitin	11607	
2.1.1. Chitin's Multiscale Structures and Func-		
tions	11607	
2.1.2. Biogenesis of Chitin	11611	
2.2. Chitin Chemistry	11614	
2.2.1. Chitin's Structural Chemistry	11614	
2.2.2. Chitin's Surface Chemistry	11615	
2.2.3. Chitin's Bioactivity	11615	
3. Isolation and Engineering of Nanochitin	11616	
3.1. Chitin Extraction	11616	
3.2. Isolation of Nanochitin	11618	
3.2.1. Isolation of Chitin Nanofiber, ChNF	11618	
3.2.2. Isolation of Chitin Nanocrystal, ChNC	11622	
3.3. Engineering Nanochitin	11626	
3.3.1. Chitin's Hydroxyl Groups	11626	
3.3.2. Chitin's Amino Groups	11626	
3.3.3. Surface Grafting	11627	

4. Assembly of Nanochitin at Multiple Length				
Scales	11628			
4.1. Multiscale Assembly	11628			
4.1.1. Molecular-Scale Interactions				
4.1.2. Colloidal-Scale Interactions				
4.1.3. Micro- and Macroscale Interactions	11631			
4.2. Assembly of Nanochitin at Interfaces	11633			
4.2.1. Nanochitin at Liquid/Liquid Interfaces	11633			
4.2.2. Nanochitin at Air/Liquid Interfaces	11634			
4.2.3. Nanochitin at Solid/Liquid Interfaces	11634			
4.3. Assembly of Nanochitin in Water	11634			
4.3.1. Self-Assembly of Chitin Nanocrystals in				
Liquid Crystalline Phases	11635			
4.3.2. Coassembly of Chitin Nanocrystals in				
Liquid Crystalline Phases	11637			
4.3.3. Other Forms of Nanochitin Assembly in				
Water	11638			
4.4. Process-Induced Nanochitin Assembly	11638			

Received: February 15, 2022 Published: June 2, 2022





© 2022 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society

5. Applications of Nanochitin in Multidimensional				
Materials	11640			
5.1. Application of Nanochitins as Building				
Blocks				
5.1.1. Nanochitin as a Pickering Stabilizer	11641			
5.1.2. Nanochitin as a Functional Additive	11643			
5.2. Fibers and Filaments	11643			
5.2.1. Wet-Spinning	11643			
5.2.2. Dry-Spinning	11645			
5.2.3. Electrospinning				
5.3. Films				
5.3.1. Films Obtained from Nanochitin Sus-				
pensions	11647			
5.3.2. Films Obtained from Nanochitin Com-				
posites	11649			
5.3.3. Nanochitin Coatings	11649			
5.4. Gels and Three-Dimensional Structures	11651			
5.4.1. Nanochitin Hydrogels, Aerogels, and				
Cryogels	11651			
5.4.2. Emerging Applications of Nanochitin				
Gels	11652			
6. Industrialization Perspectives	11654			
6.1. Industrialization Opportunities				
6.1.1. Source of Feedstocks	11654			
6.1.2. Industrial Production	11654			
6.1.3. Consumer Acceptability	11655			
6.2. Bioeconomy Vision	11655			
7. Summary and Perspectives	11655			
Author Information	11656			
Corresponding Authors	11656			
Authors	11656			
Notes	11656			
Biographies				
Acknowledgments				
List of Abbreviations				
References				

1. NANOCHITIN AND ITS SUSTAINABILITY

1.1. Nanochitin as a Renewable Material

Society is witnessing a global impetus toward regenerative systems that move us closer to the goals of the bioeconomy and fast-changing materials production models,¹ directing to improve the quality of life while minimizing or preventing negative impacts on the environment. This requires a shift of material screening from fossil sources to biomass ones,² wherein accessible bioresources are critical. The ocean ecosystem, covering 71% of Earth's total surface and containing 97% of all water on our planet, is a source of life^{3,4} and emerges as an "unlimited" bioresource.⁵ This is particularly true as the development of aquaculture overcomes many of the issues that are associated with agricultural land use, which can eventually reach saturation. The biomass found in the ocean possesses unique structures compared to that in land organisms;^{6,7} however, it represents a minor subject in the field of natural biopolymers, vastly outweighed by the popularity of plant-based resources. An exception is the case of biopolymers sourced from algae, which can be envisioned as an active area in future ocean-based biorefineries. On the other hand, chitin is the most abundant biopolymer in the ocean, principally present in the exoskeletons of crustaceans.⁸ Annually, 6-8 million tons of waste crab, shrimp, and lobster

shells are produced globally,¹⁰ particularly from Asian counties.¹¹ Basically, chitin is a long-chain polymer of (1,4)- β -N-acetylglucosamine, a derivative of glucose,^{12,13} making it a major precursor of cationic polysaccharides from nature, and exhibits biological activity, biocompatibility, biodegradability, low allergenicity, and easy processability.^{14–17}

Despite its many attractive features, chitin remains among the least utilized biomass resource given its intractable structure and recalcitrance toward processing.¹⁸ Indeed, after its discovery over two centuries ago,¹⁹ reports on chitin utilization is only dated in recent decades (Figure 1a). Chitin is mostly used in its highly deacetylated (degraded) form, known as chitosan, which shows good solubility and processability in acidic conditions.²⁰ However, the abundant waste produced in chitosan production can be seen as a limitation to the sustainable use of chitin,²¹ which justifies the consideration of new strategies with better environmental and economic prospects. Thus, direct processing and conversion of chitin into novel building blocks, fitting material design and creation, represent a green and well justified alternative. To this end, one can take advantage of the structural characteristics of chitin at the nanoscale, referred in this Review as "nanochitin". Nanochitin is the elementary building block of chitin structures, more precisely, hierarchical mesostructures, featuring similar chemical and biological reactivity compared to the chitin precursor. Understanding the structural construction of nanochitin in nature, as well as its chemical adaptability, will facilitate its adoption toward performance optimization and inspire the design of novel engineered materials. Considering the annual rate of publications in the area, research related to nanochitin follows a much slower rate compared with that of the parent chitin (Figure 1b). Therefore, the characteristics of nanochitin, particularly from the material perspective, remain a topic for upcoming discoveries.

1.2. Nanochitin Characteristics

Structurally, nanochitin is considered as an assembly of semicrystalline chitin nanofibrils that show highly oriented nanocrystals embedded in an amorphous matrix, wherein single nanofibrils are packed into highly orientated microfibrils or fibril bundles that are held together by van der Waals (vdW) forces and hydrogen bonding (H-bonding).²² The attractive properties of nanochitin stem partially from its fibrillar or rodlike nature, nanometer lateral dimension, and tailorable crystallinity, among others. Chemically, nanochitin is confined by a sheath of proteins and is assembled into elongated fibrils that are embedded in a mineral-protein matrix in the exoskeleton of arthropods. Hence, removal of proteins and minerals is a necessary step prior to nanochitin isolation. Unlike other forms of natural nanopolysaccharides, nanochitin contains nitrogen, which is crucial for life.²³ The amino groups also endow nanochitin with versatile processing and a vast number of applications that are not typical of their nanopolysaccharide counterparts.

In this Review, we consider two types of nanochitin, chitin nanofiber (ChNF) and nanocrystal (ChNC), which have equally attracted research interests in recent years (Figure 1c). To keep the inherent native crystalline structure, the most common route to access nanochitin is direct disintegration of chitin bundles. Hence, unlike most synthetic nanoparticles, nanochitin is produced top-down and preserves, to some degree, the biological morphology and ordered structure in shells. Thus, different from the regenerated chitin nanomateri-



Figure 1. (a) Timeline of discovery, analysis, extraction, use, and future direction of chitin and nanochitin. Red and purple dashed frames indicate chitin nanocrystal and nanofiber, respectively. Adapted with permission from ref 19. Copyright 2018 Elsevier. Summary of publications relating to (b) chitin, nanochitin, and nanocellulose and (c) comparison of chitin nanofibers and nanocrystals. The number of publications was collected from the Science and Engineering Indicators of the National Science Foundation between 2000 and 2020 using Scopus. The research was limited to titles, abstracts, and keywords as follows: *chitin/cellulose (*) nanocrystal and nanofiber*, including ** nanowhisker*, ** whisker*, ** nanorod*, ** crystallite, nanocrystalline *, * nanofiber*, ** nanofibrillar *, and nanofibrillated *.*

als based on the dissolved chitin,¹⁸ nanochitin maintains a sophisticated meso-architecture that reflects that of its source, endowing the possibility for reconstruction into structures that take advantage of the features of "nanosized units" essential for nanotechnology as a field.¹⁹

The processing methods used to produce nanochain greatly influence its characteristics. ChNC is typically produced by controlled chemical reactions that selectively remove the disordered chitin segments present in the source material, leaving chitin crystallites intact.²⁴ Upon processing, surface charges, either positive or negative, can be installed on the ChNC surface, which ensures colloidal stability in aqueous media. The resultant nanoparticles can be considered as rigid nanorods (highly crystalline chitin assemblies),²⁵ akin to cellulose nanocrystals (CNC).^{26,27} ChNF, on the other hand, is obtained by disintegrating native chitin using mechanical treatments without removal of the disordered, noncrystalline regions. When no surface chemical treatment is applied to native chitin, mechanical shearing, even under intense conditions, results in ChNF that presents heterogeneously distributed lateral dimensions. On the contrary, more individualized ChNF, e.g., with relatively uniform lateral dimensions, can be achieved by mechanically disintegrating chitin after chemical pretreatment, wherein enhanced interfibrillar repulsion exists given the ionized nanofibril surface. Important features of ChNF include its high axial aspect ratio and flexibility, which promote entanglement and, together with hydration and electrostatic interactions (if present), facilitate the formation of hydrogels at low concentrations.

In the past two decades, nanochitin has increasingly captured the attention of academia, as evidenced by the rapid publication growth (Figure 1b); nevertheless, it still lags behind other biomass-based nanoparticles, such as nano-celluloses,²⁸ particularly in the recent decade (Figure 1b). The

main reason for this latter observation is likely related to the fact that although chitin shares many similarities with cellulose, the hydroxyl groups in chitin are partially occupied with acetyl amine, resulting in stronger H-bonding between the neighboring chains.²⁹ This makes chitin more stable and more difficult to be disintegrated or isolated than cellulose, significantly affecting access and conversion of chitin to nanochitin, not to mention that the acceptability of nanochitin in different cultures influences its utilization and commercialization. To conclude, nanochitin has been less popular compared to other renewable nanoparticles but shows significant attractiveness given its remarkable potential, which deserves a systematic investigation in the future and is the main subject of this Review.

1.3. Scope of This Review

We review the topic of nanochitin as a source of sustainable materials, following the general structure schematically illustrated in Figure 2. We highlight the use of nanochitin to improve the accessibility and utilization of ocean and other resources and emphasize a performance that matches or surpasses that of other biomass-based nanomaterials (Figure 2, panel 1). Several recent reviews have considered nanochitin, mostly focusing on its application and covering topics related to material development and associated physicochemical properties. Here, we comprehensively discuss aspects related to nanochitin colloidal interactions and assemblies to develop new functions. We address the possibility of harnessing the fundamental chemical and structural characteristics of nanochitin to guide material assembly, design, and development, highlighting the significance and uniqueness of each involved step, including isolation, modification, processing, reconstruction, and industrialization. Particularly, we refer to advances in nanochitin produced from top-down strategies, acknowledging



Figure 2. Structure of this Review, which includes a brief introduction (panel 1, section 1) and introduces the relationship between chitin chemistry (section 2) and its deconstruction into nanochitin (panel 3, section 3). The Review also covers the main interactions (panel 4, section 4) that rule the multiscale structuring of nanochitin in a variety of media, resulting in diverse applications. The latter take advantage of multidimensional phenomena (panel 5, section 5). Finally, we present the promise of nanochitin in relation to industrialization and to accelerate materials development in the context of the bioeconomy (panel 6, section 6).

bottom-up synthesis routes.^{18,30} Herein, we first discuss the origin and biological and chemical features of chitin, which are key aspects relevant to its deconstruction into nanochitin, giving an accent to the superiority of top-down approaches and highlighting the adaptability of nanochitin (Figure 2, panels 2 and 3). The assembly interactions that take part in the multiscale structuring of nanochitin in a variety of media are then summarized (Figure 2, panel 4), bearing in mind that processing conditions greatly influence the suprastructures of assembled nanochitin. We further show the potential of nanochitin as a building block of multidimensional bioproducts and discuss the relevant structure-process-property relationships, considering dynamic assembly strategies (Figure 2, panel 5). We close the Review by discussing upcycling and industrialization opportunities with an eye on the future, taking (nano)chitin as an enabler for circular and sustainable manufacturing (Figure 2, panel 6).

2. ORIGIN, BIOLOGICAL, AND CHEMICAL FEATURES OF CHITIN

The mass composition in a variety of organisms includes chitin ranging from 3% to >40%. Commercially, insects, fungi, and crustaceans are abundant sources of chitin but, by far, the most popular has been the latter, crustaceans. Compared to other biosphere polysaccharides, chitin possesses the unique feature of presenting both a crystalline morphology and an interface that strongly and specifically interact with proteins. The presence of proteins, the main building blocks of animals, implies chitin as being a structural polymer embedded within a protein matrix. Meanwhile, elementary fibrils of chitin can be found in most insects, crustaceans, and fungi and in some microorganisms. The biological origin and inherent multiscaled structures and chemistry of chitin are critical in dictating the characteristics of nanochitin. In this section, the sources of chitin and its various multiscaled structures are introduced, as well as their functions, which include those related to optomechanical properties in biological structures. Thereafter, we discuss the chemistry of various polymorphs of chitin available in nature through modern day laboratory processes or at

commercial scales. Finally, we present the activity of chitin as far as biological activity, postextraction.

2.1. Biological Origins of Chitin

Chitin makes up parts of many different organisms with unique molecular structures (Figure 3).³¹ In this subsection, chitin sources are introduced along with their main features. Although different classes of organisms, e.g., terrestrial or marine, fungi, or insects, are considered in many instances, a small subset of species has been explored in the context of chitosan and chitin valorization. In most cases, these are associated with waste streams such as silk-work larvae, seafood byproducts, or simply processing food-waste derived from insect biomass.^{8,32} However, there is a very large set of chitinsynthesizing organisms, namely, nearly all insects, fungi, crustaceans, seashells, and mollusks. These organisms use chitin for a range of functions that include scaffolding during growth, mechanical strength and toughness, controlled opacity and light reflection, adhesion, and communication and as a first line of defense against microorganisms and pathological stress.³³⁻³⁶ Herein, we introduce the biosynthesis of chitin and chitin suprastructures found in organisms. Regarding chitin metabolism, superstructures, and functions, it is important to note that insects are most studied since they are easily accessible and common subjects of developmental biology. Furthermore, their body parts do not present a high mineral content compared to crustaceans or seashells, enabling a more facile identification of chitin-related intricate structures.

2.1.1. Chitin's Multiscale Structures and Functions. Chitin nanofibrils are arranged following a wide variety of biological architectures. The arrangement of nanofibrils enable tethering of a range of macroscopically observable properties. This includes networks of chitin and proteins in the exoskeleton of arthropods to achieve a remarkable combination of strength and toughness. However, chitin nanofibrils also form structures used for adhesion, enabling adhesion to a wide range of surfaces that support the full animal body weight or, for specific reflection of light, in a palette that finds no match in current synthetic colors. We introduce these aspects as a premise to reverse engineering chitin nanofibrils.



Figure 3. Variety of organisms associated with chitin, including, to cite only a few examples: (a) Squid, typically in the beak and pens. Adapted with permission from ref 37. Copyright 2008 American Association for Advancement of Science. Arthropods including (b₁) crustaceans and (b2) insects and their larvae. (c) Shells, from terrestrial, river, or sea mollusks. Microorganisms including (d1) fungi and (d2) yeast. The dispersed mycelium in d1 is harvested from *Aspergillus niger*, and the yeast pseudohyphae in d2 is stained by Calcofluor white. Adapted with permission from refs 38 and 39. Copyright 2002, respectively, Springer Nature.

2.1.1.1. Nanochitin Structures and Mechanical Resilience. When put to scale, chitin structures, particularly in insects, seashells, and crustaceans, possess an ideal combination of strength and toughness-to-body weight ratio. Most structures are expressed asbrick-and-mortar architectures, where energy dissipation occurs via a fracture and follows a tortuous path, i.e., energy dissipating along soft layers surrounding hard, generally minerals, e.g., calcium carbonate layers. Such architectures are typically observed in nacre or crustaceans (Figure 4a1)⁴⁰ and have inspired many efforts in biomimicry.⁴¹ Although chitin is strong, with an axial tensile strength of the order of a gigaPascals,⁴² the chitin-protein bundles act as soft layers (Figure 4a2). Moreover, the interactions between individual components are extremely strong, contributing to overall mechanical toughness exhibited by the respective organisms. As determined by X-ray diffraction, the axial modulus of a dry α -chitin crystal has been estimated to be 41 GPa, making the fibers both strong and stiff in the axial direction.⁴³ The axial Young's modulus of such nanofibers is generally an order of magnitude higher than the transversal modulus, associated with the directionality of the fibrous networks with macroscopic stiffness. Importantly, the flexural anisotropy can be completely removed at the macroscopic scale by arranging the fibers hierarchically.⁴⁴ In insects, chitin plays a role as hard component since there are no minerals.

Beyond nanoscaled brick-and-mortar architectures, there are a range of structures found in insects and crustaceans that elevate the potential for energy dissipation (Figure 4b).^{45,46} At each scale, these structures optimally dissipate various compressive, tensile, or flexural macroscopic stresses occurring from multiple directions. In comparison, collagen, silk, or cellulose nanofibrils (CNF) take up only relatively simple conformations, although also multiscaled.²² These simple conformations are aligned in the case of collagen or silk and twisted around the cell walls in the case of cellulose. Most of the chitinous architectures observed in arthropods present the

so-called Bouligand structures. They correspond to stacked and rotated fibrous microstructures, forming lamellae or layers that resemble plywood (Figure 4b). Therein, aligned fibrils enable in-plane isotropy, and particularly, adjacent layers are progressively rotated with respect to their neighboring ones. This helicoidal architecture efficiently deflects fractures and cracks as a function of the twist angle, typically small (<10°), and results in three-dimensional dissipation of the stresses and higher angles to delamination. This type of hierarchical structure is generally convoluted with topographical motifs. Thereafter, the sheetlike helicoidal layers are curved into periodic structures or spheroidal contours.^{47,48} This is the case of the mantis shrimp that exhibits some of the best combinations of strength and toughness, as found in its hammerlike appendage. This added level of hierarchy enables the hammer of the mantis shrimp to easily fracture seashell nacre, although both are mineralized structures comprising proteins and chitin.⁴⁹ Beyond Bouligand structures, a range of "lock-in" mechanisms can be found from chitinous architectures, where the radius of curvature within jigsawlike structures, combined with their tilt angle, provides optimal stress dissipation mechanisms.⁵⁰⁻⁵² This has most recently been highlighted in the diabolical ironclad beetle that presents one of the most remarkable displays of resistance to compression in the animal kingdom while possessing a rather low density body (Figure 4c).⁵³ This is achieved by combining a delaminating chitinous structure with jigsaw joints that help with transduction of the stresses across the joined interfaces. Lastly, a typical structure combined with the previously mentioned configurations is that of honeycomb, where chitin bundles are organized in an architecture within each of the layers, which can be arranged in Bouligand structures across planes. The stiffness of these planes can be modulated for efficiently dissipating in-plane stresses as a function of the ratio of chitin bundle thickness to the segment length of the hexagonal structures.⁵⁴



Figure 4. Examples of multiscaled chitinous structures present in biological constructs. (a1) Mineral platelets organized within nacreous structures, *e.g.*, in seashells, wherein the plates are cemented by calcite–protein–chitin complexes. Adapted with permission from ref 49. Copyright 2016 Springer Nature. (a2) Chitin fibril bundles within the protein matrix between inorganic plates. Adapted with permission from ref 60. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b) Multiscaled structures found in crustaceans. The monomeric unit (I) is polymerized into chitin polymers (II), which form bundles within proteins with specific binding sites (III). The bundles are arranged in a number of structures that optimize fracture deflection and strain-dependent response, herein exemplified with the honeycomb structure (V) and helicoidal Bouligand structures found at multiple scales within the cuticle (VI, VII). Adapted with permission from ref 44. Copyright 2010 John Wiley and Sons. (c1) Plane view of diabolical ironclad beetle, highlighting three distinct internal regions with variable spacing between organs and elytra. (c2) The jigsaw-type joints in the beetle yield a sequential manner, through delamination of the joints (right panel: computed tomography reconstruction of fractured suture), resulting in the highest resistance to compression in the animal kingdom. Adapted with permission from ref 53. Copyright 2020 Springer Nature.

In another implementation, macroscaled porosity within the chitin-based skeleton of the squid pen enables multiscaled buoyancy chambers, which can resist the varying hydrostatic pressures of the ocean.⁵⁵ At the macroscale, a large range of architectures can be observed, with animal cales and armors being typical examples as well as patterned armor of certain animals.^{56,57} In the case of fungi, the diversity in chitin long-range order is considerably reduced with much less intricate designs. In contrast, in insects and crustaceans, many structures have been optimally designed to dissipate stress, relevant to the direct environment associated with the respective organisms.

These structures are the subject of ongoing studies that aim to generate materials following the concepts of biomimicry, from the nano- to macroscale. At the nanoscale levels, liquid crystals (LCs) are used to reproduce related architectures. At the macroscale, interesting developments take place in designs for the automotive and aeronaval industries, which can take advantage of the physical and mechanical features found in nature, ^{50,58} for instance, exemplified by the strategies used in mechanical fasteners, similar to those found in turbine engines or dovetails in turbine blades as well as landing gear fittings. ^{53,59}



Figure 5. Chitin structures and associated colors found in beetles. (a1) Range of structural colors in various beetles. Adapted with permission from ref 74. Copyright 2008 John Wiley and Sons. (a2) Highly scattering shell of *Cyphochilus* sp. yielding a superwhite appearance. Adapted with permission from ref 72. Copyright 2018 John Wiley and Sons. (a3) Preserved 40 million year old beetle cuticle showing light (*Chrysomelids* from Eckfeld). Adapted with permission from ref 66 . Copyright 2012 The Royal Society. (b1) Optical micrograph of the exoskeleton of beetle *Chrysina gloriosa* showing bright yellow reflections from the core of each cell and greenish reflection from the edges. (b2) AFM and (b3) SEM images for the orientation of the Bouligand structures into semispheres in the epicuticle. Adapted with permission from ref 63. Copyright 2009 American Association for Advancement of Science. (c1) Cross-sectional SEM and (c2) 3D reconstruction of structures of white reflecting epicuticle as displayed in a3. Adapted with permission from ref 72. Copyright 2018 John Wiley and Sons.

2.1.1.2. Nanochitin Structures and Selective Light Reflection. In addition to the mechanical properties, the long-range order of chitin-based structures results in a wide range of optical properties, associated with structural color, where periodical features generate a broad range of optical phenomena (Figure 5a1 and 5b1), enabling color mixing, angle-dependent color (iridescence), circular polarization, and selective filters, among others.^{61–64} Color production is typically generated via pigmentation (typically from amino acids aromatic residues), interference, diffraction, and scattering or a combination of these four phenomena.⁶⁵ Within very thin layers (<10 μ m) present on given animals, these "colors" range from highly white (Figure 5a2) or black layers to broadband or very narrow band specific reflections (Figure 5a1). These reflections are considerably more resistant to fading than those obtained from pigments. Indeed, fossils that are a million years old still show high intensity reflections (Figure 5a3).⁶⁶ While the wings of butterflies generally result in colors by a combination of phenomena, the reflections from beetles or crustaceans are more typically associated with light interference and that of the moth is associated with diffraction gratings.⁶⁵ In recent days, interference is the most studied case, principally from films or layered structures. Specific iridescent reflections, where color display is angle-dependent, are a result of such interference phenomena.⁶⁷ Nanostructured fibrils present in the chitin-containing species are organized into hierarchical, periodic thin films structures with scales matching the visible spectrum, between ca. 300 and 800 nm.68 These films can be curved, which results in direction-controlled color where the refractive index (RI) difference is generated between the chitin fibrils and that of the surrounding matrix. Although not fully addressed in the scientific literature, there also exist examples of iridescent fungi, for instance, Elaeomyxa cerifera, where chitin plays a key role.

The best understood structures generating structural colors in the animal realm are based on chiral-nematic order, associated with Bouligand structures (Figure 5b2 and b3).⁶³ Such color strategy enables selective polarization reflection, depending on the helicoidal turn taken by chitin nanofibrils, typically filtering light into left-handed polarized reflections. This is used as visual cues between animals that possess circularly polarized sensitive vision.⁶⁹ When observing the helicoidal turns in Bouligand structures, the pitch that corresponds to half a full turn determines the reflected colors, with a larger pitch resulting in colors of larger wavelengths being reflected.⁷⁰ In animals, reflections outside the visible range are commonly found. Structural colors are generally more pronounced in beetles due to their proportionally thicker cuticle.⁷¹

Beyond specific reflections, chitinous networks can form highly scattering layers (white), highly absorbing layers (black), or even high transmittance layers (transparent). Black structures are generally the result of a high concentration of cross-linked aromatics, typically melanins or pterins.⁶⁵ An example of superwhite structures is reported for beetles, where assemblies (2 μ m in thickness) efficiently reflect broadband color, i.e., white colors using inhomogeneous scattering from a perfectly isotropically, three-dimensionally ordered network of fibrils (Figure 5c).⁷² The multiscaled width and orientation of the bundles are critical to achieve high scattering over such a thick film. Angle-independent specific reflections can also be obtained by spherical features,^{71,73} although these are also structural colors, i.e., not involving pigments. Broadband reflections can also be induced by the introduction of a pitch gradient, where both mechanical and optical properties are matched.⁷³ In the case of transparent structures, where reflections are minimized by conical features on the surface of the film, a quasi-monolithic layer constitutes the thin film to reduce the reflections. Therein, disorder of the conical structures enhances nonspecific reflections, contrasting directly with structural color generation.³⁰

2.1.1.3. Other Nanochitin-Based Functional Structures. Setae and other pronglike appendages are intricate spatula- and spindlelike organizations found across the animal kingdom that control friction at interfaces, among other functions. Interestingly, these can be formed by chitin³³ and other nonchitinous elements,⁷⁵ typically found in lizards and insects. They are well studied in insects, since they promote a strong adhesion to a range of surfaces, including loose and hydrophobic surfaces. The relation between the structure and the density of adhesive setae is directly related to the body weight of the animal. For instance, spiders have smaller setae but at a higher areal density on their legs when compared to smaller insects, such as beetles, where setae are larger but in reduced numbers (Figure 6). Flies with intermediate sizes also



Figure 6. SEM images of the spatula- and spindlelike adhesive structures found in various insects (beetle, fly, and spider), indicating that heavier insect bodies exhibit finer adhesive structures. Adapted with permission from ref 76. Copyright 2003 National Academy of Sciences.

bear intermediate spatula size and areal density.⁷⁶ A gradient of mechanical stiffness, for instance, ranging from 1 MPa at the tip to 10 GPa at the base,⁷⁷ is present along these appendages to enhance flexural properties and to match various surface topographies. Furthermore, the tip of the setae may be convoluted with microstructures, such as fingerprint-like structures, conical spikes, or corrugated ridges, to further increase the relative friction.⁷⁸ In fact, adhesive structures can be found to scale continuously from such nanometric structures, toward millimetric claws, including intermediate micrometric setae arranged onto larger pads.⁷⁹ Importantly, setae and other hair-type elements require optimal adhesive power since a too high adhesion leads to reduced cleaning potential, where dirt cannot be removed. This was demonstrated for bees, where a strong adhesion to pollen resulted in its permanent attachment.⁸⁰ Chitin can also have a structural role, although rare, in excreted adhesives. This is the case of barnacle adhesives, which require a high resistance to mechanical stresses beyond a strong adhesion.⁸

Beyond color, adhesion, and structural mechanics, one should note that chitinous architectures have been considered in other roles.⁸² For instance, the antibacterial activity of chitin has been used in material science. Protection from pathogens is associated with the biological activity of chitin, for instance, for application in healthcare. Spindlelike chitinous structures can serve as vibration sensors or defense tool against predators.^{82,83} The latter urticating structures are typically observed in

caterpillars,⁸⁴ and longer extraction devices can be found in mosquitoes and butterflies, where the mechanical properties of theses constructs are optimized as a function of the target. Other examples include hydrophilicity and mostly super-hydrophobicity at the interface,³⁵ motion-generating structures,^{85,86} and vibrating structures used for sound generation.^{87,88}

2.1.2. Biogenesis of Chitin. We introduce the structure found within different organisms and the biosynthetic pathways leading to the formation of chitin. It is important to note that chitin synthesis is a highly complex process, where chitin is dynamically synthesized, degraded, bundled, and translocated and continuously forms superstructures. To date, many of these mechanisms are only partially known and put forward from indirect evidence.⁸⁹ The synthesis of chitin is catalyzed by chitin synthases, glycosyltransferase enzymes, which are membrane complexes that polymerize *N*-acetylglucosamine into linear chains of β -(1,4)-acetylglucosamine.⁹⁰ A three-dimensional structure can be predicted for chitin synthase, templated from its counterpart, namely, bacterial cellulose synthase (Figure 7). The synthesis takes place over



Figure 7. Three-dimensional schematic illustration of the structure of trans-membranous chitin synthase. The left panel is the crystal structure of the bacterial cellulose synthase complex from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. Here, the cellulose polymer is shown with gray spheres. The right panel corresponds to a computed 3D structure of the C-terminal parts of chitin synthase. The crystal structure of the bacterial cellulose synthase (left panel) was used as a template for structural predictions. The highly conserved amino acid sequences include QRRRW (product binding site) and EDR (saccharide binding site), found in other glycosyltransferases such as cellulose synthases. Adapted with permission from ref 94. Copyright 2017 MDPI.

three steps; *i.e.*, the junction between monomeric units is made on the cytoplasmic side, followed by transmembrane transfer of the chain, and finally self-assembly of the polymers into fibers.⁹¹ The monomer used for synthesis is generally a phosphorylated precursor, *N*-acetylglucosamine-1-phosphate, that is appended the "UDP" functional group into the final precursor to chitin, UDP-*N*-acetylglucosamine.⁹² The general mechanism is the same for all glycosyltransferase, i.e., cellulose and hyaluronan.⁹³ Therein, the enzyme exploits the difference in reactivity associated with the directionality of the reactivity



Figure 8. (a) Schematic illustration of a typical cross-sectional structure of an insect cuticle in the premolt stage, showing the most important layers, with a fully developed endo- and exo-epicuticle. (b) Model of complex protein—chitin superstructures via post tanning/sclerotization, wherein proteins (dark and green tubes wrapping around the chitin crystals) specifically interact with the multiple faces of chitin crystals as well as with the amorphous domains. Note: different colors represent different proteins. Adapted with permission from ref 74. Copyright 2008 John Wiley and Sons. (c) Simplified structure of crustacean cuticle, highlighting the mineralized domains within the cuticle, wherein the network of minerals is considerably more continuous in crustaceans than in seashells. Adapted with permission from ref 119. Copyright 2017 Elsevier.

of the growing chain due to the reducing end being more reactive.

2.1.2.1. Structure of Chitin in Insects. Due to their facile collection, laboratory breeding techniques, and nonmineralized shells, insect chitins are the most well studied systems. However, despite over 100 years of studies dedicated to insect chitin biogenesis, many questions remain unanswered, including how the organization of chitin occurs. In insects, chitin synthesis takes place in the body wall or cuticle, in the gut lining or peritrophic matrix, in the salivary glands, trachea, and eggshells, and in the extremities of the muscles.⁹⁵ Therein, both synthesis and degradation take place simultaneously and to different extents, which depends on the developmental stage. In insects, chitin contains a small fraction of glucosamine, making insect chitin an inherently heterogeneous polymer. The chitin fibrils within the gut and cuticle are organized into nanofibrils and sheets, which are themselves embedded into a protein matrix. At this stage, it seems more likely for the proteins to interact supramolecularly with chitin,⁹⁶ although it is likely that phenol- or, more likely, catechol-amine reactions occur. Although polar in nature, the dehydration of chitins may be favored by interactions with hydrophobic proteins.⁹⁷ In this so-called tanning process, hydrophobic proteins expel water and cross-link chitins via oxidation of the proteinaceous phenols into catechols, which can readily react with the amine group of chitin,⁹⁸ this leads to very stiff insect parts.⁹⁹ The process of cross-linking induced by dehydration is essential and is a key synergy between highhistidine content proteins and chitin. The soft insect cuticle contains up to 75% water, while the hard cuticle has a water content reduced to 15%. The phenolic-containing proteins that are oxidized to bear a high catechol content cross-link the proteins and chitins, tuning the mechanical properties of the constructs. The Young modulus of soft insect cuticles ranges from 1 kPa to 50 MPa, while that of tanned cuticles can reach up to 20 GPa. The presence of heavy metals, e.g., Zn, Mn, or Fe, further cross-links catechols.^{100,101} The elasticity is also modulated by resilin.^{102,103} Thereafter, chitin deacetylases play an important role in enhancing the interaction potential of the chitin fibrils with the extracellular matrix.¹⁰⁴ Chitin microfibril synthesis occurs in the extracellular space, where proteins

organize their three-dimensional layout. The main difference for the synthesis of chitin between organisms is the source of the glucose precursor. In the case of insects, it can even be body fat in the form of glycogen.

Insects periodically replace their outer shell as protein-based dehydration, *i.e.* tanning, rendering the shell too rigid for growth, which is achieved by secretion of the molten fluid containing chitinases and proteases. This process involves various steps that are crucial in various development stages or to answer to environmental stresses.¹⁰⁵ The chitin content and obtainable yield of chitin fibrils is thereafter directly impacted by molting, wherein the chitin content is minimal right after molting. Chitin is hydrolyzed into oligomers by chitinase and β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidases that further degrade the oligomers into the monomer.^{106,107}

In insects, chitin is highly associated with proteins throughout their bodies. The chitin-protein matrix defines entirely the stiffness of the insect's shell by modulating interactions with water. Larval bodies and wings are highly flexible, while the heads and mandibles are the most rigid parts. Chitin binding proteins are either directly secreted into the extracellular matrix or stored in vesicles for later payload release. There is a wide range of proteins containing chitin binding motifs, which serve various functions, including structural consolidation, immunity enhancement, bactericidal effects, etc.¹⁰⁸ Many of the enzymes involved in the degradation of chitin possess such chitin binding domains.^{109–112} Another set of proteins, Knickkopf proteins, takes part in the organization of chitin within the body of insects, although the exact mechanisms involved in chitin translocation and bundle formation are unclear. This set of proteins is known to participate in the remodeling of chitin fibers since their absence in insects results in a lack of fibril alignment and lamination.^{113,114} Furthermore, there is a clear indication of fibrillar rotation during embryogenesis, suggesting an active formation of the structures.^{115,116} In the end structure, through post-tanning, chitin nanofibrils form bundles within the proteinaceous matrix of up to 100 nm, which are arranged at the macroscale.

The degree of crystallinity of chitin varies among different insects. However, the superstructure within arthropods



Figure 9. (a) Schematic illustration showing chitinous structures found in microorganisms. The chitin-glucan complex models include *Saccharomyces cerevisae* and *Candida albicans* for the yeast, *Aspergillus fumigatus* for the filamentous fungi, and *Schizophyllum commune* for the mushroom. Adapted from ref 135. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (b) Three-dimensionally schematic illustration of the use of chitosome, a chitin-generating complex and its structure in fungi. Adapted with permission from ref 132. Copyright 2013 Elsevier.

generally presents a long-range order. For instance, a regular spacing of 7 nm and crystallites of 2 nm were reported in thin sections of a fly.¹¹⁷ This observation was further extended to chitin in arthropods.¹¹⁸ Chitin is then found across the cuticle of insects forming various structures. The cuticles contain the epidermal cells, where the chitin fibrils are synthesized, followed by the deposition zone where the initial chitinprotein biogenesis occurs. This is followed by the endocuticle, exocuticle, and epicuticle, where varying densities of chitin bundles and protein complexes are observed as a function of various tanning processes (Figure 8a).⁷⁴ The epicuticle determines the hydrophobicity of the animal skin and is generally covered in wax and minerals. The epicuticle is typically 2 μ m thick, while the exocuticle is about 1.5 orders of magnitude thicker, in the range of 100 μ m. Epicuticle multilayers are generally thinner than those of the exocuticle. The basal chitinous layer, the endocuticle, presents a looser network of fibrils and a considerably lower extent of tanning.

2.1.2.2. Structure of Chitin in Crustaceans. In crustaceans, chitin organization generally resembles that found in insect shells, forming microfibrillar bundles in strong and tough composites. The structure is usually mineralized with calcium carbonate structures. A range of structures is found in crustaceans wherein stiffness is mostly modulated by proteins, as is the case of insects. This is also the case of the squid beak, where histidine-rich proteins and α -chitin exist (ca. 2:1 ratio) in the absence of minerals.³⁷ The mostly organic structure presents remarkable stiffness and hardness, making it possible to fracture the shells of gastropods. The highly cross-linked structure is resistant to proteolysis and is generally not digestible. Such cross-linking strategy is reminiscent of the tanning (sclerotization) process in insects, wherein a darkened color is observed as a result of aromatic cross-linking points (Figure 8b). The tanning process forms gradient-like structures, where the apex of the beak is the hardest while the base is hydrogel-like.

The crustacean cuticle possesses all of the layers found in the cuticle of insects,⁵⁴ typically containing higher carotenoid content, which results in an orange appearance.¹²⁰ Contrary to the case of insects, α -chitin structures in crustaceans mineralizes on the surface of the fibers into calcium carbonate

crystals via calcification. As such, the chitin—protein complexes determine the cationic planes, which leads mineral plates. Initially, amorphous calcium carbonate precursors form highly ordered mesoscaled crystals,¹²¹ resulting from the highly crowded cellular environment.¹²² Their thickness can vary in the order of a few micrometers. Aragonite and calcite can be found in mollusk shells and sea urchins, respectively. Both amorphous calcium carbonate and calcite are found in crustaceans, with some amount of calcium phosphate.^{123,124} Mineralization occurs principally in the exocuticle and endocuticle (Figure 8c).¹⁰⁷ The other polymorph, β -chitin, is commonly found in squid pens, making 31% dry matter equivalent, with a degree of acetylation (DA) of 96% and over 75% crystallinity.¹²⁵ The structures formed by the fibrils are generally considerably softer than what is found in typical arthropod cuticles.

2.1.2.3. Structure of Chitin in Other Organisms. In addition to arthropods, fungi contain chitin in the range of 5-27% as dry mass,¹²⁶ which is principally found in the ring necessary for mitosis of the fungal cells¹²⁷ and in the growing hyphal tip.¹²⁸ The deacetylated form of chitin, chitosan, can also be found in fungi cell walls. Chitin is identified as a branched structure within a branched architecture composed of β -1,3 and β -1,6 glycans arranged within a highly hydrated amorphous matrix (Figure 9),¹²⁶ located at the core of the branched polysaccharide superstructure or at its edges (Figure 9a).^{129,130} Chitin synthases in fungi are found principally within chitosome (Figure 9b), which are spherical lipidprotein assemblies with a diameter of 40-70 nm and a membrane of ca. 7 nm.^{131,132} They make the main constructs that deliver chitin synthase, a membranous protein, to the surface where chitin nanofibrils are assembled.¹³³ It is believed that other chitin-forming entities also use chitosome-like structures for the translocation of chitin synthases. For instance, a high density of synthases was found at the apical region of microvilli in insects.¹³⁴ As cellulosomes for cellulose, membrane enzymes are not soluble, producing polymers and fibrils through interfacial biogenesis. Microfibrils superstructured in triple helices can be found in the cell walls of mushrooms. They are composed of a range of glucans sparsely branched by chitin fibers. In the mycelium, the vegetative



Figure 10. Illustration of three main polymorphs of chitin. (a) AFM images of three polymorphs of ChNFs obtained from the same acid/base extraction process. α -Chitin can be extracted from crab shells (*Potamon ibericum*), β -chitin from squid pens (*Sepia* sp.), and γ -chitin from moth cocoons (*Orgyia dubia*). Adapted with permission from ref 151. Copyright 2017 Elsevier. The gray arrows indicate the orientation of chitin macromolecules within the crystalline domains, with the arrows pointing away from the reducing end. Molecular structure and hydrogen H-bonding in (b1) α -chitin and (c1) β -chitin. Note: the intersheet bonding is absent in the case of β -chitin. Adapted with permission from ref 152. Copyright 2009 Elsevier. Structure of (b2) α -chitin and (c2) β -chitin in different projection planes (ac, bc, and ab). Adapted with permission from ref 9. Copyright 2006 Elsevier.

growth state of fungi filaments, a network with a high content of chitin (with other glucans), forms three-dimensional architecture of the growing organism.^{135,136} Nematodes and single cell organisms such as yeasts or protozoa can also form chitin,^{137,138} although their purpose may be more functional than structural since the chains remain relatively short and mediate hydrophilicity of the cell walls.¹⁰³ Chitin in yeasts is also one of the elements that leads to mitosis of yeast cells.¹³⁹

2.2. Chitin Chemistry

We next introduce chitin chemistry, from the molecular level, as in saccharide rings, to structural chemical organizations, as in raw chitin. Three aspects are considered: structural chemistry, surface chemistry, and bioactivity. In the first subsection, we discuss the various assemblies of chitosan into fibrils composed of given chitin polymorphs. We then introduce the surface chemistry of these fibrils, followed by a discussion about the impact of these fibrils in interfacing with microorganisms and complex living tissues.

2.2.1. Chitin's Structural Chemistry. The molecular organization of chitin, as an abundant amino polysaccharide, involves rings in macromolecules and interactions with other elements, covalent or supramolecular, defining many of the functions in the living organism, within which they are synthesized. Nano- and microfibrils interact via H-bonding between amine and carbonyl groups. Small crystalline domains are embedded within pseudocrystalline and amorphous

domains along the fibrils. The main crystalline allomorphs, namely α -, β -, and γ -chitin (Figure 10), are associated with a directionality with respect to its reducing end, which is a tautomer in equilibrium between the closed ring and open aldehyde forms. In the α -form, the chitin chains are arranged in an antiparallel fashion; on the contrary, the β -form has a parallel arrangement, while γ -chitin has two parallel chains neighboring one antiparallel one (Figure 10a).⁹⁰ α -Chitin is the most abundant allomorph and is found in fungal and yeast cell walls as well as in arthropods, including crustaceans and insects. Compared with cellulose fibrils, chitin nanofibrils are generally considerably less polar but still highly hydrated in most animals, prior to tanning. Their hydrophobicity may be enhanced by biosynthesized hydrophobic proteins.⁹⁷ β -Chitin has reduced H-bonding interactions compared to α -chitin and forms softer fibrils that are more susceptible to hydrolysis and overall swelling. α -Chitin is present in hard materials, while β and γ -chitins are present in flexible structures.¹⁴⁰

 α -Chitin, an allomorph that is insoluble in most solvents, forms orthorhombic crystals, presenting both inter- and intrasheet bonding (Figure 10b). The theoretical axial elastic modulus of α -chitin is 150 GPa,¹⁰² with 59 GPa being the experimental value.¹⁴¹ The surface energy of different facets are affected by the crystalline allomorph. For instance, in the (010) face of α -chitin, the distance between available H-bonding groups matches that of a proteinaceous β -sheet such as silk.¹⁴² In fact, the (010) face is suggested to present the strongest

interaction with proteins in general and proteinaceous residues are expected on this face after isolation of the fibers, ^{102,143} which demonstrates that the optimization between the protein-chitin interface also exists in most chitin-containing animals.

 β -Chitin, found as a hydrogel-like structure within the squid pen, sea tubeworms, and diatoms and most famously within the squid beak,^{37,144-147} is a monoclinic crystal that has no intersheet bonds (Figure 10c).¹⁴⁶ β -Chitin is more susceptible to deacetylation by acid-based hydrolysis,¹⁴⁴ and can be transformed into α -chitin when exposed to concentrated NaOH or HCl.^{148,149} Particularly, although β -chitin is insoluble in many solvents, it exhibits better solubility than α -chitin does; for instance, it is soluble in formic acid.¹⁵⁰ γ -Chitin exists scarcely in nature and is found, for instance, in certain species of squid or beetles.^{140,150} α -Chitin and γ -chitin decompose at 330 and 310 °C, respectively, while β -chitin decomposes at a lower temperature, 230 °C. γ-Chitin was found to present microscaled fibers when extracted from the cocoon of the moth (Orgyia dubia), with extremely tightly bonded nanofibers as obtained from typical extraction processes (strong acid/base treatments).¹⁵¹ Accordingly, γ chitin is digested at a slower rate compared with α - and β chitin. Because chitin macromolecules are arranged in sheets and in β -chitin these sheets interact weakly, several polar molecules can penetrate β -chitin such as alcohols. In contrast, intersheet networks of α -chitin are tightly held by H-bonding.

The solubility of chitin in aqueous media depends on the crystal allomorph and degree of surface acetylation.¹⁵² The highly deacetylated form of chitin, chitosan, forms highly viscous acid solutions and is generally insoluble above pH 6 due to its pK_a of 6.3.^{153,154} Meanwhile, chitin is insoluble in water at any pH condition. However, inorganic salts, such as Ca(CNS)₂, CaI₂, CaBr₂, or CaCl₂, have been found to facilitate chitin dissolution.¹⁵⁵ The dissolution and regeneration of chitin result in materials with properties that are highly dependent on the solvents used.¹⁵⁶ For example, lyotropic LCs form when chitin is dissolved in lithium chloride/dimethylacetamide at 2 wt %, where phase transitions are concentrationdependent, which can be used to enhance the long-range order of the polymers in the regenerated fibers.¹⁵⁷ In addition to the lyotropic, a thermotropic behavior also exists, where phase transitions are temperature-dependent.^{158,159}

2.2.2. Chitin's Surface Chemistry. The unique cationic character of chitin derives from the hydrolysis of surface acetyl groups, which dictates the properties of nanochitin. Here we discuss the chemistry of such surface groups and their distribution along the biosynthesized polymer, the interaction with the surrounding biological matrix, and the resulting superstructures upon extraction. The impact of other functional groups, *e.g.*, hydroxyls, other glucans, and residual proteins, is also discussed.

The most important aspect of chitin surface features is the presence of amine groups that result from a variable degree of deacetylation (DDA). Below pH 6, the ammonium ion bears a positive charge in aqueous media, which infers long-range electrostatic interactions prevailing over the short-range H-bonding interactions. At pH > 6, all of the hydroxyl, ether, acetyl, and amine groups contribute to H-bonding, forming a complex intracrystalline and interfacial H-bonding network. Furthermore, the ether and acetyl groups, considerably less polar, likely impart amphiphilicity. The number and distribution of amine groups are highly dependent on the source type and processing. For instance, yeast and, more commonly, fungi

present a highly deacetylated β -chitin, in general more easily deacetylated due to the hydrated nature of the crystal. In contrast, chitin obtained from the endocuticle and exocuticle of arthropods is highly acetylated (>98%). Moreover, initial deacetylation is expected to occur more easily on the groups outside of the crystalline domains and in the amorphous regions; therein one group every two glucose units is first deacetylated.¹⁶⁰ Thereafter, a broad range of deacetylation degree distribution is expected. Therefore, in typical chitin

pubs.acs.org/CR

regions; therein one group every two glucose units is first deacetylated.¹⁶⁰ Thereafter, a broad range of deacetylation degree distribution is expected. Therefore, in typical chitin samples, a fraction is predominantly charged while another fraction may present rather low charges.¹⁶⁰ Compared with cellulose, the presence of amine groups implies simpler modification routes, for instance, by using a wide range of functionalization approaches.¹⁶¹ Furthermore, amine groups, in addition to the primary hydroxyl groups, infer two functionalities for modification. Orthogonal chemistry can be used to exploit the considerably higher reactivity of the amine groups.¹⁶² There are numerous examples of chitin modification with hydrophobic groups, e.g., to reduce their hydrophilicity or improve their compatibility with other surfaces, 163 which will be comprehensively discussed in the following subsection. Beyond surface energy, amine groups enable coordination bonds with heavy metals, making chitin a suitable option for water remediation and heavy metal separation.¹⁶⁴

Commonly, surface chemistry of chitin extracted from arthropods is affected by proteinaceous residues that remain after extraction.¹⁶⁵ In most arthropods, supramolecular and covalent interactions are extremely strong; for instance, interaction of chitin and protein is optimal when the protein forms β -sheet domains, wherein the spacing between the domains of the sheets matches that found between the monomeric saccharide units of chitin.^{102,142,143} Other chitin binding domains can be found on chitinases, also leading to strong supramolecular interactions.¹⁶⁶ The surface chemistry of chitin extracted from glucan, in contrast to that extracted from arthropods, is highly contaminated with other glucans.^{167,168} The range of accessibility of glucan structures is rather wide.¹³⁵ For instance, the water contact angle of films made from fungi chitin ranged from 24° to 66° , regardless of whether the fibrils were isolated from a mushroom stalk, cap, or paragus or from a mixture.¹⁶⁹ The fungal source also significantly affects the surface charge; for instance, the zeta potential of nanofibrils ranges from -10 to -25 mV when extracted from Agaricus bisporus or Daedaleopsis confragosa.¹⁷⁰

2.2.3. Chitin's Bioactivity. Chitin possesses principally a structural role in biological systems, but it also has immunedefensive and antibacterial activities. The bioactivity of chitin is mostly similar to and related to that of homologous chitosan, with additional implications of antifungal and antioxidant effects and uses reported in regenerative medicine and other applications.^{130,171}

Chitosan has been extensively explored since its introduction in bactericide-related applications.^{172–174} The action of chitosan against microorganisms is reported to occur by several mechanisms, many of which are still unclear. Chitosan action as far as the disruption of the cell wall and subsequent microorganism lysis is assigned to its antibacterial activity, which is associated with charge matching with the anionic cell wall of the microorganisms.¹⁷⁵ Gram-positive bacteria contain on the surface negatively charged teichoic acids, while Gramnegative bacteria are negatively charged given the presence of lipopolysaccharides.¹⁷⁶ The disruption of the membrane is found to increase by quaternization of the charged groups of



Figure 11. Overview of chitin extraction from crustacean shells that involves demineralization (DM), deproteinization (DP), and discoloration (all shown in solid boxes) as well as alternative pretreatments (dashed box). New extraction methods are emerging given considerations of environmental impact and sustainability.

chitosan,¹⁷⁷ which also affects certain fungi.¹⁷⁸ Another mechanism is associated with small chitosan and endosomal escape, wherein interactions with messenger ribonucleic acid in the targeted microorganisms disrupt the synthesis of key proteins.¹⁷⁹ This mechanism is also responsible for the lysis of yeasts and fungal cells by chitosan. Chitosan as an adjuvant increases the potency and control internalization/release mechanisms of active compounds affecting mammalian cells.¹⁸⁰ The chelation potential of chitosan at neutral pH and above is another route that leads to the disruption of the metabolic activity of microorganisms.¹⁸¹ This is because both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria require divalent ions for proliferation. High-molecular-weight chitosan also impacts the proliferation of bacteria by adsorbing and crowding on the surface, preventing the uptake of key nutrients.¹⁸¹ Overall, the antibacterial and antifungal activity of chitosan is well documented and used to prevent infection in a range of biomedical and agro-industrial applications, for instance, to protect plants such as tomatoes and cucumbers as well as to prevent dental and respiratory infections.¹⁸²

Chitosan has been demonstrated to be nontoxic to a range of mammalian cell lines.¹⁸³ In wound treatment applications, it stimulates the immune system, accelerating the onset of the inflammatory phase and thus the overall healing process.¹⁸⁴ The potential of chitosan in regenerative medicine is associated with its similarity to glycosaminoglycans, which are the main components of the extracellular matrix guiding injury regeneration.¹⁸⁵ During the inflammatory response, chitosan has been shown to interact with immune cells, such as macrophages and neutrophils.¹⁸⁶ In turn, chitosan enhances fibroblast proliferation,¹⁸⁷ which relates to the interactions with anionic biomacromolecules, such as heparin or proteins recruited on site.¹⁸⁸ Chitosan is documented to form complexes that induce flocculation, most relevant in water treatment, but it is also generally recognized as safe by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.¹⁸⁹ Thus, it is extensively used in the food and beverage industry for its antimicrobial and antioxidant activity.^{190,191} When applied to oysters (for raw consumption), it suppresses bacterial growth and extends the shelf life.^{192,19}

Mirroring the biological activities of chitosan, it is reasonable to expect that chitin should exhibit similar functions.^{194,195} However, since many of the bioactivities of chitosan are associated with chitosan's cationic surface charges, the biological activity of chitin is considerably lower. Chitin is known to decrease the proliferation of fibroblasts, while highly deacetylated chitosan (>80%) significantly increases the proliferation.¹⁸⁷ Besides the biological activity of chitin,^{17,196–198} rapid erythrocyte aggregation and fast subsequent clotting has been shown to be induced by chitin.¹⁹⁹ It can be biomineralized with hydroxyapatite for tissue regeneration applications.^{200,201} Moreover, chitin fibers have been proposed for sutures due to their resorbability;²⁰² meanwhile, chitin mats showed potential use as temporary skin for open wounds.²⁰³ Generally, the antimicrobial activity of chitin is associated with its molecular weight, and, as expected, with DDA.²⁰⁴ A higher DDA results in increased biocompatibility, antimicrobial, antioxidant, and hemostatic activity as well as mucoadhesion.¹⁷¹ Such effects depend on the chitin source; for instance, the antimicrobial activity of fungal chitin is higher compared to that derived from crab.²⁰⁵ This is related to the presence of residual proteins in the latter and the higher DDA of the former. Strategies to enhance biological functions use knowledge about the structural chemistry of chitin and upcoming explorations involve the use of nanochitin and methods to control its surface functions (charges, chemical groups, etc.)

Review

3. ISOLATION AND ENGINEERING OF NANOCHITIN

The insolubility of chitin in water challenges processing,¹² particularly for the direct production of chitin nanomaterials.²⁰⁶ The preparation of nanochitin has greatly advanced in recent decades given the knowledge gained about chitin and its assembly in biological materials. The routes used in nanochitin isolation include top-down and bottom-up approaches, e.g., direct isolation of chitin nanoparticles from the biological materials and assembly of chitin molecules into nanofibrils, respectively.^{18,207} Accordingly, we emphasize the top-down approaches owing to the structural benefits of nanochitin encoded in the living materials. The most recent progress in nanochitin isolation and chemistry is presented next.

3.1. Chitin Extraction

In principle, elementary chitin nanofibrils are wrapped by proteins forming chitin-protein complex superstructures, embedded in minerals (crystalline calcium carbonate and a small amount of calcium phosphate) when forming the hard stratum corneum of crustacean shells.²⁰⁸ Thus, the procedure for nanochitin isolation from crustacean shells usually starts



Figure 12. Overview of the methods used for isolation of (a) ChNF and (b) ChNC. ChNF containing crystalline and disordered structures is produced by (a1) mechanical treatment or mechanical treatment assisted by (a2) chemical modification and (a3) biological processing. The main goal of the chemical and biological modifications is to endow additional chemical features that facilitate mechanical fibrillation. ChNC is produced by surface exfoliation and by removal of disordered chitin structures using strong chemical processing with acids or oxidizing agents.

with chitin extraction (purification), demineralization (DM), deproteinization (DP), and discoloration (Figure 11).

DM and DP are used to remove calcium minerals and proteins complexed with chitin, respectively, which frees tightly bound chitin and might require multiple cycles, depending on the chitin source and intended uses.²⁰⁹ The discoloration, e.g., using sodium hypochlorite, acetone, or hydrogen peroxide, removes pigments adhered on the shells, e.g., astaxanthin and β -carotene, so that colorless chitin is generated prior to nanofibrillation.^{16,210} Apart from these procedures, pretreatments involving size reduction, drying, grinding, sieving, and wet processing of crustacean shells are applied before DM and DP, which facilitate the extraction and increase the efficiency of the process.^{211,212} For instance, a pretreatment using hot glycerol, a plasticizing agent, improved the efficiency of chitin extraction from prawn shells,²¹³ and utilization of 3% NaClO before DM and DP reduced the processing time and energy consumption.²¹⁴ There are reports on the use of atmospheric pressure dielectric barrier discharge plasma or gamma irradiation to increase the removal of minerals and proteins.^{215,216} Although other treatments might facilitate chitin extraction, impurities or uncontrolled degradation may occur, which would affect the properties of chitin and the obtained nanochitin.

A typical method for chitin extraction involves acids and bases for DM and DP, respectively, where DM implies the use of acid–base reactions to release water-soluble calcium salts, carbon dioxide, and water. Meanwhile, the DP process dissolves proteins adhered to chitin by using alkaline solutions.²¹⁷ As a consequence, the extraction conditions are important since they determine the purity and type of chitin, as well as the total cost.^{165,218–221} In the case of DM, HCl is the most commonly used acid, for instance, at 0.3–2 M concentration, 1–48 h, and 25–100 °C.¹⁶⁵ Other acids, such as HNO₃, H₂SO₃, or organic acids including CH₃COOH, HCOOH, C₆H₈O₇, and their combinations, have been used to remove minerals from the shells.²²² For DP, a typical procedure is to treat the shells with NaOH, for instance, 1 M concentration, 1–72 h, and 25–100 °C.¹⁶⁵ Similarly,

different types of alkaline reagents, e.g., Na₂CO₃, NaHCO₃, KOH, K₂CO₃, Ca(OH)₂, Na₂SO₃, NaHSO₃, CaHSO₃, Na₃PO₄, and Na₂S, have been successfully applied.²⁰⁹ Although chemical extraction of chitin from different crustaceans is well established, recent studies focus on optimizing the conditions to minimize the impact on chitin's molecular weight, to improve the yield and to decrease the processing cost. Microwave radiation has been used as a heating mechanism for chitin extraction, leading to reduced treatment time;^{223,224} likewise, sonication has been shown to improve the efficiency of chemical DP to produce chitin from shrimp.²²⁵

Chemical extraction has some disadvantages, such as environmental and sustainable impacts; for instance, the solubilized minerals and proteins are side streams that are not recovered or used.²¹⁰ Thus, efforts in recent years have been directed to develop environmentally friendly chemical methods,²²⁶ and have included considerations to biological routes (Figure 11). An emerging area is that of chitin biorefineries, wherein all the byproducts generated, including proteins and pigments, are reused.²²⁷ For instance, DM that used citric acid combined with biological methods (pancreatic enzymes) at relatively low temperature (40 °C) have achieved good extraction yields.²¹³ The biological treatments can access microorganisms that ferment the waste from DM,^{228,229} and the use of enzymes, including proteases, has been reported for DP.²⁰⁹ The fermentation of chitin shells using organic acids, either in the presence or absence of lactic acid bacteria, allowed efficient removal of minerals upon extraction.^{230,231} In addition, such processes can be extended to dual or multiple stages that involve fermentation, cofermentation, postfermentation, or autofermentation from endogenous microorganisms.^{16,232} On the other hand, treatment of chitin shell residues with proteases enables the replacement of chemical DP, for instance, using proteolytic enzymes such as chymotrypsin, papain, pancreatin, and others.²³³ Despite the environmental advantages of biological processes for chitin extraction, they usually require long processing times and are more expensive. Meanwhile, they present relatively low yields and so far are

mostly limited to laboratory scales.²¹⁰ However, a comparison of chemical and biological treatments for chitin extraction from crustacean shells on a pilot scale, based on sustainability parameters, underscored the great promise of biological processes.²³⁴ Recently, ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents have been considered for chitin extraction from shells.^{235–237} For instance, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate was applied to process shrimp, wherein chitin in the shells was first solubilized and then precipitated as purified solid for further processing.²³⁸ Deep eutectic solvents are considered for fast, easy, and ecofriendly chitin extraction and typically involve a mixture containing choline chloride with an active ingredient, e.g., thiourea, urea, glycerol, and organic acid.^{239–241} However, similar to biological treatments, practical use has been limited by considerations of supply, scale, and cost.

3.2. Isolation of Nanochitin

There is a great interest in the isolation of fibrillar chitin because the structural, chemical, and biological advantages can be gained from their morphological and nanoscale aspects.²⁴² To this end, the top-down approach is widely used due to the possibility of maintaining chitin's semicrystalline structures, 1D nanofibrous morphology, and thereby intrinsic performance.²⁴³ Typically, two types of nanochitin, chitin nanofibers (ChNF) and chitin nanocrystal (ChNC), can be isolated, Figure 12. The properties of nanochitin depend on the source of chitin, its isolation conditions and modification strategies, as well as the specific requirements for the desired applications. The mechanism for isolating ChNF considers the mechanical fibrillation of the chitin bundles, leading to nanoscaled lateral sizes with enhanced interfibrillar repulsion, most often generated by the nanofibrils' ionized surfaces that retain both the amorphous and crystalline regions (Figure 12a). By contrast, the preparation of ChNC involves chemicals that exfoliate the surface of the chitin nanofibrils and remove the disordered chitin structures to yield ordered, crystalline ones (Figure 12b). Thus, the isolation of ChNF utilizes mechanical nanofibrillation with the assistance of chemical or biological processing,²⁴⁴ while strong acid hydrolysis or oxidation is used for ChNC production.

3.2.1. Isolation of Chitin Nanofiber, ChNF. 3.2.1.1. Mechanical Treatment. In principle, ChNF isolated by mechanical nanofibrillation yield long, fibril-like morphologies (submicrometers to micrometers) with widths of the order of a few nanometers up to tens of nanometers, leading to structures of high aspect ratio, which is dependent on the chitin source and the choice of the mechanical treatment used. Representative mechanical methods that have been reported for nanofibrillation of chitin into ChNF are listed in Figure 12a. Ultrasonication is a simple high-energy method to disassemble natural chitin fibers into ChNF.^{245,246} For instance, ultrasonication at 20 kHz, 900-1000W, and 30 min in water at neutral pH was used to fibrillate chitin into nanofibers (widths of 25-120 nm) (Figure 13a).²⁴⁷ Acoustic cavitation at high frequency caused the formation, growth, and collapse of microbubbles in aqueous media to provoke microjets and shock waves on the surface of the chitin fibers, which etched them and promoted their disintegration along the axial direction. The ultrasonication process has also been applied in acid media.²⁴⁸ At pH 3-4, a transparent (85% for visible light) and viscous suspension containing individualized ChNF (length of several micronmeters and width of 3-4 nm) was obtained by ultrasonicating squid pen β -chitin (19.5 kHz, 300



Figure 13. Microscopic images of ChNF prepared by typical mechanical nanofibrillation. SEM images of (a) ChNF isolated from chitin via ultrasonication in water and (b) ChNF isolated from crab shell α -chitin after one-pass grinding in acetic acid medium. Adapted with permission from ref 247. Copyright 2007 AIP Publishing LLC. Adapted from ref 250. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society. TEM micrographs of (c) ChNF produced from squid pen β -chitin by one-pass microfluidization in acetic acid medium and (d) low-protein ChNF produced from lobster exoskeletons by microfluidization. Adapted with permission from ref 258. Copyright 2019 The Royal Society of Chemistry. Adapted with permission from ref 259. Copyright 2014 Elsevier.

W and relatively short duration). In this procedure, a thin ChNF was produced under short processing times with low energy input compared with that prepared by ultrasonication at pH 7 in water. Moreover, the obtained ChNF presented a DA of 0.9, indicating the presence of amino groups. Thus, protonation of amino groups on the crystalline surface of β chitin in acidic medium enabled cationic surfaces. Together with the weak intermolecular forces in β -chitin, efficient nanofibrillation took place due to the electrostatic repulsive forces generated between the nanofibers in the β -chitin bundles. Such conditions are not effective in the case of crab α -chitin given its high DA, strong intermolecular forces, high crystallinity, and different packing arrangement of chains.

Grinding is another mechanical method that disintegrates chitin into ChNF,²⁴⁹ wherein the breakage of chitin bundles to thin nanofibers is caused by the continuous shear generated between grinding stones operated under a small gauge. ChNF was prepared by passing a never-dried crab chitin through a grinder (pH 3, 1500 rpm and 0.15 mm milling gap), which resulted in a gel-like suspension containing long nanofibers with 10–20 nm in width (Figure 13b).²⁵⁰ Meanwhile, dried chitin powder from crab shells was adequately fibrillated via grinding under acidic conditions, leading to ChNF (10–20 nm width) of high aspect ratio, similar to that obtained from neverdried chitin.²⁵¹ In these cases, although the DDA of native chitin was relatively small, the electrostatic repulsion generated by the amino groups on the chitin in acidic medium was sufficient to break the strong H-bonding between nanofibers in



Figure 14. Schematic illustration of the reaction mechanism that takes place at the molecular level following (a) partial deacetylation and (b) TEMPO-mediated oxidation on the surface of chitin prior to fibrillation. Adapted with permission from ref 19. Copyright 2018 Elsevier. The molecular structure of chitin is included to indicate the reaction sites in the different processing steps. (c) Self-exfoliation pathway and mechanism of native chitin assisted by the pseudosolvent treatment. Adapted with permission from ref 288. Copyright 2021 John Wiley and Sons. (c1) Schematic illustration of self-exfoliation of chitin into ChNF using pseudo-solvent swelling and subsequent homogeneous surface ionization. (c2) Two-step sequential chemical and structural evolution of chitin during the self-exfoliation process, wherein step I involves deprotonation of chitin in and step II corresponds to ionization of chitin with maleic anhydride. (c3) Model showing of pseudo-solvent-assisted maleic anhydride intercalation into chitin molecules. (d) Enzymatic deacetylation of chitin surface via bacterial chitin deacetylase. Adapted with permission from ref 290. Copyright 2019 The Royal Society of Chemistry.

the bundles. Besides acidic conditions, ChNF with a width of 10-20 nm and uniform shape was directly prepared from prawn shells using 1500 rpm grinding in water at neutral pH.²⁵² The reason that nanofibrillation of chitin from prawn shells effectively occurs in neutral media is a consequence of the prawn exoskeleton, which is made up of exocuticle, a structure that is finer than that of crab shells, which are made up of 90% endocuticle, thus allowing easier disintegration, even under weak electrostatic repulsion.

High-pressure homogenization has been widely used to disintegrate bulk materials, which is suitable to produce ChNF from chitin.^{253,254} For example, dynamic high-pressure homogenization was utilized to isolate ChNF from lobster residues following 40 passes at 1000 bar.²⁵⁵ Through this process, nanofibers (width in the range of 80-100 nm) of high aspect ratio were obtained. Particularly, homogenization is a complete mechanical process that does not require the addition of acids or other chemical treatments, thereby causing little change to the chemical or crystalline structure of chitin. However, owing to the intense nanofibrillation, it is still interesting to understand how the surface properties of chitin change during processing. For this purpose, ChNF was prepared from purified crab shell chitin by repeated highpressure homogenization (200 MPa with 10 passes) in water. Such a process yielded a heterogeneous network of nanochitin

with widths ranging from a few nanometers to several tens of nanometers.²⁵⁶ Solid-state ¹³C NMR spectra revealed that the chemical shifts of all carbons remained unchanged before and after nanofibrillation and all C6-OH groups had the gauche–gauche conformation. Nevertheless, the weight-average molar mass of ChNF was only approximately 60% that of the original chitin, and the DA of ChNF increased from 0.83 to 0.98, indicating that the C2-NH₂ groups presented in original chitin were partially removed during high-pressure homogenization in water. Thus, high-pressure homogenization alters the surface properties of the as-prepared ChNF.

Microfluidization has been developed as a high-energy method to produce ChNF.²⁵⁷ Interestingly, squid pen β -chitin was easily fibrillated into ChNF (1–3 μ m in length and 2–7 nm in width) by using a one-pass microfluidization in acetic acid (Figure 13c).²⁵⁸ In addition, the fibers had a DA of 99%, indicating the importance of the amino groups to facilitate nanofibrillation of the chitin bundles. As noted earlier, isolation of nanochitin requires the removal of minerals and proteins; however, microfluidization is capable of producing proteincontaining ChNF from mineral-free chitin. For instance, individual ChNF exhibiting nanofiber width of 3–4 nm and low protein content was successfully isolated from lobster exoskeletons by using microfluidization (5 passes, 900 and 1600 bar, Figure 13d).²⁵⁹ Apart from the single homoge-



Figure 15. Images of ChNF prepared by mechanical nanofibrillation assisted by chemical treatment. TEM images of ChNF isolated by (a) ultrasonication and (b) microfluidization of partially deacetylated α -chitin from crab shells in acidic water (acetic acid). Adapted with permission from ref 272. Copyright 2010 Elsevier. Adapted from ref 273. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (c) TEM image of ChNF produced from TEMPO-oxidized tubeworm β -chitin in water. Adapted with permission from ref 279. Copyright 2009 Elsevier. (d) SEM image of ChNF isolated via grinding of maleic anhydride-esterified α -chitin in water. Adapted with permission from ref 283. Copyright 2016 Elsevier. (e) TEM micrograph of ChNF self-exfoliated from squid pen β -chitin by pseudo-solvent swelling and maleic anhydride intercalation. Adapted with permission from ref 288. Copyright 2021 John Wiley and Sons. (f) TEM image of ChNF mechanically disintegrated from chitin deacetylase-processed α -chitin in acidic water. Adapted with permission from ref 290. Copyright 2019 The Royal Society of Chemistry.

nization approach, mechanical defibrillation involving several steps was applied to fibrillate chitin into ChNF without changing the chemical or structural features.²⁶⁰ In this procedure, a stage-wise process, including 10-pass grinding (0.2 mm milling gap), 10-pass microfluidization (30 000 psi, 120 mL/min), and homogenization, was developed, resulting in nanofibers with a length of greater than 1 μ m and width of approximately 50 nm.

Other high-energy methods, using a high-speed blender or a star burst system, 201,262 have been shown effective to produce ChNF from native chitin. For instance, an aqueous counter collision technique was successfully used to prepare ChNF (width in the range of 10–20 nm).²⁶³ This process involved wet pulverization of purified chitin and ejection of a liquid dispersions from a pair of nozzles operated at high pressure, as a pair of jets that collide against each other. In this treatment, the interfacial interactions within chitin chains were cleaved solely by the high pressure, with no need for chemical modification. As the number of passes increased, more nanofibers (with smaller width) were dispersed in water. The obtained ChNF showed a favorable network formation in suspension, likely a result of the less charged nature of the ChNFs and their relatively large size.

Mechanical nanofibrillation methods are simple and adaptable, and they yield ChNF with high aspect ratio and with no need for any chemical reaction while keeping most of the original features of the native chitin. Some factors should be considered when choosing the mechanical method. As far as obtaining a higher degree of fibrillation, one should consider: (1) the source of chitin (high DDA, low crystallinity, weak intermolecular interaction forces, and fine exocuticle structures), e.g., squid pens and prawns facilitate production; (2) the apparatus (high energy output, more intense local impact, and multiple processing cycles during disintegration); and (3) the environment (acidic pH condition during processing facilitates nanofibrillation).²⁶⁴ The main drawbacks of mechanical nanofibrillation include the availability of special instruments, relatively high energy consumption, and production cost as well as possible incomplete individualization of ChNF.

3.2.1.2. Mechanical Treatment Assisted with Chemical Modification. To function as a building block, the properties of ChNF should be uniform, reproducible, and adjustable. Thus, the use of mechanical treatment alone makes it difficult to satisfy all of these criteria. To improve the efficiency of ChNF isolation and endow additional functionality, chemical modifications are often performed on native chitin before mechanical treatments.²⁶⁵ For instance, oxalic acid can be used to hydrolyze shrimp α -chitin, leading to the installation of carboxylic groups on the surface of the fibrils, which results in a high mechanical disintegration (ultrasonication) efficiency in mild conditions.²⁶⁶ The crystallinity and thermal stability of α chitin were basically unaltered under mild treatment, while the obtained ChNF was homogeneously dispersed in water at a wide range of pH (3-11). This result demonstrates the benefit of chemical modification in the mechanical treatment of chitin. Surface ionization, such as deacetylation, oxidation, esterification, and etherification, are commonly applied to deconstruct natural materials into nanofibrils.^{267,268} Among these strategies, partial deacetylation (Figure 14a) and chemical-mediated oxidation (mainly 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl radical, TEMPO) (Figure 14b) are the two primary methods used to

In the case of partial deacetylation, the alkaline-mediated reaction occurs with the acetyl groups of acetamide at the C2 position on the surfaces of chitin crystallites, from which the acetyl groups are partially removed and leads to the exposure of C2 amino groups.^{19,271} Thus, different from the case of unmodified native chitin, the protonation of the abundant, randomly distributed C2-NH₂ groups in chitins that are partially deacetylated in acid conditions provides a high density of cationic charges on the crystalline nanofibrils, which is a critical driving force for mechanical individualization of ChNF (Figure 14a). A typical procedure was applied on crab shell α chitin by using 33% NaOH at 90 °C for 4 h, yielding 85-90% of partially deacetylated chitin with a DA of approximately 0.70 while still maintaining the crystallite properties of the original α -chitin.²⁷² The results indicate that partial deacetylation took place selectively on the α -chitin crystallite surface. When the obtained deacetylated chitin was subjected to mechanical defibrillation and subsequent ultrasonication in an acidic medium (pH 3-4 using acetic acid), a viscous and transparent ChNF water suspension was obtained with nanofiber lengths of ~250 nm and widths of ~6 nm (Figure 15a). ChNF of more than 500 nm in length was also produced. Compared with the mechanical treatment of α -chitin without deacetylation, this method leads to ChNF under low-energy consumption and high nanofibrillation efficiency. In addition to ultrasonication, microfluidization was also used to nanofibrillate the partially deacetylated α -chitin into ChNF in acidic medium, which specifically enabled the production of ChNF with a large aspect ratio (length of several micrometers and width of approximately 30 nm) (Figure 15b).²⁷³ The control of NaOHmediated deacetylation is critical in developing ChNF properties. By adjusting the NaOH reaction time, a series of deacetylated α -chitin with varying DDA was produced.^{2/4} More importantly, it was confirmed that deacetylation occurred on the surface and that the interior of nanofibers remained unaltered. When subjecting such modified α -chitins into wet pulverization in acetic acid media, ChNF was obtained, exhibiting a reduced width as the DA was reduced, which indicated that the physicochemical properties of ChNF were controlled by the deacetylation reaction. Apart from deacetylation, the acid type, pH, and ionic strength during mechanical nanofibrillation determine the nanofibrillation efficiency and properties of ChNF. For instance, after ultrasonication of α -chitin from crab shells, under different aqueous environments, the ChNF produced using ascorbic acid showed a width of 2.5 nm at pH 3.5 and low ionic strength, thereby indicating the conditions that favor chitin nanofibrillation: low pH, high ionic strength, and highly deprotonated polyvalent acids.²⁷

Following TEMPO-mediated oxidation, the more active C6 primary hydroxyl groups on the crystallite chitin surfaces are selectively oxidized,²⁷⁶ and new β -(1, 4)-linked polyuronic acids, with repeating units of sodium salt of *N*-acetylglucosa-minuronic acid, i.e., chitouronic acid, are obtained quantitatively (Figure 14b). Thus, similar to partial deacetylation, the formation of carboxylate groups on the chitin surface is crucial for its individualization into ChNF, wherein negative charges enhance the mechanical effect to deconstruct the chitin bundles through electrostatic repulsion and/or osmotic effects,

in a similar manner compared to that of TEMPO-oxidated CNF.²⁷⁷ For instance, a TEMPO/BrNa/NaClO system was used to oxidize α -chitin from crab shells (pH 10 at room temperature) and the obtained TEMPO-oxidated chitin was individualized in water by continuous ultrasonication in only a few minutes, eventually forming ChNF with length of the order of 1 µm.²⁷⁸ Following the same procedure, TEMPOoxidation of highly crystalline β -chitin from tubeworms, combined with ultrasonication, resulted in ChNF with length of several micrometers and width of 20-50 nm (Figure 15c).²⁷⁹ To extend the use of TEMPO oxidation, zwitterionic ChNF, containing cationic amino and anionic carboxylate groups, was prepared by sequential chemical modification of crab α -chitin via partial deacetylation and TEMPO-mediated oxidation (TEMPO/NaClO₂/NaClO system), followed by a mild mechanical treatment.²⁸⁰ Particularly, such TEMPO/ NaClO/NaClO₂ system was used in a weakly acidic medium (pH 6.8), rather than alkaline condition for common TEMPO system. This is because after applying partial deacetylation, TEMPO oxidation at pH 10 was found to be too intense and caused severe depolymerization of chitin, resulting in a low yield. Indeed, TEMPO-mediated oxidation is hardly used to produce carboxylated ChNF from squid pen β -chitin, likely due to the low DDA in such chitin source and its low crystallinity. Hence, an oxidation system containing ammonium persulfate (APS), combined with ultrasonic disintegration under acid conditions, was applied to produce ChNF from squid pen, resulting in ultrafine ChNF (2-4 nm width and several micrometers in length).²⁸¹ More importantly, when 45 wt % APS was used to react with β -chitin, the carboxylate content of ChNF reached 0.802 mmol/g, a higher value compared to that of common TEMPO-oxidized samples.

While partial deacetylation and TEMPO-mediated oxidation facilitate mechanical nanofibrillation of chitin, they are not designed to install other functional groups on ChNF. Esterification of chitin surfaces with anhydrides in situ, prior to mechanical nanofibrillation, endows groups that simultaneously loosen the nanofiber bundles, further facilitating the mechanical fibrillation.²⁸² For instance, superficial esterification with maleic anhydride to α -chitin that originated from crab shells significantly improved mechanical disintegration in water into uniform 10 nm width ChNF with a degree of substitution of 0.25 and well preserved crystalline structures (Figure 15d).²⁸³ This is explained by the formation of carboxylate groups on the surface of chitin that generated strong electrostatic repulsion and osmotic pressure during mechanical fibrillation. When applying ultrasonication to disintegrate maleic-anhydride-esterified chitin into ChNF, the smallest averaged nanofiber width was 15 nm; meanwhile, the width could be adjusted by tuning the ultrasound treatment (time and power).²⁸⁴ In addition to maleic anhydride, acetic anhydride has been used in a one-step esterification of the hydroxyl groups of α -chitin in situ in dimethylformamide by using ball milling (200 rpm), resulting in individualized ChNF (20-44 nm in width).²⁸⁵ After acetylation, the resulting nanofibers were stably dispersed in chloroform. These results demonstrate the efficiency and versatility of esterification treatments to produce ChNF with several additional benefits.

At present, although ionization of chitin surfaces shows great promise, strong mechanical treatment is still required to produce ChNF, which may be caused by the heterogeneous surface ionization. Indeed, both partial deacetylation and oxidation reactions proceed in a limited manner since the



Figure 16. TEM images of HCl-hydrolyzed ChNC from crab shell α -chitin dialyzed in suspension at (a1) pH 3 and (a2) pH 6 followed by 10 min of ultrasonication. TEM images of HCl-hydrolyzed ChNC from (b) crab shells and (c) *Riftia* tubes. Adapted from refs 306 and 312. Copyright 2003 and 2002, respectively, American Chemical Society. TEM images of ChNC isolated from crab shell α -chitin using (d) TEMPO-mediated oxidation and (e) ammonium persulfate treatment. Adapted from ref 320. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society. Adapted with permission from ref 327. Copyright 2017 Elsevier.

tightly bounded nanofibrils in the chitin bundles restrict accessibility to the inner nanofibrils.²⁸⁶ Thus, a more efficient process that enables thorough ionization is needed. To this end, a method involving preswelling of α -chitin with a mixture of glycerol and sulfuric acid, followed by colloid milling, was developed and found effective to break the interfibrillar Hbonding of chitin and adding surface charges.²⁸⁷ This process made the swollen α -chitin easier to disassemble into ChNF during grinding, resulting in ChNF with a width of 50 nm and micrometer in length. Beyond a simple swelling treatment, an energy-efficient method for isolating ChNF from various chitin sources was developed using pseudo-solvent-assisted maleic anhydride intercalation, which circumvented the need for strong mechanical disintegration (e.g., hand-shaking was sufficient) (Figure 14c1).²⁸⁸ In this method, a dimethyl sulfoxide/potassium hydroxide mixture, which barely dissolved chitin but disrupted intermolecular H-bonding, was effective in splitting closely packed nanofibril bundles into entangled nanofibril networks (Figure 14c2 and c3).²⁸⁹ Thus, preswelling facilitated a more open structure and improved the accessibility and diffusion of reactive maleic anhydride to the interior of the initial structures, resulting in a homogeneous and rapid surface ionization (esterification) of chitin and breaking the Hbonding between adjacent nanofibrils (Figure 14c2). More importantly, the esterified chitin surface not only expanded the interlayer spacing but prevented recombination. As a result, the self-exfoliated ChNF was 4-5 nm in width and had a high aspect ratio, up to 103 (Figure 15e). More uniquely, it possessed controllable thickness (0.8-2.2 nm), only a few molecular layers (single layer is roughly 0.5 nm). This selfexfoliation concept, together with its high yield, energy efficiency, and scalability, is a promising route for isolating ChNF in industrial settings.

One principal disadvantage of chemical modification is that the process might use chemicals that are not environmentally friendly. As such, enzyme modification, e.g., by using oxidases, deacetylases, or specific hydrolases, may be attractive options.²⁹¹ For instance, a biocatalytic method based on chitin deacetylase produced by Acinetobacter schindleri MCDA01 was recently used to produce partial deacetylated α -chitin.²⁹⁰ In the deacetylation process, C2-acetamido groups on the surface of chitin crystalline fibrils were exposed and specifically hydrolyzed by the chitin deacetylase, which produced a nucleophile attack on the carbonyl carbon in the acetyl group during the catalysis of C2-acetamido groups to C2-amino groups (Figure 14d).²⁹² As a consequence, after applying a combination of homogenization and ultrasonication in acidic medium, nanofibers (length of several micrometers and width of 25–45 nm) were obtained with a DDA of 32% and crystallinity of 89% (Figure 15f). Compared with the ChNF obtained from chemical-mediated partial deacetylation, longer nanofibers (aspect ratio up to 1000) were readily achieved by the enzymatic process. The enzymes specifically catalyzed the hydrolysis of C2-acetamide groups in chitin, and limited partial degradation of polysaccharide chain occurred, resulting in wider and longer nanofibers following the mild process. Meanwhile, edge or intermediate surfaces of ChNF from the chemical partial deacetylation would be degraded into the water-soluble fractions by using a hot alkali solution, thus collapsing them into fragments.²

3.2.2. Isolation of Chitin Nanocrystal, ChNC. As is the case for the production of CNC,²⁷ the isolation of ChNC requires the removal of the amorphous domains of chitin, which loosens the fibrillar structure and further enables an easier nanofibrillation via mechanical treatment (Figure 12b). Compared with ChNF, the main characteristics of ChNC is



Figure 17. (a) Schematic illustration of nanofibrillation of deacetylated chitin clusters upon acid hydrolysis, generating single, individual ChNC. (b1) Cryo-TEM and (b2) AFM images of individual ChNC obtained by 90 min acid hydrolysis. (c1) Cryo-TEM of 30 min acid-hydrolyzed ChNC after dialysis and in the absence of ultrasonication. (c2) TEM image of 60 min acid-hydrolyzed ChNCs after dialysis and 30 s ultrasonication. The dashed lines in (c1) are added to indicate loosely bound chitin nanofibrils. Adapted from ref 315. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (d) Proposed pathway for the accelerated deacetylation, oxidation, and degradation of nonordered domains in chitin upon periodate oxidation, resulting in soluble compounds containing carboxylic groups. This process demonstrates the capability of periodate to produce ChNC. Schematic representation of the (e1) production of ChNC by selective alkaline periodate oxidation of the nonordered chitin domains while keeping the ordered domains intact and (e2) restricted deacetylation and alkaline periodate oxidation on ChNC surface upon disintegrating chitin into ChNC, leading to zwitterionic nanocrystals. (f) TEM image of ChNC obtained from shrimp chitin. Adapted with permission from ref 328. Copyright 2021 The Royal Society of Chemistry.

that it is assembled from well-ordered chitin structures,²⁹³ resulting in a higher crystallinity.²⁵ Moreover, ChNC has a rodlike morphology with a short length and small aspect ratio.^{294–296} In principle, strong acid hydrolysis and chemical oxidation are the two primary methods used to produce ChNC, while other top-down strategies, e.g., acidic deep eutectic solvent treatment, are also feasible.²⁹⁷ The nano-fibrillation efficiency and characteristics of ChNC, including morphology, crystalline form, crystallinity, etc., depend on both the chitin source and preparation method, thus affecting its physicochemical performance. However, a well-known disadvantage of these methods is the low yield given the loss of amorphous material and chitin depolymerization.²⁹⁸

3.2.2.1. Strong Acid Hydrolysis. The first report regarding acid hydrolysis of chitin dates back to 1959, where purified α -chitin from crab shells was hydrolyzed with 2.5 M HCl during 1 h using a reflux system, followed by homogenization (three passes).²⁹⁹ The process resulted in a stable ChNC suspension that exhibited nematic liquid crystal (LC) ordering. Following this development, HCl was considered as an option for acid hydrolysis of chitin into ChNC. In studies, 64% sulfuric acid and maleic acid have also been used to hydrolyze chitin from crab and prawn shells, respectively, endowing ChNC with

negative charges.^{300,301} In recent decades, upon optimization of the isolation conditions, a typical procedure for acid hydrolysis of chitin involves (1) HCl (e.g., 3 M HCl) at the boiling point (90–105 °C) under vigorous stirring for a certain amount of time (0.5-9 h) to hydrolyze chitin; (2) diluted asprepared chitin/acid mixture with water to quench the reaction; (3) separation (filtration and centrifugation) and purification (dialysis) steps to remove the dissolved components and impurities in the suspension; and (4) mechanical treatment (e.g., ultrasonication) to enable full dispersion of ChNC in water.^{302,303} Compared with ChNF production, the preparation of ChNC involves more steps, often resulting in less precise control of the hydrolysis and subsequent nanofibrillation. Indeed, acid concentration and hydrolysis time as well as the strength of mechanical treatment and DA of the native chitin all influence the properties of the as-prepared ChNC.³⁰⁴ For instance, when subjecting α -chitin to HCl hydrolysis at 105 °C and 3 h three times, the crystallinity of obtained ChNC decreased rather than increased compared with native α -chitin. This is attributed to the harsh conditions used for hydrolysis that converted the crystalline structures to amorphous ones.³⁰⁵ After hydrolysis, dialysis of the ChNC suspension is conducted, which affects the pH of

the system and further influences the effectiveness and quality of the ChNC aqueous suspension. This is because, to facilitate dispersion of nanocrystals via mechanical treatment, electrostatic repulsion originating from the protonated amino groups on the ChNC surfaces is required and is highly dependent on the pH of the system.²⁹³ For example, the nanocrystals were well dispersed after 10 min of ultrasonication when the suspension after dialysis had a pH of 3 (following hydrolysis of α -chitin with 3 M HCl for 30 min) (Figure 16a1). However, when following the same processing condition at pH = 6, clusters of nanocrystals, together with individually dispersed nanocrystals, coexisted in the system (Figure 16a2). Such irreversible aggregation of nanocrystals, even after ultrasonication, was induced by the decreased electrostatic repulsion between nanocrystals at high pH after dialysis (less protonation of amino groups) and was further strengthened by interparticle interactions.

Following acid hydrolysis for ChNC production, the characteristic dimensions of ChNC include width of 10-50 nm, length of 100-600 nm, and aspect ratio of approximately 15 (Figure 16b),^{306–310} and the corresponding specific surface area can be up to $350 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}^{-311}$ Uniquely, ChNC that was isolated from Riftia tubes following the hydrolysis of purified chitin with 3 M HCl at boiling during 1.5 h stirring reached an average length of 2200 nm and width of 18 nm (Figure 16c), which resulted in a large aspect ratio (approximately 120), enabling novel applications.³¹² However, the spindlelike shape of ChNC was obtained from acid hydrolysis (Figure 16a-c), rather than individualized, straight rodlike particles. Given the insolubility of chitin, acid treatment would mainly result in surface exfoliation,³¹³ with little effect on the acetyl groups on the chitin's surface, as confirmed by the unaltered DA before and after acid hydrolysis.³¹¹ Moreover, the interior nanofibrils in the chitin bundles are more resistant to acid, and etching is limited by accessibility of acid molecules. Thus, insufficient etching of the recalcitrant chitin surfaces leads to a nonhomogeneous reaction; i.e., the more accessible, disordered, and weakly bound amorphous region is first removed upon hydrolysis.³¹⁴ More importantly, the strong H-bonding between nanocrystals prevents a complete individualization of ChNC. To overcome this difficulty and to produce individualized ChNC, a method involving HCl hydrolysis of partially deacetylated α -chitin (DDA of about 28%) was recently developed.³¹⁵ Following such process, positively charged amino groups were present on the chitin surfaces at the very beginning of acid hydrolysis reaction, which generated strong interfibrillar electrostatic repulsion, leading to a more open structure via loosening the tightly bound nanofibrils. This effect promoted access of HCl or water molecules to the inner nanofibrils, and eventually achieved lateral disassembly in an even manner (Figure 17a). Particularly, the surface deacetylation of chitin prevented the intermolecular H-bonding and broke the regularity of lateral packing between chains given the enhanced interaction of chitin with water,³¹⁶ while the crystallinity of ChNC remained largely unaltered.^{317,318} Such process induced homogeneous surface etching of chitin, leading to isolation of individualized, straight rodlike nanocrystals (Figure 17b), which is in contrast to those obtained from direct acid hydrolysis, as shown in Figure 16a-c. Moreover, the effect of charged surfaces on the disassembly of chitin clusters was further emphasized by the coexistence of well-fibrillated, individual ChNC with loosely bound chitin

nanofibrils by limited ultrasonication after dialysis (Figure 17c).

3.2.2.2. Strong Oxidation. Strong chemical oxidation is an alternative route to isolate ChNC. As described in Figure 14b, by subjecting chitin to chemical oxidation reaction, e.g., the TEMPO system, the water-insoluble chitin is converted to water-soluble products (following selective oxidation of the more active C6 primary hydroxyl groups), which removes the amorphous domains while keeping the crystallite regions intact.³¹⁹ For instance, a TEMPO-mediated oxidation system composed of TEMPO/NaBr/NaClO was used to oxidize crab shell α -chitin in water at pH 10 to produce ChNC.³²⁰ The electrostatic repulsion and osmotic effect between anionically charged nanocrystals generated from carboxylate groups on the chitin surface enabled further individualization under mechanical treatment, resulting in needlelike ChNC with a length of 340 nm and a width of 8 nm (Figure 16d). Chemically, no deacetylation occurred in ChNC and the crystallinity remained similar to that of the original chitin, indicating that the C6 carboxylate groups formed by TEMPO-mediated oxidation were present only on the surfaces of chitin crystallites. In addition to the ChNC directly isolated from oxidization, strategies combining TEMPO-mediated oxidation with pre- or post-treatments via partial deacetylation have been developed for ChNC production.³²¹ With this process, amphoteric ChNCs were isolated,³²² showing similar charge distribution as that of zwitterionic ChNF. In a typical two-step treatment, 30% NaOH was first used to partially deacetylate α -chitin, followed by strong TEMPO/NaClO₂/NaClO oxidation at pH 6.8 and 60 °C for 4 h, leading to ChNC after 10 min ultrasonic treatment.³²³ To reduce consumption of chemicals, the TEMPO-mediated oxidation system was modified by implementation of laccase enzymes,³²⁴ a glycosylated oxidase that contains four copper atoms in the active site, which catalyzes one-electron oxidation of small molecules.³²⁵ Using the $O_2/$ laccase/TEMPO system to oxidize α -chitin, associated with ultrasonication, ChNCs (length of 480 nm and width of 24 nm) were isolated, wherein TEMPO acted as a mediator to facilitate the oxidation of chitin by transporting an electron.³²⁶

Besides TEMPO-mediated oxidation, other chemical oxidation systems have been considered to produce ChNC. For example, APS was used as an oxidizing agent to produce ChNC.³²⁷ Oxidative reaction to remove amorphous domains of chitin can be carried out through the formation of free sulfate radicals, hydrogen sulfate, and hydrogen peroxide, simultaneously converting the hydroxyl groups at the active C6 on chitin surfaces into carboxylic groups. The resultant ChNC had a length of 400-500 nm and a width of 15 nm with a crystallinity index of 93.5% (Figure 16e), similar to that of ChNC obtained from TEMPO-mediated oxidation. In a recent effort, a 14 day, one-pot alkaline periodate oxidation reaction was used to produce ChNC at ambient temperature.³²⁸ The selective oxidation reaction of the disordered domains of chitin was induced by dimeric orthoperiodate ions, a major oxidizing agent in alkaline condition, significantly promoting sequential reactions involving accelerated deacetylation, oxidation, and degradation, which eventually converted amorphous domains of chitin into soluble compounds (Figure 17d). Thus, nonordered domains of chitin were selectively removed while keeping the ordered, crystalline domains intact (Figure 17e1). Uniform ChNCs exhibiting a typical needlelike morphology with an average length of 242 nm and width of 12 nm were isolated through this method (Figure 17f), with a yield of 50



Figure 18. Chemical strategies used to tailor the surface chemistry of nanochitin. Hydroxyl groups: (a) TEM image of acetylated ChNC. (b) X-ray diffraction patterns of ChNC and acetylated ChNC. (c) Dispersibility of ChNC (after 30 min standing at 4 °C) and acetylated ChNC (after 12 h standing at 4 °C) in tetrahydrofuran. Adapted with permission from ref 337. Copyright 2014 The Royal Society of Chemistry. Amino groups: (d) SEM image of naphthaloylated ChNF with 14% substitution. (e) Transmittance spectra (0.1 w/v% in water) of deacetylated ChNF (dashed line) and naphthaloylated ChNF in dimethyl sulfoxide (solid line). Adapted with permission from ref 347. Copyright 2014 Elsevier. Grafting: (f) SEM micrographs of AA-grafted ChNF. (g) UV–vis transmittance spectra of AA-grafted ChNF in basic water. *n* refers to the molar ratio of grafted AA against an *N*-acetyl glucosamine unit of a ChNF. Adapted with permission from ref 354. Copyright 2012 Elsevier.

wt % (nearly half of the nonordered regions were dissolved upon oxidation). A particular mechanism leading to stable ChNC in such a long period of oxidation relied on the strongly restricted deacetylation and cyclization on the ChNC surfaces in alkaline periodate oxidation at room temperature (Figure 17e2). The deacetylation of ChNC was inhibited by steric hindrance and by inter- and intramolecular H-bonding on oxygen and nitrogen in the acetamido groups. Once a few of the acetamido groups were converted into amine groups on the ChNC surfaces, the periodate oxidation was restricted,³²⁹ which was caused by the blockage of the C3-hydroxyl groups of chitin chains in the ordered domains, given their integration in numerous hydrogen bonds.³³⁰ Since general acid-base catalysis of cyclization between periodate ions, hydroxyl groups, and amine groups of oxidation requires activated hydroxyl groups on C2 or C3, limited activation of the blocked protons at the C3-hydroxyl groups hampered the occurrence of

the cyclization reaction on the surface of ChNC (Figure 17e2). To conclude, such novel oxidation method for ChNC isolation broadens the available toolbox for nanochitin production.

In summary, a variety of methods have been applied to deconstruct α - and β -chitin into ChNC with different morphologies, dimensions, surfaces, and physicochemical properties (Figure 12b). Some drawbacks can be highlighted in relation to these methods: First, most of them require heating to accelerate the reaction. Second, corrosive concentrated acids or alkali solutions as well as highly reactive chemicals are commonly used. Moreover, the process often involves multiple stages, high energy input, and long cycles. Hence, developments to address the challenges associated with ChNC production are highly desirable, for instance, to advance efficient, mild, environmentally friendly, and cost-effective routes.

3.3. Engineering Nanochitin

To use nanochitin as a building block for multilevel assembly, both its chemical and morphological properties should be reproducible and tailorable.^{60,331} Several methods have been used to isolate nanochitin in a couple of different forms with distinctive chemical and morphological features. While the isolation process is suited to the characteristics of the chitin sources,³³² the derived nanosized materials exhibit somewhat similar chemical properties. For example, regardless of the isolation method used, most types of nanochitin contain abundant surface hydroxyl, acetyl, and amine groups,^{15,20,30} which in some cases might be an obstacle for conversion of nanochitin into advanced materials. As a consequence, engineering nanochitin can be useful to tailor its chemistry, particularly by installing functional surface groups that bring new attributes.³³³ Surface hydrophobic groups can be added to nanochitin to reduce surface energy, facilitating dispersion and interaction with nonpolar media.¹⁶¹ We discuss next the main chemical strategies to engineer the surface chemistry of nanochitin, which uncovers functions to make nanochitin more suitable for adoption in material design and development.

3.3.1. Chitin's Hydroxyl Groups. Similar to other nanopolysaccharides, nanochitin surface is covered with abundant hydrophilic hydroxyl groups that are amenable for modification with functional groups (Figure 18).²⁹⁵ Specifically, two characteristic hydroxyl groups are present in chitin, showing different reactivity. The C6 hydroxyl group is generally regarded as more active than those linked to C3.³³⁴ For instance, the C6 primary hydroxyl groups on ChNC surfaces can be regiospecifically oxidated to carboxylate groups by TEMPO-mediated oxidation through the formation of intermediate aldehyde structures, leading to anionic charges.^{298,319} It should be noted that deacetylation is not expected to occur by oxidation of surface acetyl groups. The dispersion of nanochitin in organic media is challenged by its inherent hydrophilic character. Moreover, some level of deacetylation is bound to occur during nanochitin isolation, converting the acetamide groups into amino groups. This effect increases the hydrophilicity of nanochitin and hence further prevents its dispersion in nonpolar solvents. The latter effect can be counteracted by introducing hydrophobic groups via chemical modification, also improving adhesion with hydrophobic matrices in composites.^{15,163} For instance, long hydrocarbon chains, such as those in 10-undecenoyl chloride, can be covalently attached to the hydroxyl groups on nanochitin, improving its dispersion and compatibility with organic solvents.³³⁵ The attachment of reactive allyl groups onto nanochitin further induces thiol-ene click cross-linking reactions, diversifying the possible products that can be derived from nanochitin. Apart from long-chain molecules, the surface of ChNC can be chemically engineered using a chemical reaction between small molecules and the hydroxyl groups, for instance using isocyanate groups from the phenyl and isopropenyl- α , α -dimethylbenzyl isocyanate, as well as alkenyl succinic anhydride.¹⁶³ The produced acylated ChNCs exhibit enhanced dispersibility in solvents of medium to low polarity. Acetylation using acetic anhydride is also efficient in engineering the surface chemistry of nanochitin.^{285,336} Through controlled acetylation, the hydroxyl units on ChNC can be replaced by hydrophobic acetyl groups, a process that occurs in heterogeneous conditions and gradually advances from the surface to the core of the material.³³⁷ After surface

acetylation, the acetylated ChNCs exhibit a rodlike morphology (Figure 18a) and maintain, to a large extent, similar structural and dimensional properties as well as crystallinity of the original ChNC (Figure 18b). Acetylated ChNC displayed outstanding dispersion and stability (measured during 12 h) in tetrahydrofuran, which was in contrast with the original ChNC that settled after 30 min (Figure 18c).

Engineering nanochitin's surface chemistry also brings additional chemical attributes,³³⁸ for instance, the possibility of dual or multiple functions that enable advanced nanochitinderived materials. Following this concept, a two-step chemical modification was applied,³³⁹ wherein thiol groups of 3mercaptopropyl trimethoxysilane were linked to the hydroxyl groups of the ChNC or mediated by tetraethyl orthosilicate,³⁴⁰ followed with attachment of long-chain heptadecafluorodecyl acrylate to the existing thiol groups. The reduced surface free energy and morphological features of the fluorinated ChNCs generated superior amphiphobicity and substrate-independent, mechanically stable coatings. Other example is that a chemical strategy can link cyanoethyl groups onto the surface hydroxyl groups of ChNF via Michael addition reaction of acrylonitrile in alkaline aqueous media.³⁴¹ The Michael addition reaction between hydroxyl groups and acrylonitrile was nonregiospecific to the C6 primary hydroxyl groups of ChNF. An application as a battery separator was explored for cyanoethyl ChNF, which not only exhibited a high ionic conductivity but also retained excellent mechanical strength compared with the unmodified ChNF.

3.3.2. Chitin's Amino Groups. Following the disintegration of native chitin, which involves predeacetylation, many of the surface acetyl groups are converted to amino groups, increasing ChNF dispersibility in water given the protonation and improved electrostatic repulsion.²⁷² Thus, the combined high reactivity of amino groups and the enhanced dispersibility in acidic aqueous media of surface-deacetylated nanochitin provide a range of facile and efficient strategies to engineer nanochitin under homogeneous reaction conditions (Figure 18).³⁴² For instance, N-halamines can be produced, exhibiting some attractive functions, such as rechargeability, resistance to microorganisms, and nontoxicity to humans, also in association with amine, amide, and imide groups,³⁴³ providing the possibility to engineer nanochitin amino groups. Through control of the reaction with diluted sodium hypochlorite solution, N-chlorination of ChNF was achieved by substituting the N-H bond with the N-Cl bond. In this process, the concentration of sodium hypochlorite and reaction time strongly affect the active chlorine content on ChNF.³⁴

In chitosan chemistry, protection of the reactive amino groups at the C2 position is possible using various types of anhydrides (e.g., phthalic anhydride).345 Taking advantage of the similarity in surface chemistry, such reactions are useful to enhance ChNF dispersion in water. For instance, Nphthaloylation, N-maleylation, and N-naphthaloylation of surface-deacetylated ChNF were obtained chemo-selectively and quantitatively in aqueous media via linking of phthalic, maleic, and naphthalic anhydrides to the amino groups.^{346,34} The ChNF network structure was maintained after the reaction, similar to those formed by the original ChNF and related to the microstructure of naphthaloyl ChNF (Figure 18d). The modified ChNF produced homogeneous dispersions in several organic solvents; in particular, naphthaloyl ChNF showed enhanced dispersion in low-polarity aromatic dimethyl sulfoxide (Figure 18e), which was attributed to the



Figure 19. Hierarchal structures (blue boxes) and challenges for processing and assembly of (nano)chitin at different length scales, as noted. Experimental techniques that can be used for the design and characterization of nanochitin assemblies are introduced as a function of the characteristic length scale: NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; TEM, transmission electron microscopy; SEM, scanning electron microscopy; AFM, atomic force microscopy; Cryo-EM, cryogenic electron microscopy; QCM-D, quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation; SPR, surface plasmon resonance; DLS, dynamic light scattering; TGA, thermogravimetric analysis; DMA, dynamic thermomechanical analysis; DSC, differential scanning calorimeter; FTIR, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy; XRD, X-ray diffraction.

high level of solvation with the phthaloyl group. More uniquely, dispersion of the naphthaloyl ChNF in aromatic solvents showed a reversible disperse-to-precipitate transition at approximately 29 °C, which was probably due to reversible changes in the interactions between the introduced functional groups and the given aromatic solvent.

Besides surface treatment of nanochitin with anhydrides, acylation of the amino groups, e.g., by forming amide bonds, is one of the most important routes for nanochitin modification.³⁴⁸ For instance, cysteine was grafted onto ChNF through the formation of amide bonds between the amino groups and the cysteine carboxylate groups mediated by N-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC) and N-hydroxysuccinimide. The process resulted in the production of thiol-functionalized ChNF.³⁴⁹ Meanwhile, the morphology of modified ChNFs remained almost unchanged, an advantage compared to those obtained after modification with thiol groups. Most of amidation reactions, including those mediated by EDC, are based on the nucleophilic attack of the amino groups to electrophilic carbons in activated carboxyls.³⁵⁰ Hence, nanochitin amidation may be challenged since the amino groups confined on the surface have limited mobility. A strategy to overcome this issue is to use reductive amination interaction between the primary amino groups on deacetylated ChNC and the terminal aldehyde groups of monomethoxy poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG).³⁵¹ Due to the fine dispersibility of ChNC in water, the reaction readily proceeds in aqueous media under mild, weak acidic conditions at room temperature. The obtained PEG-modified ChNCs exhibit high stability against electrolytes given the enhanced steric repulsion endowed by PEG. Interestingly, although the number of amino groups increased with deacetylation time, the number of PEG units linked on the surface of ChNCs remained relatively constant, 0.2-0.3 g/

g ChNC. This effect is explained by the saturation of reaction sites, namely, the long PEG chains that attached to ChNC in a confined area induced chemical and spatial hindrance, limiting the accessibility of amino groups to the terminal aldehyde groups of free PEG.

3.3.3. Surface Grafting. Grafting reactive components, e.g., vinyl polymer, on the backbone of nanochitin takes advantage of the chemical activity of chitin, providing another route to tailor its surface (Figure 18). For instance, high-density polymers have been grafted onto nanoparticles, which effectively changed the surface properties.³⁵² For example, following the "grafting-from" concept, a copolymer consisting of ChNC-graft-polycaprolactone (ChNC-g-PCL) was synthesized by initiating the ring-opening polymerization of caprolactone monomer onto ChNC surfaces under microwave radiation, using tin(II) octoate as the catalyst.³⁵³ This covalent linkage produced a new type of ChNC bearing PCL brushes, which resulted in hydrophobic ChNC, facilitating applications as an enhancer of formulations of polymer-based nanocomposites.

A facile radical polymerization that was initiated by potassium persulfate in aqueous media was used to graft organic molecules from ChNF.³⁵⁴ The grafting-from process involved sulfate radicals that reacted with ChNF to form chitin radicals along the chitin polymer backbone, and the amorphous part of the nanofibers initiated graft copolymerization of acrylic acid (AA). The microstructure of AA-grafted ChNFs slightly changed after the reaction, for instance, by increasing the molar ratio of grafted acrylic acid relative to the *N*-acetyl glucosamine units of the ChNFs (Figure 18f). Eventually, the resultant ChNFs were efficiently dissociated and were dispersed homogeneously in basic water, showing relatively high transmittance even when using ChNF with a



Figure 20. (a) Schematic illustration of average structures of simulated chitin nanofibril systems using color-coded building blocks to highlight structural features. The number of nonzero digits in the name is the number of chitin chains in the *ab* plane, whereas the numeral at a given position is the number of chains in the corresponding *ac* plane. Number of (b_1) nonspecific and (b_2) specific H-bonds emerging during simulation using the (1110) model. Lines represent running averages over 5 ns time intervals, and vertical bars are variances in the same time interval. (c) Selected structures of the (1110) system observed at 0 (left panel) and 250 ns (right panel) during the MD simulations with highlighted H-bonding. Nonspecific H-bonding shows green and specific ones show orange. The chain backbones are shown as gray tubes. Adapted with permission from ref 316. Copyright 2016 The Royal Society of Chemistry.

high grafting degree of AA (Figure 18g), given the electrostatic repulsion effect brought by the AA-grafted nanofibers.

In sum, surface engineering of nanochitin, either by reaction of the existing functional groups or by grafting (under given conditions of temperature, time, and catalyst), provides a versatile platform to endow new functionalities, further expanding the uses of nanochitin (Figure 18). Unfortunately, more often than not, multiple steps are required to chemically modify nanochitin. Thus, further investigation on this topic should emphasize versatile strategies that enable one-step, customizable production of nanochitin, for instance, those that can be applied in situ during nanofibrillation.

4. ASSEMBLY OF NANOCHITIN AT MULTIPLE LENGTH SCALES

A common route to generate complex structures involves particle assembly guided by forces acting at multiple scales.^{355,60} The functions and applications associated with the structures are determined by the assembly process and the nature of the particles involved. However, it is difficult to identify the interactions relevant to the assembly, which are usually multiple in their origin and operate simultaneously. This applies to nanochitin since diverse chemical and hierarchical features influence the processability of chitin into nanochitin, resulting in a wide range of properties (Figure 19). For instance, even if the same source is used, treatments with small differences in conditions result in nanochitin of different sizes and surface properties.^{315,356} Hence, an in-depth understanding of nanochitin assembly with efficient and precise control is necessary before considering nanochitin as a material precursor. Here, different advanced techniques fit the needs in efforts to probe the properties of the material at different length scales, most relevant when it comes to understanding the assembly process (Figure 19). Computational techniques, *e.g.*, molecular dynamics simulation,²² can be included as a useful approach to predict or study self-assembly. In this section, we discuss the interactions relevant to nanochitin assembly, the process and structures that are formed under given conditions, and multiscale factors, all of which inspire new routes for material design.

4.1. Multiscale Assembly

In nature, equilibrium structures formed by assembled particles follow the principles of thermodynamics. It is well accepted that at least two factors govern the assembly of particles: the particle shape or morphology and the forces acting during the assembly process.³⁵⁵ For nanochitin, the morphology is usually associated with rigid nanorods or flexible nanofibers. However, the assembly forces can be effective at multiple scales (Figure 2) and might operate simultaneously (Figure 19). Moreover, in addition to interaction forces involving nanochitin itself, other forces of relevance originate from the surrounding environment, for instance, involving water molecules and ions.^{357,358}



Figure 21. (a) Tomography reconstructions and respective chirality profiles obtained from Cryo-TEM images of a ChNC based on principal component analyses of nanocrystals showing left-handed (Individualized ChNC #1) and nonchiral (Individualized ChNC #2) twist profiles along the axial direction. (b) Schematic diagram showing a standard model used for analyzing the twisting features along the axial direction of the nanocrystal. (c) Chiral twist (\pm 99% confidence interval) of ChNCs as a function of axial length (\pm standard deviation) of the cross-sectional segments in (b). The inset in (c) summarizes the number of ChNC samples with different twisting behavior. The total number of analyzed ChNC samples was 28. Adapted from ref 315. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

These factors make the assembly of nanochitin difficult to predict or control. In this subsection, the interaction forces that operate at multiple scales as well as the resultant nanochitin assemblies are reviewed. We also discuss the structure– process–property relationships involved in nanochitin for material design and development.

4.1.1. Molecular-Scale Interactions. Multiple forces act at the molecular level to control the assembly of chitin chains into fibril-like chitin nanoparticles. Generally, a synergy of Hbonding, vdW forces, electrostatic interactions, and hydrophobic interactions is applied.^{60,359} In most cases, these forces are strongly associated with the presence of water, with Hbonding being most relevant given the abundant hydrogen donors and acceptors available in nonionized groups of chitin chains. In the case of vdW forces, the polarity of accessible groups in chitin significantly affects the interactions. Particularly, when associated with H-bonding, vdW forces are critical in relation to supramolecular interactions that take place within the crystalline domains of nanochitin. This also applies to other nanopolysaccharides such as nanocelluloses.³⁶⁰ Compared with vdW forces and H-bonding, electrostatic forces are relatively stronger in magnitude and range. Nevertheless, the relatively weak but more dynamic nature of the former interactions exerts a more significant effect on the assembly of chitin chains, as well as the properties of formed nanochitin.

Dispersion-corrected density functional theory $(DFT)^{361}$ and molecular dynamics $(MD)^{316}$ have been used to analyze the forces involved in the assembly of chitin chains.³⁶² These usually predict the interactions (mainly H-bonding) within the chains and crystal domains they form upon assembly.³⁶³ MD simulation facilitates the understanding of the structure, dynamics, and energy characteristics of the assembly in aqueous media of chitin chains into chitin nanofibrils (Figure 20).³¹⁶ Following Figure 20b1 and c, chitin nanofibrils were assumed to contain three chitin chains (1110), and nanofibril formation was driven by a synergy of weak nonspecific Hbonding during the early stages (100–150 ns) but eventually transformed into the (3000) system (150–400 ns), where the most dominant interaction upon stacking was specific Hbonding (Figure 20b2). This model revealed that, despite being nonspecific, H-bonds formed by atom pairs of O_6 -H₂N and O_2N -H₃O were rare in crystalline chitin or assembled nanofibrils. Their presence influenced the efficiency of nanofibril assembly and highlighted the importance of molecular-level forces in controlling the assembly of chitin chains. MD simulation is useful in predicting the performance of nanochitin since it has been demonstrated that some of the inherent properties of individual chitin nanofibrils (e.g., mechanical strength) are governed by the modes of molecular packing rather than the cross-sectional dimension and crystallinity.⁴²

A unique property of nanochitin that is revealed from MD simulation is its chirality, which is possibly induced by the Hbonding that occurs during assembly.³¹⁶ The axial chirality was observed from nanofibril MD models (Figure 20a), particularly for the (2220) and (6000) systems, which was speculated to be a consequence of intrinsic axial chirality of single chitin chains and intermolecular interactions between the chains. During assembly, stacking of chains on top of each other, in the a direction, preserved their axial chirality. Meanwhile, the presence of additional nanofibrils in the b direction significantly decreased the chirality, which might be caused by a dipole-dipole interaction between the acetamide groups from adjacent stacked chitin layers, as well as the H-bonding distribution within the chains. This is in contrast to results of cryogenic transmission electron microscopy (cryo-TEM) and electron tomography together with corresponding 3D simulation (Figure 21a and b), which indicated that individual ChNC extracted from a never-dried chitin precursor exhibited limited chirality, with no obvious twisting preference (Figure 21c).³¹⁵ This phenomena might be ascribed to the existence of H-bonding networks that form upon assembly, generated from the interactions of the hydroxyl and amino groups within chitin macromolecules and surrounding water molecules.³⁶⁴ The water molecules particularly competed with the interactions between macromolecules in the amorphous domains.³⁶⁵ Such effect upsets the natural tendency of chitin chains and prevents or limits development of chirality. The experimental results demonstrate the effect of water molecules and corresponding interactions in the development of the chirality of nanochitin.



Figure 22. Schematic illustration of DLVO profiles of (a) spherical nanoparticles subjected to interactions at the colloidal scale, including van der Waals (vdW) forces, electrostatic, and depletion interactions and (b) rodlike ChNCs in aqueous suspensions of given ionic strength (1, 10, and 80 mM NaCl), considering parallel and cross orientations and under relevant forces operating at the colloidal scale (vdW and electrostatic). Adapted with permission from refs 366 and 370. Copyright 2020 and 2017, Elsevier.

Additional efforts should consider more fundamental aspects associated with the thermodynamics of assembly under the framework of enthalpic and entropic effects.

4.1.2. Colloidal-Scale Interactions. Theoretically, assembly at colloidal scales can be described in the framework of net energy potential or forces in the system, unifying the molecular scale interactions. In principle, the interparticle colloidal interactions guiding particle assembly can be estimated considering vdW and electrostatic forces acting on the particles, for instance, as a function of interparticle separation distances.³⁶⁶ Accordingly, the net effect is the result of net attractive or repulsive forces that can be analyzed by the Derjaguin-Landau-Verwey-Overbeek (DLVO) theory (Figure 22a),³⁶⁷ together with considerations on the geometrical and surface properties of the particles. This enables a prediction of the dispersion behavior, for instance, colloidal assembly and stability. While DLVO theory is often applied to spherical (nano)particles, it can be extended to describe assembly of rodlike nanochitin at the colloidal scale.³⁶⁸

The shape of ChNC in a dispersion can be assumed to be either a cylindrical rod or straight parallelepiped. Taking such morphological characteristics into account, a rodlike ChNC experiences different configurations during the assembly at the colloidal scale. Among them, two ideal conditions include parallel and cross orientations that define the boundaries for net potential energy during ChNC assembly. In most ChNC suspensions, counterions are brought into the systems during preparation, generating additional effects on nanocrystal assembly, for instance, reducing the length of the electric double layer (EDL). Combining these factors, the profiles of net potential energy (the sum of vdW and electrostatic forces) acting on the assembly of ChNCs under different environmental conditions (e.g., variation of the salinity) for both parallel and cross orientations can be obtained, as depicted in Figure 22b. At very short distances, the vdW attractive force dominates over electrostatic (repulsion) interactions, thereby resulting in irreversible nanocrystal aggregates. In this range, even the thermal energy of nanocrystals, Brownian motion, is not sufficient to overcome the vdW attractive force.369 At intermediate separation, the repulsive electrostatic force dominates in the system, which prevents the nanocrystals from aggregating by overlapping EDL of each nanocrystal.

Finally, at large separation distances (far from each other), nanocrystals do not interact except for very weak long-ranged vdW forces (Figure 22a).

Considering the two ideal configurations in the assembly of ChNC, repulsive energy barriers are much higher in the case of parallel orientation compared to those in cross-orientation at similar environmental conditions (Figure 22b). This is because orientation plays a significant role in defining the net energy barrier as a consequence of the interactions between ChNCs.^{370,371} In practice, ChNCs hardly arrange in suspension under the ideal configurations, parallel or cross orientations, and the actual net potential energy takes a value in between. Changing the salinity of the surrounding aqueous environment for ChNCs in a parallel configuration significantly affects their assembly (Figure 22b). More specifically, increasing salinity would reduce the effective nanocrystal surface charge, resulting in the compression of the EDL, which reduces the repulsive forces.³⁷² At a slight increase in salinity (red line, Figure 22b), the repulsive energy barrier sharply decreases but still remains repulsive for a wide range of distances. In the meantime, a secondary minimum for net potential energy exists, indicating the occurrence of weak nanocrystal aggregation. Such an effect is caused by the weak net attraction forces, so that interparticle bridging is easily broken under certain external perturbances. Increasing the salinity (blue line, Figure 22b), the potential energy becomes attractive, which results in instant aggregation of nanocrystals due to the formation of strong interparticle vdW attraction. In sum, the interaction forces that operate at the colloidal scale during nanochitin assembly are relatively sensitive to the variation in the surrounding medium.³⁷³ The DLVO profiles are useful in understanding the net interactions between the particles, but one should be aware of the many factors that are ⁷⁴ including dielectric constant, valence of the ions, at play,³ ionic strength, and temperature. Moreover, apart from the vdW and electrostatic forces, other interactions control particle assembly, for instance, depletion and nonspecific hydrophobic forces, both of which are relevant to polysaccharides nanoparticles.^{273,375,376} In particular, depletion forces can be integrated into DLVO theory (Figure 22a). When nanoparticles are codispersed with non-adsorbing substances, they may experience depletion forces that originate from excluded



Figure 23. (a1) Schematic representation of the bonds formed from ChNC suspension via confined evaporation-induced self-assembly (EISA). The dashed box indicates the long-range order of the lamellar structure in (a1), image obtained by polarized optical microscopy (POM). (a2) Schematics showing a POM image of the lamellae formation and distribution of ChNCs along the bond under capillary flow. Adapted with permission from ref 384. Copyright 2021 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Order parameter S_{eff} of ChNC/siloxane suspension inferred from $I = f(\psi)$ traces as a function of duration of the applied electric field. The inset corresponds to azimuthal intensity profiles $I = f(\psi)$ at a different time intervals after applying the field and revealed (SAXS) a gradual alignment of ChNCs. Adapted from ref 395. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society. (c1) TEM micrograph of a mesoporous ChNC/siloxane nanocomposites with aligned pores induced by self-assembled ChNCs. (c2–c4) Series of representative polarized-light micrographs of the composite in (c1) for different orientations with respect to the directions of both the magnetic field **B** and the polarizers (P for polarizer and A for analyzer). Homogenous birefringence of uniaxially oriented sample is revealed by a 4-fold increase in light intensity after a 45° rotation (c2 to c3). (c4) Blue color obtained after introducing a first-order λ retardation plate (γ = slow axis direction), indicating the aligned structure along *n* perpendicular to the direction of the magnetic field **B**. Adapted with permission from ref 397. Copyright 2010 John Wiley and Sons.

volume effects.³⁷⁷ Theoretical calculations suggest that both short-ranged depletion attraction and long-ranged depletion repulsion can take place during colloidal assembly,³⁷⁸ depending on the distance between particles and dimension of the non-adsorbed substances. For instance, depletion forces originating from protein molecules induce interparticle attraction between ChNCs, promoting *in situ* assembly into segmented gelation domains in the dispersion.³⁷⁹ In sum, colloidal-scale forces enable various nanochitin assemblies; however, the association between chitin nanoparticles and final properties of the assembled structures requires more detailed studies.

4.1.3. Micro- and Macroscale Interactions. Assembly forces at the micrometric and macrometric scales closely depend on molecular- and colloidal-scaled effects. Through interactions at larger scales, the most intriguing phenomenon involving nanochitin assembly is the formation and optimization of ordered alignment. A range of possible forces that are relevant to nanochitin systems will be introduced in this subsection. Capillary force is considered to be one of the strongest forces in a wide range of scale levels.^{380,381} They are mainly responsible for the formation of assemblies upon drying, which are held together in such a way that the interactions surpass the interfacial potential between particles and the substrate, resulting in the assembly of macroscopic materials.³⁸² In the framework of the Laplace-Young equation, the capillary force can be enhanced by increasing wettability or confinement.³⁸³ Taking advantage of the capillary force in a confined area, evaporation-induced selfassembly (EISA) of ChNCs was achieved, generating strong

ChNC superstructures with long-range ordering (Figure 23a1). Within such unique structure, a birefringent ChNC lamellae was formed, with ChNCs being aligned parallel to the lamellae orientation, as observed by polarized optical microscopy (POM) (Figure 23a1).³⁸⁴ Upon EISA, capillary flow-induced alignment of ChNCs in suspension was considered to be the main mechanism responsible for the accumulation of nanocrystals near the three-phase contact line (Figure 23a2).

Shear enables flow-induced particle alignment at the micrometric and macrometric scales.³⁸⁵ While shear is complex and dynamic, e.g., interfacial shear and internal flow simultaneously occurs and it indeed enhances long-range ordering of particles or particle mixtures. This particularly applies to rodlike nanochitin, where shear-flow alignment is more efficient for anisotropic systems,³⁸⁶ maximizing the shape effect in directing the assembly. For example, the cholesteric nature of shear-aligned ChNCs was identified using small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS).³⁸⁷ Moreover, a layer containing wellordered ChNCs can be vertically coated onto a polylactide film through the action of shearing force with the assistance of a polydopamine interlayer.³⁸⁸ In some cases, the structural and chemical features of nanochitin, e.g., longitudinal and transversal elastic moduli, shape responsiveness, 389 and its interaction with surrounding viscoelastic environment,³⁹⁰ are also key for the assembly under shear. For instance, unidirectional shearing induced alignment of the mesophase in ChNC and AA mixtures, wherein aligned ChNCs were well retained in solidified ChNC/PAA composites.³⁹¹ Finally, nanochitin suspensions display a shear-thinning behavior,³⁵⁶



Figure 24. (a1) Schematic illustration of the adsorption of spherical particles at the oil/water interface according to the contact angles (θ). Adapted with permission from ref 407. Copyright 2002 Elsevier. (a2) Adsorption of particles with a contact angle < 90° in an oil-in-water (O/W) system. The desorption of the particles from the interfaces is prevented if the energy barrier for detachment is higher than the thermal energy. Adapted from ref 428. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b) Three-phase contact angle of ChNF films spin-coated from ChNF suspensions of varying pH (3–6). θ was measured by injecting a sunflower oil droplet on a solid ChNF film in contact with water. Adapted from ref 410. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (c1) Surface (air/water) and interfacial (oil/water) tension of ChNF suspensions at given concentrations. The inset shows the shape of the bubble or droplet during measurement. (c2) Interfacial dilatational rheology of air/water interfaces using a 10 µL bubble oscillating at 0.5 Hz frequency, demonstrating the interfacial adsorption of ChNFs in a 0.5 wt % suspension. Adapted from ref 273. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (d) SEM image of ChNF-stabilized polystyrene sphere showing a high ChNF surface coverage. Adapted from ref 417. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (e) Fluorescent images of ChNF/CNF-stabilized sunflower o//W Pickering droplets at different ChNF concentrations. CNF/NCh complexes were stained using Calcofluor white. Adapted from ref 417. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (f1) SEM image of a ChNC-stabilized Pickering foam after drying. (f2) Polarized optical micrograph of a ChNC-based foam in liquid state. Adapted with permission from ref 425. Copyright 2015 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (g) Images of water-in-air liquid marbles (10 µL of water, dyed with methylene blue) wrapped by superamphiphobic ChNC powder on the surfaces of glass, paper, plastic, and water. Adapted from ref 339. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society

and it becomes more pronounced with increasing nanochitin concentration, particularly for long ChNF.

Besides the assembly forces directly imposed to particles, noncontact forces generated from magnetic or electrical fields can control particle assembly at the micrometric and macrometric scales.^{387,392–394} The application of such forces relevant to the assembly depends on the electric and magnetic dipole moment, which relates to the intrinsic dielectric properties and anisometric nature of the given particles as well as the surrounding environment. For example, particles can be polarized under an electric field due to the

accumulation of surface charges, which results in dipole orientation in the long axis of the particles along the field.³⁹⁵ The orientation of ChNCs along the direction of the electric field in a ChNC/siloxane suspension was revealed by SAXS, wherein the effective nematic order parameter, $S_{\rm eff}$, rapidly increased from 0.50 (without electric field) to 0.75 (under electric field), resulting in almost defect-free nematic single domains of ChNCs (Figure 23b).³⁹⁵ Moreover, extending the duration of the electric field, the azimuthal intensity profiles of the suspension gradually exhibited stronger peaks, located at an angle (180°) corresponding to the direction perpendicular to

the electric field, producing an enhanced ChNC alignment (Figure 23b, insert). A similar orientation effect in nanochitin suspension is achieved under magnetic fields.³⁹⁶ For instance, under a magnetic field (9 T), the ChNC/siloxane suspension resulted in a composite suspension with homogeneous long-range alignment of chitin nanorods perpendicular to the magnetic field, increasing the light intensity for homogeneous birefringence (Figure 23c).³⁹⁷ In sum, the micro- and macroscaled assembly forces, either intrinsic or external, influence the formation and control of nanochitin or its composites into various suprastructures and their order and alignment in large-scaled systems.

4.2. Assembly of Nanochitin at Interfaces

During materials design and manufacture, especially involving nanostructured hybrids, the interface (air and liquid, liquid and liquid, or solid and liquid) is of utmost significance to the structure and performance of the obtained materials. This particularly applies to materials derived from nanochitin due to its colloidal nature and inherent hydrophilicity. By exploiting multiscale assembly forces, nanochitin has a great capability to assemble under different conditions to form given suprastructures. More importantly, during assembly at multiple interfaces, nanochitin presents a percolation threshold at low volume fractions.^{398,399} Nevertheless, uncontrolled nanochitin assembly via adsorption or adaptation at different interfaces challenges the process of manufacturing and the development of desired functionalities. Thus, appropriate nanochitin wettability, which dictates the contact, assembly, adaption, and arrangement at different interfaces, is a prerequisite for any material application.^{400,401} While the behavior of isotropic particles (e.g., spheres) at interfaces has been extensively investigated, that for anisotropic fibril-like nanochitin, with its high aspect ratio and cationic surface, is yet to be fully understood. In this subsection, the assembly of nanochitin at different interfaces and relevant physicochemical phenomena will be reviewed while keeping in context the potential of nanochitin as a building block for material fabrication.

4.2.1. Nanochitin at Liquid/Liquid Interfaces. Emulsion forms by process of mixing two immiscible liquids, with one of the liquids being dispersed in the other, the continuous phase.⁴⁰² Since emulsions are thermodynamically nonequilibrium systems, surface-active emulsifiers are required to reduce the interfacial tension between the immiscible phases, preventing or delaying macro-phase separation, eventually enabling kinetical stability.⁴⁰³ Over a century ago, Ramsden⁴⁰⁴ and Pickering⁴⁰⁵ demonstrated that colloidal particles assemble at liquid/liquid interfaces to form and stabilize multiphase systems, referred to as Pickering stabilization. The interfacial assembly of certain type of colloidal particles depends on their wettability with respect to each phase,406 resulting in oil-inwater (O/W, $\theta < 90^{\circ}$) or water-in-oil (W/O, $\theta > 90^{\circ}$) emulsions when the colloidal particles are preferentially wetted by water or oil, respectively (Figure 24a1). Based on Binks' postulates,⁴⁰⁷ the interfacial adsorption of spherical particles of proper size and wettability is considered to be irreversible, given the large energy or barrier required for particle (ΔE) from the interface compared to the thermal energy $(k_{\rm B}T)$ (Figure 24a2). Nanochitin is anisotropic and rodlike, which results in the added consideration of particle shape as far as interfacial orientation and packing during Pickering stabilization,⁴⁰⁸ In such a case, ΔE can be calculated according to⁴⁰⁹

pub

$$\Delta E = \gamma_{\rm ow} \pi b^2 (1 - \cos \theta)^2 \left[1 + \frac{4(\frac{a}{b} - 1)(\sin \theta - \theta \cos \theta)}{\pi (1 - \cos \theta)^2} \right]$$

where α and b are dimensions of long and short semiaxes, respectively, γ_{ow} is the interfacial tension between oil and water phases, and θ is the equilibrium three-phase contact angle reflecting the partial wetting of the particles by the two fluids. Comparing the cross-sectional areas at the interface for rodlike and spherical particles, the inequality condition $\Delta E_{\rm rod} > \Delta E_{\rm sphere}$ applies for any value of the contact angle between 0 and 180°.⁴⁰⁹ This suggests that nanochitin generates an even stronger physical adsorption and more easily assembles at the liquid interface compared to the equivalent spherical particles. Thus, nanochitin assembled at the interface via the Pickering mechanism makes the system become extremely stable.

Owing to the hydrophobic acetyl and hydrophilic amine groups on the surface of nanochitin, its wettability with respect to the oil and water phases can be balanced by adjusting the number density of these groups,³⁶⁹ facilitating the interfacial adsorption and assembly. Unfortunately, there are no straightforward means to achieve a precise control of nanochitin surface chemistry. Experimentally, by adjusting the pH of ChNF suspensions, the contact angle of ChNF films can be slightly increased with an increase in pH (i.e., via deprotonation) in a three-phase contact angle test (Figure 24b). Despite such a fact, ChNF films are hydrophilic with a contact angle $< 90^{\circ}$ at the tested pH range.⁴¹⁰ This indicates the possibility of controlling the surface chemistry of nanochitin to change the wettability at the oil/water interfaces.⁴¹¹ The inherent hydrophilicity of unmodified nanochitin, favoring affinity with the aqueous phase,⁴¹ indicates the preferred formation of O/W emulsions (Figure 24a). In contrast to molecular-based emulsifiers, which exhibit fast adsorption/desorption kinetics, nanochitin does not adsorb at the interfaces spontaneously at low concentrations, given its high hydrophilicity and dimensions (Figure 24c1).²⁷³ With increasing the loading levels, the surface/interfacial tension of ChNF suspensions slightly decreases (Figure 24c1). More clearly, dilatational tests show the periodic change in surface tension of ChNF suspensions with a synchronous change in bubble volume during oscillation (Figure 24c2), demonstrating the adsorption and assembly of ChNFs at the interfaces. This observation implies that a high energy input is required to facilitate the interfacial assembly of nanochitin.⁴¹³ In most of the cases, ultrasonication or homogenization is used to promote the adsorption of nanochitin at the oil/water interfaces.⁴¹⁴ On the other hand, the enhanced interaction between nanochitin and the dispersed phase facilitates its adsorption.⁴¹⁵ For instance, if the lipids contain hydroxyl and epoxy groups, the interactions between such chemical groups in the oil droplets and the amine and hydroxyl groups of nanochitin are strengthened through the effect of affinity with the polar groups, promoting interfacial adsorption, assembly, and rearrangement of nanochitin on the oil droplet.⁴¹⁶

In a typical Pickering stabilization with ChNF *via* ultrasonication, the fibrils assemble tightly on the droplets, forming a dense, randomly-distributed network (Figure 24d).⁴¹⁷ While nanochitin has high surface charge, the inhomogeneous distribution of cationic groups results in a weak interparticle repulsion, so that the charges are screened prior to interfacial adsorption. This phenomenon does not apply to case of nanocelluloses.³⁷⁶ The rodlike, anisotropic features enable the possible orientation and rearrangement of chitin nanorods at the liquid/liquid interfaces, which is not possible for (isotropic) spheres;⁴¹⁸ thus, nanochitin at a low concentration is sufficient to stabilize the interfaces.⁴¹⁹ Moreover, the aspect ratio of nanochitin determines its assembly at the liquid/liquid interfaces.⁴²⁰ For instance, it has been reported that an ultralow concentration of ChNF with low aspect ratio (0.005 wt %) is sufficient to successfully stabilize Pickering droplets of several micrometers in size but with a surprisingly low total surface coverage.²⁷³ By increasing the ChNF concentration, the surface coverage of the droplets is significantly improved, resulting in smaller droplet size. These results demonstrate an excellent capability of ChNF to assemble at the interface in a wide range of concentrations, much better than any reported biobased nanoparticle, including nanocelluloses.³⁷⁶ At a high concentration (0.3 wt %), ChNF of high aspect ratio still achieve a lower surface coverage but form an interconnected network among droplets and in the continuous phase, stabilizing the droplets.²⁷³

Apart from its ability to assemble at liquid/liquid interfaces, nanochitin coassembles with other biomass-derived structures. For instance, a higher interfacial elasticity is measured for a soy oil droplet in aqueous suspension (pH 3) in the presence of ChNC and a surface-active protein (β -lactoglobulin) compared to that for the system stabilized with either of the single components.⁴²¹ Another route to coassembly is based on the cationic character of nanochitin, which forms electrostatic complexation with anionic substances. The combination of hydrophilic and hydrophobic acetyl groups enables an enhanced adsorption of the complexes at the interfaces;⁴²² for instance, this is the case of a combination of ChNF with anionic CNF.^{376,417} More importantly, dynamic interfacial coassembly of ChNF/CNF can be tuned by the concentration of CNF freely dispersed in the aqueous phase, going from low ChNF to full CNF/ChNF surface coverage (Figure 24e). This approach can be used to improve the interfacial adsorption efficiency of biocolloids that have a lower tendency for interfacial adsorption.

4.2.2. Nanochitin at Air/Liquid Interfaces. Particle assembly at the air/liquid interfaces can lead to the stabilization of air-in-water Pickering foams or water-in-air liquid marbles,^{423,424} depending on the wettability of the particles with respect to each phase (Figure 24a1). Long nanochitin shows limited amphiphilicity, a high aspect ratio, and no apparent surface activity (Figure 24c1). This challenges spontaneous adsorption or assembly at the air/water interfaces via Pickering mechanism. Native ChNCs stabilize liquid Pickering foams only if high-energy ultrasonication is applied to generate air bubbles and by partial screening of the positive surface charge of ChNC (e.g., by increasing the pH).⁴²⁵ Thus, under the conditions of weak interparticle electrostatic repulsion, nanocrystals form close-packed coverage at air/ water interfaces and tend to form a parallel nematically oriented organization (Figure 24f1). This unique assembly of ChNCs present at the air/water interfaces was further revealed by POM (Figure 24f2), where clear, intense birefringent regions were identified at the bubble surface, indicating the presence of an ordered arrangement of ChNCs at the interfaces. Hence, rodlike chitin nanoparticles can orient locally at the air/water interfaces within the foam, which is useful to create lightweight materials with hierarchical structuring. The assembly of nanochitin at the air/water interfaces can be promoted by coadsorption of nanochitin and a surface-active surfactant,⁴²⁶ with the latter component acting

as foam-forming agent. Meanwhile, nanochitin improves the integrity of the foam. The interfacial adsorption and assembly of anionic ChNC produced by TEMPO-mediated oxidation were promoted by enhancement of hydrophobicity through electrostatic complexation with cetyltrimethylammonium bromide, a cationic surfactant.⁴²⁷ Moreover, the role of surface charge and size to improve assembly at the air/water interfaces was demonstrated by changing the size of ChNC (varying TEMPO conditions). Hydrophobized ChNCs (using thiol groups and highly fluorinated long chains) stabilized the air/ water interfaces in liquid marbles, ³³⁹ which were stable when placed on various substrates, showing no signs of collapse (Figure 24g).

4.2.3. Nanochitin at Solid/Liquid Interfaces. Besides nanochitin assembly at the liquid/liquid and air/liquid interfaces, that at solid/liquid interfaces is relevant to the formation of nanostructured coatings or surface patterns, which can be transferred to solid surfaces consisting of dried nanochitin. Long-range order of nanochitin coating formed at the solid/liquid interface can be enhanced by controlling the capillary forces or by deposition upon drying.⁴²⁹ For instance, spin-coating facilitates nanochitin assembly at solid surfaces via spreading a nanochitin suspension by centrifugal forces until the desired thickness is achieved.⁴³⁰ To this end, the properties of the substrate, e.g., surface chemistry, energy, roughness, etc., are critical to control the formation and assembly of nanochitin at the solid/liquid interfaces. ChNFs assembled selectively onto a solid cotton fabric modified by partial carboxymethylation, where the ionized anionic groups on the cotton fabric enabled a strong electrostatic affinity with ChNFs.⁴³¹ This coating process produced uniform surface porous nanostructures with a randomly assembled network of ChNFs and created unique functions. Apart from the assembly on solid surfaces, nanochitin can coassemble with other components at solid/liquid interfaces, which brings additional attributes. In this regard, ChNCs coassembled with a water-based acrylic resin on a surface, forming a close-packed structure with biaxially oriented solid polypropylene film.⁴³² As the composite coating consolidated, the modulus and surface energy of the material were enhanced while the optical transparency was maintained.

4.3. Assembly of Nanochitin in Water

Materials development based on the assembly of nanochitin at interfaces relies on the heterogeneity of the construction. Direct use of nanochitin dispersions, as a route for materials innovation, benefits from the properties encoded in chitin structures, such as anisotropy, guiding the assembly under appropriate interaction forces.⁴³³ One example is the formation of long-range ordered LCs in ChNC suspensions,³⁸² mimicking the helicoidal Bouligand structures found in the biological tissues of the exoskeletons of crustaceans. Assembly of nanochitin is governed by the environment surrounding the nanoparticles and the components that coexist in the suspension.³⁷⁹ New advances in materials design will need a better understanding of the unique colloidal, geometrical, and spatial features that regulate nanochitin assembly as well as its interactions in water. External control of such factors at the nanoscale will allow the hierarchical assembly of nanochitin for novel biomimicry and the fabrication of functional nanochitin materials for emerging applications. In this subsection, we discuss the assembly of nanochitin in water as well as the forces and phenomena that affect the assembly.



Figure 25. (a) Lyotropic liquid crystalline transitions of ChNC as a function of concentration, showing a dark, upper isotropic phase and a bright, bottom nematic phase. The left- and right-hand side schematics illustrate the disordered organization and ordered liquid crystals of ChNCs, respectively. Adapted with permission from ref 439. Copyright 2006 IOP Publishing. (b) POM images of ChNC dispersions of different concentrations as droplets suspended in silicone oil. Adapted from ref 442. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (c) Concentration dependence of *G'* and tan δ of ChNC suspensions with 0.1% strain at 20 °C. Adapted with permission from ref 443. Copyright 2019 Elsevier. (d) POM image of fingerprint pattern of the anisotropic phase formed from a ChNC suspension (5 wt %) stored for 1 day after treatment. The cholesteric texture exhibits periodic lines with spacing of ~30 μ m, corresponding to half of the cholesteric pitch. Adapted with permission from ref 438. Copyright 1993 Elsevier. SEM image of the cross section of the films prepared by drying a nematic ChNC suspension imaged at (e1) low and (e2) high magnifications, showing helicoidal architecture and Bouligand arches. The inset is a transparent film producing by evaporating the ChNC nematic phase. (e3) Schematic illustration showing the assembly of disordered ChNCs in suspension to ordered nematic organization, fitting the cholesteric pitch in d2. (e4) Chiral nematic pitch of ChNCs in suspension and in solid state at varied HCl and NaCl concentrations. Adapted from ref 304. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (f) Illustration of the formation of a helically ordered ChNC/PAA hybrid via photopolymerization of ChNC/AA LCPs. (g) POM image of a fingerprint texture of ChNC/AA LCPs. SEM image of the cross section of cross-linked ChNC/PAA hybrid at (h1) low and (h2) high magnifications. The inset is the visual appearance of a typical composite film. Adapted with permission from ref 456. Copyright 2015 John Wiley and Sons.

4.3.1. Self-Assembly of Chitin Nanocrystals in Liquid Crystalline Phases. The dynamic assembly in suspension occurs following the contribution of ChNC surface charge, anisotropy, rodlike shape, and conformability, together with the interparticle interactions. As a result, the most intriguing assembly of ChNC in a suspension is in the form of a twophase equilibrium system, with isotropic and nematic liquid crystalline phases (LCPs),^{434,435} similar to the case of CNC.⁴³⁶ The long-range order corresponds to unidirectional alignment within loose planes, wherein each pseudoplane is partially rotated into a helicoidal arrangement along a principal axis. However, different from the self-assembly of CNCs into

LCs,^{26,27,437} ChNC LCPs have been largely unexplored after the first report nearly 30 years ago.⁴³⁸ Colloidal ChNCs in suspension spontaneously self-organize into a nematic LCP after reaching a threshold concentration and undergo a transition from a disordered dispersion (isotropic phase) to a biphasic dispersion (coexistence of isotropic and anisotropic phases) and to a fully nematic suprastructure (completely anisotropic phase) (Figure 25a).⁴³⁹ This phenomenon follows the Onsager theory, 440,441 where a nematic structure is induced following entropic effects, leading to a parallel alignment of anisotropic ChNCs. In principle, upon LCP transition, anisotropic ChNC droplets first form and sediment, given the higher density of the nematic phase, leading to droplet coalescence and to the formation of a continuous phase, until phase separation is complete. This results in a sharp interface separating the two coexisting phases.⁴³⁹ The isotropic-tonematic phase transition in ChNC suspensions has been confirmed under polarized light, showing birefringence and local lamellar ordering of ChNCs at high concentration (Figure 25b).⁴⁴² However, high concentration was required for ChNC to form nematic ordering and the transition occurred prior to kinetic arrest or gelation of the dispersion (Figure 25c).⁴⁴³ This is attributed to a thermodynamic selfadaptation of rigid nanocrystals in the suspension,⁴⁴⁴ wherein an increased interaction energy among nanocrystals occurs at increasing particle loadings, forming nematic-like ordered suprastructures, even at relatively low concentrations (5% in Figure 25c).⁴⁴⁵ Using POM, the anisotropic ChNC phase has been recognized by the characteristic fingerprint patterns that are formed and the nematic pitch, which corresponds to twice the periodicity of the measured fingerprint pattern and the well-ordered suprastructure of ChNCs, assembled in the suspension (Figure 25d).438

Based on theoretical analysis of the interactions acting on nanochitin (subsection 4.1), its self-assembly in suspension, to form a stable LCP, is found to be induced by a synergy of various colloidal assembly forces. This phenomenon is an entropy-driven process that has its origin in the anisotropic shape and mutual interactions between the charged, rodlike nanocrystals. Such a process starts by a nucleation and growth mechanism until a macroscopic phase separation occurs in the ChNC suspension.^{304,438,446} Factors such as pH, temperature, surface charge, and aspect ratio as well as electrostatic interaction exert an impact on the phase separation of ChNCs in suspension toward the formation of a LCP.^{369,372,447-450} Under the effect of increased ionic strength, a linear change of the volume fraction of the isotropic and anisotropic phases occurs.³⁸⁷ Moreover, the nematic pitch in ChNC suspensions varies with the addition of acid (concentration of HCl). In particular, when the ionic strength is over a certain level, phase separation of the bulk suspension ceases and, instead, small anisotropic (birefringent) ChNC droplets form, preventing coalescence or sedimentation. The change of surface charge of ChNC, from positive to negative via H₂O₂ hydrolysis of mechanically defibrillated chitin, produces a small impact on the formation of long-range nematic LC behavior of ChNC.⁴⁵¹ Negatively charged ChNC exhibits a typical lyotropic LCP transition after reaching the critical concentration (Figure 25a). Uniquely, spontaneous self-assembly from a hierarchical 1D-nanofiber to a wellordered 2D nanobelt and to a 3D multilayered lamellae occurs following a transition. The critical ChNC concentration does not obey the Khokhlov-Semenov and Odijk-Lekkerkerker

theory of lyotropic phase transition of charged, rodlike colloidal dispersions,⁴⁵² indicating the differences in theoretical and experimental results for ChNC assembly in LC systems.

For any application of hierarchically assembled ChNC LCPs, a uniform structure is a prerequisite to materialize novel functions. Typically, direct acid hydrolysis of chitin can be used to produce ChNC that forms nematic ordering;438 nevertheless, large-sized ChNC aggregates form and sediment in such systems, which influences the homogeneity of the suspension and results in a lack of control on self-assembly. Thus, selection of the extraction parameters and resultant nanocrystal properties are of critical relevance. As described previously, sequential treatment involving surface deacetylation and acid hydrolysis is a suitable strategy to improve the homogeneity of ChNC in suspension via increasing the positive surface charge density. Using this method, more uniform ChNCs were produced and capable of forming nematic LCs, which showed a strong birefringence given the formed optically anisotropic rodlike textures.⁴⁵³ More comprehensively, fine-tuning the colloidal properties of ChNC by adjusting the hydrolysis conditions and other treatments enables precise control over the LC behavior in suspension.³⁰⁴ For instance, decreasing the ChNC concentration in an aqueous dispersion lowered the LC pitch; meanwhile, higher surface charges led to an increased LC pitch, up to a maximum of 250 mm. An elegant strategy to explore the self-assembly of ChNCs in suspension is to follow the consolidation of the ChNC LCP suspension into solid films. Upon evaporation, the LCP of a ChNC suspension vields a solid, transparent film (inset, Figure 25e1). The nematic ordering of the self-assembled ChNCs can be retained in the dry film, forming a well-defined helicoidal nanoarchitecture (Figure 25e1 and e2). In this structure, ChNCs were locally aligned along a direction that spatially rotated in a left-handed fashion about an axis (Figure 25e3). Basically, the pitch of the helicoidal structure in dry ChNC films was relevant to the self-assembly of ChNCs in the nematic phase and the distortion experienced upon further drying of the ChNC suspension after the onset of kinetic arrest.^{454,455} The ChNC suspension turns from liquidlike to solidlike at a given concentration, 372,443 which prevents nanocrystals from rearranging collectively.⁴⁴⁹ Upon evaporation during the onset of kinetic arrest, a vertical compression of the suspension occurs, which forces nanocrystals to become closer to each other, thus drastically reducing the pitch (Figure 25e2). Since both the ionic strength and pH influence the pitch prior to kinetic arrest and the onset of kinetic arrest itself, they are two main parameters that determine the pitch of the final helicoidal film. Thus, through a combination of pH and ionic strength, ChNC films with a well-ordered helicoidal arrangement and pitch values were achieved, spanning the range from 650 to 3720 nm (Figure 25e4). Thus, it is possible to unlock the potential of ChNC to construct novel materials bearing adaptive LCPs.

So far, we have discussed the self-assembly of ChNC into long-range ordered LCPs, as well as the transition of ChNC LCPs into homogeneous, smooth, and transparent dry films with preserved helicoidally layered structures.⁴⁵⁷ However, no chiral twisting within the nematic structures of the ChNC system has yet been reported. Thus, the desired attribute of photonic films assembled from ChNC is yet to be realized which might be a result of a possible lack of chirality (handedness) of chitin nanorods, as shown in Figure 21, subsection 4.1.1. Fine-tuning the helicoidal organization of



Figure 26. (a1–a4) Cryo-TEM images of β -ChNFs that underwent self-assembly at pH 8 in four different stages (followed by time of observation). (a1) is the start of the assembly, while (a2) to (a4) occurred after 30 s. The visualization of the self-assembly after longer time periods was not possible given the increased fiber thickness that prevented electron transmission. Adapted rom ref 460. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (b) Schematic illustration showing the dispersion state and nanostructured surface interactions of ChNC and bentonite under alkaline (pH 9), neutral (pH 7), and acidic (pH 3.4) conditions. The assembly of ChNC can be tuned by the conformation of bentonite at different pH values. Adapted from ref 462. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (c) Magnitude of heat signal and schematics of interactions for ChNF and CNF under different pH conditions. The heat signal upon deprotonation decreases as the pH is reduced, and equilibrium shifts to favor the protonated form of NCh (purple area). The pH is adjusted due to the high acidity of the ChNF suspension. The heat signal for ionic complex formation initially increases as the ionization of ChNF is increased, and the driving force for complexation improves (yellow area); meanwhile, the heat signal subsequently decreases as the charge groups on CNF are consumed. Adapted with permission from ref 463. Copyright 2021 Elsevier.

nanocrystals and corresponding pitch values would lead to a tunable structural iridescence associated with chiral nematic order.³⁰⁴ Grafting monomethoxy PEG onto ChNC to trigger their chirality has been attempted to enhance chiral nematic organization.³⁵¹ Unfortunately, no chiral structure was identified even with improved long-range order of the anisotropic mesogens. The failure to form chiral nematic phases toward structural color in dry ChNC films may also be ascribed to the natural variations among chitin sources and extraction methods.⁴³⁴ As a result, future investigation of LC self-assembly of ChNC may be focused on the chiral twisting of the chitin nanorods.

4.3.2. Coassembly of Chitin Nanocrystals in Liquid Crystalline Phases. The formation of nematic LCs from ChNC has considered its coassembly with suitable components into the LCPs. Early studies have demonstrated that when certain amount of nonrodlike materials (e.g., silica precursors) is loaded into a ChNC suspension, reaching its threshold concentration, coassembly of ChNCs and the components present in the suspension can lead to nematic ordering.^{397,453,458} Remarkably, the heterogeneous components showed little effect on ChNC LCPs, demonstrating the robustness of the nematic organization of assembled ChNCs. For instance, a mixture of ChNC and chitosan coassembled in suspension formed different nanoscale structures, depending on the initial ChNC concentration.⁴³⁵ When chitosan was

loaded into nematic ChNC LCPs, the nematic order of the ChNCs was retained, which could be further transferred to the solid chitosan matrix upon drying. Synthetic materials have also been used for coassembly, for instance, spontaneous coassembly of concentrated ChNC and an organic monomer, AA, led to cholesteric LCPs (Figure 25f), as revealed by the observed fingerprint texture of the formed ChNC/AA suspension (Figure 25g).⁴⁵⁶ More importantly, after photopolymerization of the ChNC/AA mixture (Figure 25f), crosssectional SEM of the cross-linked structure confirmed an in situ cholesteric LC with a preserved helical order frozen inside the ChNC/PAA composite (Figure 25h). The stacked nanocrystals were found to adapt their orientation helically inside the composite, where the helical axis was oriented perpendicular to the surfaces (Figure 25h2). This result clearly indicates the opportunity to develop versatile photonic materials by combining LCPs of ChNC and functionalities of auxiliary ingredients in a coassembled system.

In sum, despite some limitations in the formation of LCs in a ChNC system, there are interesting prospects for the fabrication of multiscale and hierarchical architectures by controlling the structural complexity or templating periodically ordered suprastructures of ChNC. Further understanding of the means to control LC behavior of ChNC and codispersed components in suspension is pivotal in related endeavors.



Figure 27. (a) Effect of the coupling of monovalent Na and multivalent anions on swelling/deswelling properties of ChNF films supported on a quartz crystal microbalance sensor. The black (*h*) and red (Δh) dashed lines are drawn to show the thicknesses of ChNF film before and after exposure to electrolytes, respectively. Adapted from ref 466. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b1) Photographs of partially deacetylated ChNF (PD-ChNF) in the dry state (left panel) and redispersed in water (right panel) after the addition of different salts into the initial aqueous dispersions. (b2) Photographs of redispersed TEMPO-oxidized ChNF (TEMPO-ChNF) suspension at 0.7 and 3.0% concentration, respectively. Adapted from ref 278. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

4.3.3. Other Forms of Nanochitin Assembly in Water. As described above, long-range ordered LC assembly of ChNC in water occurs at high solid concentrations. The assembly of nanochitin dispersion in a diluted system is influenced by longrange forces but in nonordered mode. Moreover, the interactions of nanochitin controlled by colloidal-scale assembly forces are more sensitive to the surrounding aqueous environments at low solid concentrations, given the relatively large interparticle distance and access to surface ionic charges,³⁶⁹ as introduced in Figure 22b. Such tunable colloidal properties of nanochitin make its assembly dynamic. For instance, the thermodynamic incompatibility of rodlike ChNC and globular whey protein isolate in a mixed suspension in acidic condition led to a gel-like, heterogeneous assembly containing ChNC-rich and ChNC-poor domains.³⁷⁹ This separation assembly was controlled by depletion attraction acting between ChNCs due to the imbalanced osmotic pressure induced by exclusion of globular protein biopolymers from the interspace between ChNCs. This is in line with theoretical analysis of the colloidal assembly forces.

Changing the pH is a direct route to adjust surface functions and the state of the dispersion of nanochitin in water.^{369,410,459} When nanochitin surface charge is screened at high pH, colloidal-scale forces, e.g., hydrophobic interaction, dictate the assembly of nanochitin. For instance, precise control over nanochitin assembly in suspension in a less-charged surface condition resulted in hierarchically structured chitin microfibers or fiber bundles.⁴⁶⁰ In this process, β -ChNFs were used since they have a more open structure and weaker H-bonding network.⁴⁶¹ Microscopically, despite their nonspecific interactions, β -ChNFs showed a propensity to aggregate in large 1D microfibers through laterally packing to micrometric loosely organized bundles (Figure 26a). Such self-assembly was triggered by varying the pH of the β -ChNF suspension and

favoring the previously grown fibers. The kinetics of this process was regulated by electrostatic repulsion acting on the highly charged β -ChNFs. Coassembly of nanochitin and oppositely charged materials in the suspension can also lead to the formation of organized structures, depending on the pH. For example, interactions between oppositely charged ChNC and bentonite in the dispersion formed nanostructured assemblies at different pH values owing to the reversible protonation and deprotonation of ChNC and bentonite (Figure 26b).⁴⁶² The coassembly in the suspension of ChNF and CNF altered the electrophoresis and dispersion state of the ChNF. Nevertheless, the optical turbidity of the complex suspension remained almost unchanged, implying a unique assembly behavior.⁴¹⁷ Furthermore, a complex assembly process involving ChNF and CNF in the suspension was achieved by adjusting the pH, wherein the resultant long-range interaction of ChNF and CNF depended on the initial charge of the ChNF and CNF.⁴⁶³ Two distinct regimes that dominated the system were identified by isothermal titration calorimetry, including hydrophobic associations at increased pH values and ionic attraction at intermediate pH (Figure 26c). The assembly of neutralized ChNF that originated from hydrophobic associations was found to contribute strongly to an increased elastic modulus of the system, while ionic complex formation enhanced the stability of the ChNF/CNF assembly under broader pH conditions. These results demonstrate the possibility to construct pH-dependent nanochitin assemblies for versatile applications.

4.4. Process-Induced Nanochitin Assembly

In previous subsections, the assembly of nanochitin under multilevel assembly forces is described, highlighting the properties of nanochitin and prospects to control the microstructure and interfibrillar bonding upon assembly.⁴⁶⁴ However, it is still essential to consider low-cost and energy-



Figure 28. Roadmap toward multidimensional materials built from nanochitin with multiscale design principles, including current applications (blue circles) related to 0D emulsions, 1D fibers, 2D films, and 3D gels, and future perspectives (red circle) in 0D bioplastics, 1D smart wires, 2D intelligent textiles, and 3D engineered biolubricant. Here, "0D" refer to objects that make use of nanochitin as a primary building block. Adapted with permission from ref 478. Copyright 2017 John Wiley and Sons. Adapted from ref 479. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

efficient routes to process nanochitin, in both wet and dry forms. This is because at high concentrations the highly viscous nanochitin dispersion limits the homogeneity and irreversible aggregation occurs upon water evaporation. Thus, a thorough understanding of the mechanisms involved in process-induced nanochitin assembly is needed, for instance, to control drying and to simultaneously produce homogeneous redispersion, relevant to transport, storage, and redispersion of chitin nanomaterials.

The interactions of nanochitin with water, relevant to dispersion and drying, as well as the strategies to manipulate such interactions, are fundamental to achieving control over processing. The strong intermolecular and interfibrillar Hbonding associated with nanochitin limit the penetration of water molecules in the internal of elementary chitin nanofibrils. Hence, nanochitin-water interactions depend heavily on the surface chemistry and are modulated by the effect of counterions in the system.⁴⁶⁵ The dynamics and strength of interactions between ChNF and water molecules have been investigated with quartz crystal microgravimetry using monovalent or multivalent counterions, including F⁻, Br⁻, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₃²⁻, and PO₄³⁻ and in the presence of sodium.⁴⁶⁶ ChNF films equilibrated in water swelled with the addition of F⁻ ions. The same occurred for Br⁻ at low ion concentration, while deswelling occurred at increased ion concentration. Similarly, the thickness of ChNF films monotonically decreased when exposed to Cl^{-} ions (Figure 27a). Based on the Hofmeister series,^{467,468} and compared with Br⁻ and Cl⁻, the smaller F⁻ ions formed clusters with water molecules, were more electronegative, and displayed a stronger affinity with amino groups. Hence, interfacial water molecules were freed in the presence of F⁻ ions and produced an unequal anion distribution across the ChNF film, promoting swelling. The affinity with ChNF decreased with Br⁻ and Cl⁻, in the same order, so that they were less efficient

to displace interfacial water molecules, leading to water expulsion and deswelling.⁴⁶⁹ These results indicate the possibility for controlling the swelling/deswelling behavior of ChNF films depending on the ion type and concentration. ChNF films deswelled in the presence of multivalent anions $(NO_3^{-}, SO_3^{2-}, and PO_4^{-3})$, and a higher valence induced a larger effect (Figure 27a), which was a consequence of the relatively higher ionic strength upon dissociation in water.⁴⁷⁰ Given that the Debye length of charged particles is influenced by the ionic strength of the medium,⁴⁷¹ a greater reduction of the EDL of ChNF was achieved in the presence of PO43-, followed by SO₃²⁻ and NO₃⁻. The EDL compression in ChNF translates into conformational changes and a lower repulsion barrier. Accordingly, interfibrillar interactions supersede those with the surrounding water molecules, facilitating water exclusion from the film.

The control of nanochitin assembly and the effects of processing depend on nanochitin-water interactions and the counterion strength and type. Inorganic salts alter the stability of macromolecules dissolved in water,⁴⁷² and it is established that electrolytes alter the lyotropism of biobased nanoparticles in aqueous suspension and subsequent structuring in the dried forms.^{464,473} Thus, exploiting this concept, the addition of given electrolytes to a ChNF aqueous suspension enables fractionation, drying, and eventual redispersion of the nanofibers without altering their properties.²⁷⁸ Partially deacetylated ChNF (PD-ChNF) and TEMPO-oxidized ChNF (TEMPO-ChNF) were used to evaluate the effect of counterions in adjusting the processability of ChNF. While the visual appearance of dried ChNF remained unchanged (Figure 27b1), nanofibers treated with sodium carbonate (Na_2CO_3) were readily and homogeneously redispersed in water under mild shearing. This observation can be rationalized in terms of the dispersion stability from specific counterion adsorption, nanoparticle association, and electrostatic-charge development.



Figure 29. (a) Fluorescent microscopy images of Pickering emulsions stabilized by CNC and ChNF. Adapted with permission from ref 376. Copyright 2018 The Royal Society of Chemistry. Adapted from ref 273. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (b) Visual appearance and optical microscopy images of pH-reversible, paraffin-in-water Pickering emulsions prepared at different pH using zwitterionic ChNF. Adapted with permission from ref 280. Copyright 2017 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (c1) Fluorescent microscopy images of HIPPE solely stabilized by ChNF. (c2) Cryo-SEM image of the HIPPE droplets (emulsions of 88% oil fraction) showing the distribution of ChNFs on the droplet surface and in the continuous phase. (c3) 3D-printed object produced from HIPPEs. In (a) and (c1), the nanopolysaccharides are stained blue and the oil phase is dyed red. Adapted from ref 410. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (d1) Foamability (upper panel) and foam stability (bottom panel) of liquid foams stabilized by a mixture of a nonionic surfactant (Tween 20, T20) and ChNF at different concentrations (mg/mL). The T20 concentration was 0.5 wt % in all the samples. (d2) Confocal image of the liquid foam stabilized by FITC-labeled ChNF (7.5 mg/mL). (d3) SEM image of the cross section of ChNF-stabilized foam upon drying. The inset shows a photograph of a piece of solid foam on the leaf of a bracket plant. Adapted from ref 426. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (e) Reduced free fatty acid (FFA) release of ChNF-stabilized Pickering emulsion under simulated small intestinal conditions. The emulsions named as "ChNF-Tween 80" or "Tween 80-ChNF" refer to the main droplet stabilizer, either ChNF or the nonionic surfactant (Tween 80), respectively. Adapted with permission from ref 498. Copyright 2020 Elsevier.

These effects play combined roles in ChNF assembly, interfibrillar H-bonding, and nonspecific interactions generated upon drying, endowing redispersibility.⁴⁷⁴ For TEMPO-ChNF, while no significant effect of salt type was noted, given weak interactions between anionic nanofibers and monovalent counterions (Na⁺ and NH₄⁺), the properties of aqueous dispersions reconstituted from dried TEMPO-ChNF were tunable. A TEMPO-ChNF suspension at 0.7% concentration displayed low viscosity, while a highly viscous, gel-like system occurred at 3.0% (Figure 27b2). In sum, processing-induced assembly and interaction under the influence of salts allow for

nanochitin to be dried and redispersed, which is of practical importance and necessary for upscaling.

5. APPLICATIONS OF NANOCHITIN IN MULTIDIMENSIONAL MATERIALS

Nanomaterials have attracted attention as new class of materials, demonstrating great potential in diverse fields.⁴⁷⁵ However, biobased nanomaterials with properties and functions that compare with those produced from synthetic polymers have been challenging. Benefiting from its chemical and morphological attributes and excellent adaptability,^{9,14} nanochitin is a promising starting material for the fabrication of

advanced nanomaterials.⁴⁷⁶ Hierarchical assemblies, from the primary nanofibrils to the bulk tissue found in chitin, inspire novel design strategies and rational fabrication approaches for creating nanochitin-based materials (Figure 28).⁴⁷⁷ Nanochitin shows a high level of spatial and structural sophistication, including helical and periodic arrangements over a wide range of length scales. Thus, an in-depth understanding of nanochitin assembly and interactions with an eye on the applications will significantly boost materials development. Nanochitin shows great promise in building materials at different dimensional aspects, including 1D fibers, 2D films, and 3D structured gels (Figure 28). In this section, the structure–process–property relationship of nanochitin-based materials will be examined from multidimensional aspects using various experimental techniques.

5.1. Application of Nanochitins as Building Blocks

The properties and functions of materials usually depend on the components and the processing techniques that are used in their fabrication. The building elements should be predictable and stable to enable reproducible and precise manufacture. These factors are far more important for nanochitin-based 0D applications due to the direct relationship between nanochitin and the end materials. Nanochitin shows great potential to fulfill these requirements in 0D applications, since chemical and morphological attributes encoded within chitin may be predicted according to the chitin source. In this subsection, the direct use of nanochitin as a building block for a variety of 0D applications will be discussed.

5.1.1. Nanochitin as a Pickering Stabilizer. Pickering multiphase systems, emulsions and foams, have been used in formulating a range of materials, particularly in the fields of foodstuff, pharmaceuticals, and cosmetics.^{428,480} Nanochitin assembly at the oil/water interfaces brings unique attributes in the actual implementation of Pickering emulsions.⁴⁸¹ One of the key emulsion properties toward applications is the droplet size.⁴⁸² Compared to Pickering emulsions stabilized by other types of nanopolysaccharides, e.g., nanocelluloses, Pickering droplets are typically smaller when stabilized by PD-ChNF (Figure 29a) and show extended storage stability against coalescence.²⁷³ For example, hollow ChNF spheres can be synthesized using a ChNF-stabilized styrene-in-water Pickering emulsion as a sacrificial template, showing applications in encapsulation and delivery.⁴⁸³ While nanochitin usually stabilizes O/W Pickering emulsions, enhanced dispersibility of nanochitin in solvents via covalent grafting of hydrophobic alkane chains on the surface enables water-in-oil systems, extending the range of opportunities for Pickering stabilization. 335,359 In this Review, O/W type nanochitin-based Pickering emulsions will be the main focus.

Apart from the simple use of nanochitin as a Pickering emulsion stabilizer, taking advantage of the naturally occurring cationic surface properties, nanochitin has been used to develop responsive emulsions. Following an in situ modification strategy, a sequential process of partial deacetylation (amine groups) and TEMPO-mediated oxidation (carboxyl groups) was applied to nanochitin, producing zwitterionic ChNF with switchable surface charges.³²² Exploiting the changeable surface chemistry, a doubly pH-responsive paraffin-in-water Pickering emulsion, solely stabilized by zwitterionic ChNF, was achieved (Figure 29b).²⁸⁰ With changes in pH value, it is possible to achieve reversible emulsification and de-emulsification. Particularly, the droplet

morphology can be altered upon a shift in pH (Figure 29b), making the zwitterionic ChNF attractive in the formulation of responsive emulsions.

Another application of nanochitin as a Pickering stabilizer is to generate tunable high-internal-phase Pickering emulsions (HIPPEs). Different from conventional emulsions, stabilization of HIPPEs often requires not only interfacial adsorption of nanoparticles but also the formation of a particulate network in the continuous phase.⁴⁸⁴ Such an effect fits nanochitin very well given its low critical gelation concentration.³³⁵ Exploiting Pickering stabilization of ChNC, an O/W HIPPE containing up to 96% internal phase (hexadecane) was successfully formed as a textured gel.485 In another study, ChNF was used to produce O/W HIPPEs with a volume fraction of the internal phase (food-grade sunflower oil) as high as 88% (Figure 29c1).⁴¹⁰ The stabilization ability of ChNF originated from the restricted coarsening, droplet breakage, and coalescence upon emulsion formation, which were the result of both irreversible adsorption at the interface and structuring in highly interconnected fibrillar networks in the continuous phase (Figure 29c2). Furthermore, due to the elastic behavior and resilience to compositional changes, the HIPPEs were easily textured in, e.g., a direct writable ink suitable for molding and 3D printing (Figure 29c3).

In addition to Pickering emulsions that are solely stabilized by nanochitin, nanochitin-based composite stabilizers have been explored for the formation of multiphase materials.^{422,486} This is because the cationic nature of nanochitin facilitates modification using the more typical anionic nanoparticles derived from renewable resources.⁴⁸⁷ For instance, the stabilization ability of nanochitin was enhanced with the addition of CNF.^{417,488} Integration of ChNF with CNF facilitated the interfacial adsorption of CNF and the formation of a thick particulate layer at the droplet surface, restricting droplet coalescence during storage. In the meantime, the obtained CNF layer on the droplet surface provided a remarkable emulsion tolerance to environmental stresses, e.g., in the pH range between 3 and 11 and ionic strength between 100 and 500 mM, which significantly extends the application range of ChNF in the field of emulsions. Apart from rodlike nanoparticles, spherical zein colloid particles (ZCPs) have been used to modify the emulsifying capability of ChNF via Hbonding and hydrophobic interaction between the two components, ChNF and ZCPs.⁴⁸⁹ The addition of ZCPs to ChNF increased the probability of adsorption of ChNF at the oil/water interface, thereby providing a better steric hindrance between oil droplets. In another route, mixed Pickering emulsions have been considered by blending two types of oil droplets, with adsorbed ChNF and CNF, respectively.⁴⁹⁰ Under appropriate conditions, composite droplets were formed comprising a shell of ChNF around CNF-coated droplets, creating special emulsion textures. The latter system exhibited better coalescence stability compared with the single emulsion counterparts.

Apart from Pickering emulsions, Pickering foams have attracted great attention due to their ability to resist disproportionation, for days or weeks, compared to the lifetimes of typical systems (less than an hour for surfactantstabilized bubbles).⁴²⁴ Indeed, ChNC-stabilized liquid Pickering foams, formed by ultrasonication⁴²⁵ or air injection,⁴²⁷ exhibited extended storage stability and limited degradation. However, although Pickering stabilization allows the conversion of liquid foams into solid counterparts while retaining



Figure 30. (a1) Photograph of mesoporous nitrogen-doped carbon films produced from nematic LCPs coassembled from ChNC and silica. (a2) SEM image of the cross section of the carbon film in (a1), showing a layered structure with embedding carbon nanorods in each layer. (a3) Galvanostatic charge/discharge curves of a typical carbon film in 1 M H_2SO_4 recorded at the different current densities. Adapted with permission from ref 458. Copyright 2014 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (b1) Schematic illustration of the preparation and application of the smart printable inks wherein ChNF was loaded in the aqueous phase as an additive to adjust the rheological behavior of the inks. (b2) (left panel) Viscosity at 0.1 s⁻¹ and (right panel) yield stress of the inks at different ChNF loading levels (wt %). Adapted with permission from ref 516. Copyright 2020 Elsevier. (c) Schematic illustration of the solvent exchange process that leads to the nucleation and growth of lignin nanoparticles in the presence of shrimp-derived ChNF, used as templating support. Adapted from ref 520. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society.

the microstructure,⁴¹⁰ this process is not possible in the case of ChNC-stabilized systems given the lack of resistance of the structure upon drying. The latter limit is related to weak ChNC interfibrillar adhesion. As a way to overcome this challenge, long, flexible ChNF has been used with the assistance of a nonionic surfactant, yielding long-lived liquid Pickering foams.⁴²⁶ With the increased ChNF loading, reduced foamability but improved foam stability was achieved, indicating the ability of ChNF to adjust the foam properties (Figure 29d1). The formation of gel networks by selfaggregated ChNFs at the air/water interfaces was also explored (Figure 29d2), significantly preventing coalescence and disproportionation. Accordingly, the formed interfacial network within foams facilitated the fabrication of solid porous matrices following the removal of water by air drying. On the other hand, porous solid ChNF-stabilized foams obtained from freeze-drying was ultralight and displayed a uniform microstructure (Figure 29d3). The method used for drying had a great impact on the mechanical properties of the porous nanochitin materials. For a similar density, foams obtained by air-drying displayed better mechanical performance compared

to those obtained by freeze-drying. The results were explained by the more compact packing and restored H-bonding that were induced upon air drying.

Pickering emulsions are particularly suitable for developing functional delivery system designed to improve human health and well-being. 450,491 Integration of unique chemical and morphological features of nanochitin enables the modification and development of functions. Consumers demand foodstuff with less or no synthetic preservatives, which positions natural agents as promising alternatives. Antimicrobial essential oils derived from plants offer a route to achieve all-natural systems.⁴⁹² Nevertheless, direct incorporation of essential oils for use as preservatives is still rare due to low water solubility, high volatility, strong odor, etc.⁴⁹³ Due to the renewability and interfacial activity, as well as the antimicrobial effect, the nanochitin-stabilized Pickering multiphase system is a promising platform for efficiently delivering essential oils and, therefore, achieving antimicrobial functions. A ChNFstabilized Cinnamon cassia oil-in-water Pickering emulsion showed a strong antimicrobial activity against Escherichia coli.415 This was attributed to the increased stability of the

emulsion, which inhibited the volatility and oiling-off of essential oils. In the meantime, the release pattern of essential oils from the emulsions showed prolonged antibacterial activity and enhanced diffusion efficiency, which turned out to be a good encapsulation system for controlled release of the essential oils. This showed the promising advantages of nanochitin-stabilized Pickering emulsions as delivery systems. Moreover, Pickering emulsions can regulate the digestion of lipids.⁴⁹⁴ This is important in addressing obesity,⁴⁹⁵ for instance, by food formulations that induce satiety as dietary therapy. Nondigestible nanochitin is particularly suitable for this purpose because it produces highly stable lipid droplets with full interfacial coverage.⁴⁹⁶ The cationic characteristics of nanochitin make it suitable as an efficient agent to interact with various anionic components within the human gastrointestinal tract (GIT).497 Consequently, nanochitin forms physical barriers that prevent digestive enzymes from reaching lipids and reduce the activity of digestive enzymes, bile acids, or other gastrointestinal components. An in vitro human GIT model was used to evaluate the ability of ChNF-stabilized Pickering emulsions to regulate the lipid digestion, and a 30% reduction in lipid digestion rate was shown (Figure 29e).498 Besides the above-mentioned reasons, inhibition of lipid digestion using nanochitin systems may be also caused by the reduced lipid accessible area to lipases in nanochitin-coated droplets that aggregate in the GIT. This opens the possibility to develop high-satiety diets using nanochitin as a Pickering stabilizer. On the other hand, the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the encapsulated oil-soluble nutrients may be affected given the limited release of the lipid phase upon digestion, which would be undesirable from a nutritional perspective.⁴⁹⁹ Overall, the potential impact of nanochitinbased Pickering emulsions should be considered in the formulation of functional foods.

5.1.2. Nanochitin as a Functional Additive. Nanochitin can be used as a functional additive or nanofiller, ^{338,500-504} by taking advantage of the inherent chemical, morphological, and biological features of nanochitin, e.g., surface charge and chemistry, anisotropy, flexibility, fibril dimension, aspect ratio, and nitrogen content. 505-508 Hence, nanochitin enables novel material design,³⁸⁴ for instance, to reinforce different materials,^{509,510} and as a biomimicry template of periodic structures (ChNC LCP).^{453,456,511} This takes advantage of the combination of nematic structural properties of ChNC and a reinforcing phase to create advanced materials, showing potential uses in sensing, electrochemical, and optical applications, among others.^{331,434,435,442,512} Templating ChNC LCP was used to synthesize silica-based mesoporous nitrogen-doped carbon films in a layered nematic organization (Figure 30a).⁴⁵⁸ By transferring the long-range ordered organization of helicoidal ChNCs to the solid phase, a carbon film was produced and used as electrode in a supercapacitor that showed an improved electrochemical performance (Figure 30a).

The geometrical features of nanochitin enable interesting flow behavior in suspension,²⁷³ similar to that of nanocelluloses,⁵¹³ which depends on the solid content as well as the detailed morphology and interactions between the particles.⁵¹⁴ Particularly, nanochitin suspensions become viscoelastic at relatively low solid content,²⁷³ showing great potential in rheology modification.⁴⁶² Partially deacetylated nanochitin has been successfully used to adjust the rheological behavior of alginate-based solutions.⁵¹⁵ The electrostatic interaction between oppositely charged components enabled the reassembly of fibril-like chitin nanoparticles surrounding alginate molecular chains. Such systems behaved as non-Newtonian fluids, in which an increased solids content resulted in an increased yield stress, higher Newtonian viscosity, and longer relaxation time. The main contribution of rheological modification is the possibility to enable control on the flow behavior of the materials,⁴⁷⁹ which can result in suitable properties, *e.g.*, for printing-based manufacturing. In this respect, ChNF has been used to endow excellent printability to anthocyanin-containing smart inks, e.g., by adjusting the rheological properties, including yield stress and shearing viscosity (Figure 30b).⁵¹⁶ Immobilization of anthocyanin and enhancement of the rheological behavior of the composite ink were achieved by the formation of H-bonding between different components.

The cationic surface of nanochitin offers unique opportunities in applications where electrostatic attraction between oppositely charged components is required.^{196,517,518} For instance, incorporation of ChNF with carboxymethyl cellulose enhanced the mechanical and antimicrobial performance of films given electrostatic coupling effects.⁵¹⁹ The positively charged surface of ChNF and the inertness of the formed networks allow templates suitable for heterogeneous reaction and in situ formation of nanoarchitecture in aqueous media. For example, ChNF-templated production of lignin nanoparticles (LNPs) was achieved following the solvent shift approach (Figure 30c).⁵²⁰ The surface chemistry of the templating ChNF dictated the dynamics of nucleation and growth of LNPs. A strong interfacial electrostatic interaction between the oppositely charged ChNF and lignin molecules facilitated instantaneous and extensive lignin adsorption, followed by nucleation and growth into nanoparticles. As expected, electrostatic attraction enabled a strong coupling of the formed nanoparticles to the ChNF support while retaining their homogeneous distribution in the suspension.

5.2. Fibers and Filaments

1D materials, including fibers and filaments, are often produced from synthetic materials, usually nonrenewable and nondegradable.⁴⁷⁵ Benefiting from manufacturing methods that use biobased nanoparticles, following spinning techniques,⁵²¹ it is possible to develop 1D fibers. This has been demonstrated for nanocelluloses,^{522,523} yielding systems with performances that compare to those of synthetic ones.⁵²⁴ Inspired by these advances, nanochitin has been considered for constructing 1D fibers. The cationic nature of nanochitin brings unique functional attributes to biobased 1D fibers. Moreover, spinning enables regulation of the structure and orientation of the starting material,²² offering the possibility of creating nanochitin-based fibers with special performances and novel functionalities. This subsection discusses the performance of nanochitin in 1D fibers, which are obtained by different spinning methods.

5.2.1. Wet-Spinning. Wet-spinning is a strategy to assemble nanostructures into 1D filaments by fast and efficient dehydration of aqueous dispersions or hydrogels, ⁵²³ suitable for operation in large scales. ⁵²⁵ In this process, a spinning dope is extruded through a spinneret into a coagulation bath, in which the dope solidifies into a filament through rapid solvent exchange and solidification. Biobased nanofibrillar systems have been used in wet spinning, for instance, with CNF;⁵²⁶ extending such a technique to hydrogels containing surface-

Review



Figure 31. (a1) Schematic illustration of the preparation of chitin-based macrofibers or filaments by extrusion of ChNF hydrogels into a coagulation bath and drying. (a2) SEM and digital images of the as-prepared macrofiber. (b1) Schematic illustration of structure of the hybrid macrofibers that were extruded from a mixture of ChNF and metal ions. (b2) Cryo-TEM image of metal nanoparticles bound to ChNF aggregates in the gel state. Adapted from ref 527. Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society. (c1) Schematic drawing for wet-stretching device into which a macrofiber (as shown in a1) is clamped in water and stretched under controlled strain rates. (c2) SEM images of a cross section of unstretched and stretched ChNF-base macrofibers. The stretching ratio was set to 0.3. Influence of stretching ratio on (c3) the tensile mechanical properties and (c4) orientation index and Young's modulus (E) of ChNF-based filaments. Adapted from ref 532. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

deacetylated ChNF enables production of micrometer-wide filaments (Figure 31a1) that exhibit flexibility (Figure 31a2). For this purpose, the antisolvent used in the coagulation bath can be ethanol or THF.^{389,527} Antisolvents such as acetone, sodium hydroxide, or ammonium solutions also enable ChNF filaments with diameters in the micrometer range,^{528,529} depending on the spinning parameters. Heterocoagulation of oppositely charged components has been used to generate nanochitin-based filaments by wet-spinning.⁵³⁰ In this strategy, a suspension mixture of carbon nanotubes and TEMPOoxidized CNF (TEMPO-CNF) was extruded into a ChNF suspension to form filaments where their formation was triggered by electrostatic attraction.

One interesting finding from wet-spun nanochitin-based filaments is that once dried they become difficult to redisperse in water. This is attributed to the strengthened interfibrillar H-bonding between ChNFs upon spinning and drying.¹⁶¹ The high water resistance of nanochitin-based filaments, together



Figure 32. (a) Dry-spinning produce filaments by direct drawing of a viscous interface generated by contact of a ChNF suspension (red) and an alginate solution (blue). (b) Schematic illustration of the mechanism responsible for interactions upon interfacial complexation of ChNF and alginate. SEM images of (c1) surface shell and (c2) cross section core of dry composite filament. The dashed squares correspond to a higher magnification, and the arrow in the magnified image in (c2) shows the drawing direction. (d1) Tensile tests of filaments produced from ChNF with varying aspect ratios, in dry and wet conditions. ChNF-S, -M, and -H stand for ChNF with small, medium, and high aspect ratio, respectively. (d2) Visual appearance of a single filament (red dashed square) immersed in water and under load, demonstrating wet stability. Adapted from ref 537. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

with their internal porous structure, enable a high water sorption capacity.⁵²⁸ Such systems can be also considered as a platform for cell cultue, showing excellent proliferation and viability for given cell lines. Apart from the physical contribution of nanochitin, its surface chemistry also allows additional functionalities, e.g., upon hybridization with catalytically active noble metal nanoparticles (Figure 31b).⁵²⁷ The latter has been demonstrated for cyclic, fast catalytic reduction of model compounds with no loss of activity.

One bottleneck for practical applications of nanochitinderived 1D filaments is the limited mechanical strength. Indeed, although macrofibers fabricated from ChNF display good mechanical properties with large plastic strain,⁵²⁷ they are still weak compared with wet-spun filaments produced from CNF.⁵³¹ This motivates the design of ingenious spinning processes to tailor nanofiber orientation and mechanical performance. Wet-spinning allows control of the structure and orientation of nanofibers,²² providing a pathway to improve the mechanical properties. By controlling the flow regime and dehydration of the nanofibers before, during, and after spinning, they can be spun into highly oriented filaments. The orientation and alignment of nanofibers are influenced by many factors, and a strong interfibrillar cohesion is desirable. Due to the strong interparticle repulsion, this effect is challenged in the case of highly charged ChNF. To overcome this issue, postdrawing of wet-spun nanochitin filaments has been proposed to further improve the mechanical strength (Figure 31c1).⁵³² A strain-rate controlled wet-stretching of rehydrated macroscale filaments composed of ChNF induced a high degree of nanofiber orientation and alignment (Figure 31c2), favored by strongly disengaged networks that were swollen in water. As a consequence, the mechanical performance of the obtained filaments was improved upon stretching (Figure 31c3) and the macroscale mechanical stiffness

increased with the orientation index, reaching values as high as 12 GPa (Figure 31c4).

5.2.2. Dry-Spinning. Dry-spinning is a process where solidification of generated 1D fibers occurs in air, through evaporation of the solvent or after a cooling process.⁵²¹ This is similar to the natural process where aqueous solution is directly extruded into air at ambient temperature and low hydrostatic pressure. In one process, dry-spinning is used to produce filaments by ionic interactions between polyelectrolytes bearing opposite charges.⁵³³ This approach exploits the spontaneous self-assembly of the polymers into filaments by simply drawing the complexes that form at the fluid/fluid interface.⁵³⁴ This process has been employed to fabricate filaments consisted of biobased nanoparticles, e.g., nanocelluloses, 535,536 referred to as "interfacial nanoparticle complexation, INPC". Transferring this technique to nanochitin, filaments have been continuously drawn following INPC at the interface between two contacting suspensions containing ChNF and alginate (Figure 32a).⁵³⁷ The main complexation mechanism involves electrostatic interactions and entropic effects that originate from the release of counterions and water expulsion upon contact between ChNF and alginate, as illustrated in Figure 32b. The resulting composite microfibers or filaments exhibited a core-shell structure, wherein ChNFs were arranged in a hierarchical assembly comprising axially aligned nanofibers (Figure 32c1). A more randomly oriented shell was formed by a sleeve of alginate chains (Figure 32c2). Taking advantage of the unique morphological characteristics and the possibility to control the aspect ratio of ChNF, it was possible to tailor the mechanical performance of the as-spun microfibers. Thus, filaments prepared from ChNF with a large aspect ratio displayed the highest Young's modulus, nearly doubling that found in filaments produced from the shorter fibers (Figure 32d1). Mechanical tests conducted underwater demonstrated the wet



Figure 33. (a) Visual appearance of an optically transparent and flexible ChNF film produced from α -ChNF. Adapted with permission from ref 245. Copyright 2013 Elsevier. (b) Optical appearance of 80 g/m² nanopapers with a thickness between 60 and 80 μ m produced from *Cancer pagurus* and *Agaricus bisporus* stalk, cap, and whole mushroom (from left to right), respectively. Adapted from ref 555. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (c1) UV–vis transmittance and (c2) AFM images of self-standing films (25 μ m thickness) of TEMPO-oxidized ChNC, deacetylated ChNF, HCl-hydrolyzed ChNC, and squid pen ChNF. Adapted with permission from ref 557. Copyright 2012 Elsevier. (d) Comparison of tensile strength and Young's modulus of insect-derived ChNF and wood-derived CNF, indicating comparable mechanical properties of ChNF and CNF. Adapted from ref 257. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (e) Time-dependent evaluation of vertical flame tests for different ChNF samples (CNF sample used as a reference). Note: the shaded areas correspond to the confidence intervals from triplicated tests. The image shows the burning height of ChNF-phosphate nanopaper after exposure to a flame for 3 s. Adapted from ref 465. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (f1) Cycling performance of cells with using polypropylene, polypropylene-SiO₂, cellulose nonwoven, and ChNF separators operated at 17 mA g⁻¹ for the first five cycles (used for activation) and 85 mA g⁻¹ for the following cycles. (f2) Charge/discharge voltage profiles of the LiFePO₄/Li half-cells using different separators under 58.5 mA g⁻¹ rate at 120 °C. Adapted from ref 574. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

stability of the filaments (Figure 32d2), with <50% strength loss and up to 35% strain gain. Apart from the nanoparticle/ polymer pair, the nanoparticle/nanoparticle system, for instance, ChNC and TEMPO-CNF, has been used in INPC, demonstrating the efficiency and universality of this approach.⁵³⁸ More importantly, functional components, e.g., carbon nanotubes, could be easily embedded into the microfibers by incorporating either ChNC or TEMPO-CNF, forming functional filaments. In sum, dry-spinning provides a new perspective toward the creation of high-performance nanochitin-derived 1D filaments.

5.2.3. Electrospinning. Electrospinning of a viscoelastic fluid through electrostatic forces, following with fiber solid-ification with an evaporating solvent,⁵³⁹ has been used as a simple method to produce filaments and respective webs.⁵⁴⁰ The process leads to ultrafine fibers with diameters down to submicrometer or nanometer scales,⁵⁴¹ and with the possibility of controlling fiber properties by adjusting the spinning

parameters (e.g., solution and electrospinning setup).⁵⁴² Electrospinning has been used to fabricate fibers from biobased nanoparticulate components,^{543–545} including nanochitin, for applications in the biomedical field such as wound dressing,⁵⁴⁶ antimicrobials,^{198,540} and cell culturing platforms.⁵⁴⁷ ChNC exerts a strong affect on the spinnability of multicomponent spinning suspensions, leading to different filament characteristics.⁵⁴⁰ This is the case, for instance, for ChNC/poly-(ethylene oxide) composite systems.⁵⁴⁸ Overall, expanding from wet- or dry-spinning, electrospinning is known for its capability to produce nanochitin-containing filaments and webs.

5.3. Films

Considering the morphology of nanochitin and its relatively large aspect ratio, one can expect that self-entangled or aggregated nanostructures can be formed by simply concentrating or drying the precursor suspensions.^{196,474} Thus, nanochitin is suitable as a building block for creating

Review

films.^{18,549,550} As such, structural nanochitin composites have been reported with biobased or synthetic polymers.⁵⁰⁸ Nanochitin films can be manufactured from suspension via casting,³⁵⁸ filtration,⁵⁵¹ dialysis,²⁴⁵ and spray-coating.⁵⁵² In these processes dewatering, water evaporation, annealing, and hot pressing are necessary to consolidate the films. Generation of structural coatings on given supports offers another route to create nanochitin-based 2D materials.⁵⁵³ This subsection introduces some aspects relevant to the formation of nanochitin-based films and coatings.

5.3.1. Films Obtained from Nanochitin Suspensions. Nanochitin can be directly applied as a versatile building block to produce films. The latter can be optically transparent following dense packing and reduced light scattering/ adsorption (Figure 33a).^{253,554} Films produced from mushroom-derived ChNF (containing glucans) were translucent and exhibited a strong brown color originated from melanin contained in the spores and gills of the mushrooms (Figure 33b).^{169,555} Moreover, porous and aggregated structures produced a mismatch in the RI between air and nanochitin, producing strong light scattering and leading to opaque films.⁵⁵⁶ To obtain highly transparent films, nanochitin of suitable structural dimensions and with proper annealing processes should be considered. For instance, different types of finely isolated nanochitin, including TEMPO-oxidized α -ChNC, deacetylated α -ChNF, HCl-hydrolyzed α -ChNC, and squid pen β -ChNF, produced films by suspension casting; all of the films showed high light transmittance (Figure 33c1).⁵ Highly transparent films were produced from deacetylated α -ChNF with a high aspect ratio, which showed very limited nanofiber aggregation (Figure 33c2).558

Besides visual appearance, mechanical strength is a key factor when considering a nanochitin precursor for film manufacture.559 A film produced from deacetylated ChNF reached a tensile strength of 140 MPa, Young's modulus of 5 GPa, and elongation break at 10%.557 To improve the elongation, a plasticizer, glycerol, was added to the suspension prior to film formation, increasing the elongation to 16.3% while maintaining high light transmittance and low thermal expansion coefficient.⁵⁶⁰ The tensile strength of films from low-protein ChNF reached a higher value, 153 MPa with a similar modulus (7.3 GPa), likely due to the presence of protein, which engaged in strong interactions with the nanofibers to limit their interfibril slippage.²⁵⁹ Mechanical strengthening of ChNF films has been achieved following better individualization of ChNF.⁵⁶¹ This can be carried out by using high-pressure homogenization in the presence of chitosan, which under acidic conditions acted as a sacrificial polymer to facilitate fibrillation and to prevent aggregation. Films produced from these nanofibers contained certain residual chitosan, showing improved tensile strength (187 MPa) and work of fracture (12.1 MJ/m^3) . These results relate to the nanoscale network structure and the better individualization of ChNF stabilized by the residual chitosan. It is shown that single α - and β -chitin nanofibrils display a tensile strength of 1.6 and 3 GPa, respectively,⁴² indicating that, in addition to the effect of network formation, the isolation of nanochitin from native chitin, e.g., by using strong processing methods, deteriorates the mechanical strength. ChNF films with high tensile strength (and with high optical transmittance > 90%) were achieved for α -chitin (220 MPa)²⁵⁷ and β -chitin (277 MPa)²⁵⁸ through minimizing chitin degradation during the process of disintegration, i.e., preserving the inherent strength

of chitin. The colloidal stability of the nanofiber suspension also led to a dense packing with low number of defects; the films, in fact, were as strong as those from CNF (Figure 33d).⁵⁶² The modulus of ChNF film was about half that of CNF-based films, which was caused by the inherent differences in the modulus of chitin (which is lower than that of cellulose).⁵⁶³ In addition, the acetyl substitution on the surface of nanochitin may also be a factor that reduces interfibril bonding.

Robust ChNF films with homogeneous mesoporous structures have been utilized in applications related to advanced materials.⁵⁶⁴ For example, highly flexible and optically transparent α -ChNF films had low gas permeabilities $(O_2: 0.006 \text{ barrer and } CO_2: 0.018 \text{ barrer})$,²⁵³ comparable to those of commercial poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) with permeabilities of O2 at 0.015-0.076 and CO2 at 0.08-0.15,565 demonstrating the promise of ChNF in the design of sustainable barrier packaging. Inspired by the underwater superoleophobicity of shrimp shells, a novel filtration membrane was fabricated from TEMPO-ChNF (obtained from shellfish waste), also with antifouling behavior.⁵⁶⁶ The resultant ChNF membranes exhibited excellent mechanical strength, recyclability, thermal stability, pH-resistance, superhydrophilicity, and underwater superoleophobicity. Thus, together with the tunable thickness and pore size, such membranes were effective platforms for separation of O/W emulsions, showing high separation efficiency (>95%) and water flux (>1500 $L \cdot m^{-2} \cdot h^{-1} \cdot bar^{-1}$). Deacetylated ChNF was used in filtration membranes with a chelation ability given the amino groups on the chitin surface, allowing effective extraction from O/W emulsions of noble metal ions, such as Au³⁺, Ag⁺, Pt⁴⁺, and Pd^{2+,567} After in situ reduction of metal ions adsorbed on the membranes, metal nanoparticle loaded ChNF membranes were obtained, with catalytic activity for applications as biosensing and as green catalyst.

One of the limitations for biopolymer films is their flammability, often requiring chemical modifications or additives to endow fire-retardancy. The intrinsic elemental composition of chitin, containing nitrogen, from abundant -NH₂ and -CHNO- groups, provides an inherent flameretardancy feature given that the formation of ammonia during combustion results in an increased thermo-oxidative stability.⁵⁶⁸ For instance, phosphorylated ChNF was used as a novel flame retardant and enabled self-extinguishing behavior of flammable papers, with no afterglow.⁵⁶⁹ Further exploiting the unique chemical characteristics of chitin, additive-free, flameretardant, self-extinguishing, and strong nanopapers were developed from surface-deacetylated ChNF. Therein, the synergy between water evaporation and counterion exchange was quite relevant.⁴⁶⁵ The counterions were exchanged using the respective acid, providing electrostatic stabilization. The flammability of the ChNF nanopaper was critically reduced by exchanging the counterions with phosphate, which, comparing with those of the acetate or chloride types, significantly improved the flame-retardancy (Figure 33e). This was associated with the beneficial elemental combination of high nitrogen/phosphorus atoms in the final nanopapers, endowing halogen- and heavy metal-free flame-retardant materials.^{570,5} Furthermore, in situ hybridization of ChNFs with nanoclay platelets yielded composite nanopapers with exceptional shapepersistence and fire-barrier properties against direct exposure to a gas torch and increased the stiffness by 40% (Young's modulus) compared to the pure ChNF nanopaper. These



Figure 34. (a) Visual appearance and flexibility of transparent ChNF composite film containing a methacrylic resin. Adapted with permission from ref 578. Copyright 2011 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Coefficient of thermal expansion of a series of acetylated ChNF and ChNF composite films. Adapted from ref 336. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society. (c1) SEM micrograph of UV-cured acrylated epoxidized soybean oil droplet that is emulsified using ChNC in the presence of a photoinitiator. (c2) Cross-sectional SEM image of UV-cured ChNC composite film. Adapted rom ref 592. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d1) Schematic illustration of the fabrication of different ChNF nanopaper-based composites via embedding/immobilizing various types of nanoparticles/components, which are suitable for a range of optical (bio)sensing applications. (d2) Visual appearance and (d3) flexibility of a ChNF nanopaper-based sensing platform, created with an office laser printer via direct-printing the hydrophobic ink onto a ChNF nanopaper, endowing hydrophobic and hydrophilic test zones. Adapted from ref 551. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (e1) Schematic illustration showing a radiofrequency (RF) identification tag used for card reading through (e2) ChNC/CNF- and (e3) aluminum-coated PET film indicating the capability of ChNC-based nanocoating to transmit information. Adapted from ref 605. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

ChNF-based nanopapers represent a significant advance in the field.

There is great demand for battery separators (between cathodes and anodes) in energy devices.⁵⁷² Key factors in such separators relate to the environmental friendliness and eco-efficiency as well as high mechanical strength, excellent thermal stability, and good electrolyte wettability. ChNF films show great promise to fulfill these demands.⁵⁷³ For instance, a new

type of separator for Li/Na-ion batteries was proposed through the self-assembly of ChNFs in nanofibrous membranes, associated with the adjustment of the pores (by using a pore generation agent, sodium dihydrogen citrate).⁵⁷⁴ The pore size of the ChNF membranes was optimized with the pore agent, which prevented tight stacking of nanofibers during water evaporation and promoted multiple channels within the films. As a result, the electrochemical performance of the LiFePO₄/ Li half-cell with a ChNF membrane separator was comparable to that of other separators (including commercial polypropylene). For example, excellent specific discharge capacity and Coulombic efficiency of the cell were found during cycling tests when using ChNF separators (Figure 33f1). In addition, such a system showed a much better performance at 120 °C (Figure 33f2), indicating the potential of the ChNF separator for high temperature Li-ion batteries, given the excellent thermal stability, mechanical strength, and electrochemical stability at elevated temperatures. Following this path, chemically modified cyanoethyl-ChNF was used in highperformance separators,³⁴¹ which not only exhibited great ionic conductivity but maintained excellent mechanical strength. The mechanism of high Li⁺ ion transport in the cyanoethyl-ChNF membrane was investigated through DFT calculation, which was found to be related to the weakening of $\rm Li^{+}$ ion binding over that of $\rm PF_{6}^{-}$ ions, given the cyanoethyl modification.

5.3.2. Films Obtained from Nanochitin Composites. Nanochitin films produced from neat suspensions can be tailored to achieve high transparency and mechanical strength. The design and development of composite nanochitin films consider the incorporation of secondary components to fabricate high-performance films,⁵⁷⁵ also adding new functions.^{342,576,577} For instance, optically transparent ChNF films that include (meth)acrylic resins, using either pristine or acetylated ChNF, were developed (Figure 34a), showing significant increases in the moduli and tensile strength.⁵⁷⁸ In particular, the films exhibited low coefficient of thermal expansion (Figure 34b).³³⁶ Biocompatible poly(vinyl alcohol) has been integrated with nanochitin in environmentally friendly films for improved performance.^{308,579–581}

From the demand of green conversion, a series of composite films were proposed combining nanochitin and nanocellulose.⁵⁸² For instance, an antifungal film resulted from a combination of ChNC and CNF via sequential processing with vacuum filtration and hot pressing (110 °C) at a curing pressure of 180 bar for 15 min. The main mechanism to inhibit fungi growth (Arpergillus sp.) originated from the amine groups in ChNC.⁵⁸³ Moreover, exploiting the oppositely charged nature of ChNF and CNC, their electrostatic interactions supported dense fibril packing during film formation, enabling all-biomass 2D materials with tunable barrier and mechanical properties.⁵⁸⁴ Compared to neat ChNC or CNC films, the ChNF/CNC composite films exhibited lower O_2 permeability (1.4–1.9 cm^{3⁻} μ m/m²/d/kPa) and increased strain at break, indicating their potential as packaging materials. The low permeability was attributed to structural effects within the films originating from the aggregation of ChNF with CNC, driven by electrostatic attraction and Hbonding. Two possible mechanisms were proposed related to film formation: (1) dense layered lamellar structures with an increased O_2 diffusion time scale and (2) long diffusion length scales by interfibril tortuosity within the lamellae.

Beyond simple mixing of nanochitin with other components, structural design into complex systems has been considered in composite films.⁵⁸⁵ One example is that of oily films using nanochitin-based Pickering emulsions, wherein nonvolatile oils act as the dispersed phase, stabilized by the nanochitin, also acting as matrix in the continuous phase.⁵⁸⁶ Nanochitinderived oily films are similar to those produced from nanocellulose but with added bioactivity for active packaging applications.^{587–589} For instance, ChNC-based transparent oily

films containing paraffin and starch were fabricated using ChNC-stabilized paraffin-in-water Pickering emulsions, where the starch acted as the comatrix in the continuous phase.⁵⁹⁰ The critical factor leading to oily films was the use of nanochitin as the stabilizer via the Pickering mechanism, allowing molding and drying upon film formation. Through controlling the structure and formulation of Pickering emulsions, the properties of nanochitin-based oily films can be adjusted. For instance, better barrier properties and enhanced bioactivity can be achieved by reducing the oil droplet size. However, these effects come with a cost since drying the emulsion to form the film involves coalescence of oil droplets. Moreover, the plasticizing effect of the oil phase may impair the mechanical performance of obtained films, which negatively affects the development of barrier properties and water resistance. Another emulsion route for structured composite films relates to Pickering emulsion polymerization.483 Nanochitin-stabilized monomer droplets, the dispersed phase, can be polymerized into nanochitin-based polymer dispersion, facilitating film formation.⁵⁹¹ For example, a ChNF-stabilized Pickering emulsion system containing UVcurable acrylated epoxidized soybean oil (dispersed phase) was considered (Figure 34c1), where the oil phase was further UVcured to form ChNF-based nanocomposites with wellpreserved spherical-like microstructures (Figure 34c2).⁵⁹² After water evaporation, yellowish but translucent thin composite films were obtained with an increased stiffness and strength (Figure 34c3).

Owing to their high transparency and robustness as well as chemical and structural versatility nanochitin composite films have been utilized in a range of applications. Novel packaging materials can be manufactured given the inherent biological activities of nanochitin.⁵⁹³ For instance, immobilization of anthocyanins in ChNC-based composite barrier film, in association with the targeted interaction or release of anthocyanins, endowed controlled color changes upon exposure to environments containing volatile components or with changing pH.^{594,595} This is the most useful in intelligent food packaging systems that require active responsiveness and freshness monitoring. By immobilizing active molecules, a miniaturized, optical, easy-to-use sensing bioplatform was developed by embedding/immobilizing various functional components. They included transparent, biocompatible, flexible ChNF nanopapers combined with plasmonic (silver and gold nanoparticles) and photoluminescent (quantum dots, carbon dots, and up-conversion systems) nanoparticles as well as colorimetric curcumin (Figure 34d1).⁵⁵¹ The integration of such components was achieved via laser printing onto dried ChNF nanopaper in several forms: 2D multiwall patterns with hydrophobic walls and hydrophilic test zones (Figure 34d2), without compromising flexibility (Figure 34d3). Various model analytes were tested, confirming the efficiency and applicability of fabricated ChNF nanopaper-based sensing bioplatforms.

5.3.3. Nanochitin Coatings. Coating is an efficient strategy to modify the surface of a substrate, e.g., by using polymers, colloids, or molecules.⁵⁹⁶ Coating allows multi-layered constructs, enabling customized design of materials with desired functions.⁵⁹⁷ To fabricate nanochitin-based coatings, it is important to select a proper coating technique. For nanochitin alone, rod-coating produces homogeneous ChNC layers on polypropylene.⁴³² Micropatterning of ChNC coatings onto cellophane films was achieved by inkjet printing of a ChNC aqueous dispersion. This was an efficient route to



Figure 35. (a1) Structure of a scaffold used as a reverse template to form ChNF hydrogels. (a2) Visual appearance of the dissolution in alkaline media of the sacrificial template to form the ChNF hydrogel. (a3) Photograph and (a4) SEM image of ChNF hydrogel scaffold with a 10 mm edge length. Adapted with permission from ref 618. Copyright 2015 John Wiley and Sons. (b) Gelation process involving ChNFs in the presence of ammonia vapor during given processing time. Following a limited gelation period (5 h), a clear interface between the upper hydrogel phase and the bottom dispersion phase coexists (SEM image, bottom left); after ChNF dispersion is fully gelled (16.5 h), a network structure is formed by the nanofibers (SEM image, bottom right). Adapted with permission from ref 621. Copyright 2020 Springer Nature. (c) SEM images at higher magnification of a ChNC aerogel where the upper panel shows a porous network and nanocrystal aggregation with the bottom panel showing a highly porous network. Adapted with permission from ref 614. Copyright 2013 John Wiley and Sons. (d) Schematic illustration of the directional freezing used to prepare nanochitin cryogels. (e) SEM images of the cross section of freeze-dried ChNF cryogels, with the upper and bottom panels indicating ChNF cryogels obtained by freezing at -80 °C and under liquid nitrogen, respectively. Adapted rom ref 554. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

achieve functional biomedical systems, control over cellular shapes, precise monitoring of molecular events, and drug screening.⁵⁹⁸ On the other hand, spray-coating offers enhanced drying rate because of the large surface area of droplets under the contactless delivery of material on the substrate surface. Dip-coating that relies on alternative immersion and rinsing is used for the generation of multilayered nanochitin/nano-cellulose nanocomposite coatings on various substrates.^{552,599} Accordingly, compared with coatings made from ChNF and CNC alone, the multilayer structures are more effective in reducing the O₂ and water vapor transmission together with a low haze. These properties are associated with generation of densified multilayer barrier by electrostatic interfacial adhesion and bridging the nanofibers and nanocrystals.

The reported coating techniques represent a toolbox to create nanochitin coatings that can be precisely designed and synthesized for a range of functional applications.⁵⁵³ For instance, a superhydrophilic, antifouling membrane was developed by coating ChNC onto electrospun cellulose acetate membranes. The coating process was achieved by filtrating a ChNC suspension with the electrospun web, which was used as filter.⁶⁰⁰ This ChNC-coated membrane exhibited high water flux and low (bio)fouling, useful in water filtration. Super-amphiphobic coatings based on nanochitin have been shown for uses that demand self-cleaning and antifouling effects.⁶⁰¹

ChNC with reduced surface free energy was achieved by modification with fluorinated chains, through thiol linkages, which was used for self-cleaning and antifouling coatings.³³⁹ They were robust against mechanical and thermal treatments. Different liquid droplets formed quasi-spherical shapes on the coating, with high contact angles (>156.2°) and low roll-off angles (<9.3°). More importantly, such ChNC-based superamphiphobic coatings did not depend on the characteristics of the support: good resistance and repellency were realized on nonwoven fabrics, glass, sponge, plastic membranes, cotton, and filter paper. Surface coating enables antireflection and antifogging, useful in a wide variety of optical technologies, which reduces light reflectance loss and hence maximizes light transmission.^{602,603} A novel ChNF-derived antireflection coating was developed using an aqueous-based layer-by-layer self-assembly method involving sequential immersion and rinsing.⁶⁰⁴ During coating, an increased number of air voids inside the coating led to a low RI, which was derived from ChNF stacking, and precise control over the pH of ChNF and PAA led to systems with a low RI, which resulted in highquality antireflection performance. Moreover, the durable coating was antifogging even at -20 °C, owing to the hydrophilicity of the ChNF and strong inter/intraparticle Hbonding.

A transparent and flexible gas barrier coating was demonstrated for food packaging by spray-assisted layer-bylayer nanoscale assembly of ChNC and CNF on PET films.⁶ The interplay between the oppositely charged nanomaterials afforded effective ionic cross-linking within the multilayer, forming water-resistant and mechanically stable coatings. Owing to their crystallinity and dimensions, the ChNC/CNF coating minimized the number of defects (which promoted gas permeation), resulting in outstanding barrier performance. The coating reduced the haziness of PET with a negligible loss of transparency and provided effective inhibition of antibacterial growth. More importantly, the radiofrequency transparency of the coating was shown by performing an identification tag reading test (Figure 34e1). As a proof-of-concept, the tag covered by nonconductive ChNC/CNF-coated PET was readable as a green light (Figure 34e2), whereas the tag remained red through conductive aluminum-coated PET (Figure 34e3), which indicated electromagnetic shielding. These results show the promise of nanochitin-based coatings in next-generation intelligent packaging materials.

5.4. Gels and Three-Dimensional Structures

Nanochitin serves as a suitable building block to support 3D constructs, mainly as hydrogels and aerogels/cryogels.⁶⁰⁶ Structured gels can be derived from an aqueous nanochitin suspension through a range of concentration methods, e.g., dialysis and neutralization, pH adjustment, crystal transformation, and exchange, among others.^{19,245,607–609} Composite gels that include nanochitin and other components have been developed for multiple functions.^{610–612}

5.4.1. Nanochitin Hydrogels, Aerogels, and Cryogels. Nanochitin can be assembled into hydrogels by physical crosslinking, e.g., chain entanglement, hydrophobic interaction, and H-bonding.¹⁸ Owing to its morphological and chemical features, ChNF has been used to produce hydrogels by forming strong, robust 3D networks at low concentration.² For instance, gelation took place in a ChNF suspension at 0.4 wt % concentration, while ChNF hydrogels exhibiting a high storage modulus were achieved by increasing the suspension concentration to 3.0 wt %.⁶¹³ With the assistance of low-power ultrasonication (similar energy magnitude as that of Hbonding, 4-50 kJ/mol),²⁵ ChNCs assembled into 3Dpercolated networks through H-bonding.⁶¹⁴ Self-sustaining, durable β -ChNF hydrogels were fabricated by hydrothermal treatment, where the elevated temperature improved hydrophobic interactions between the nanofibers, fostering ChNF self-assembly into hydrogels.⁶¹⁵ Partial deacetylation of nanofibrillated ChNF, which activates surface amino groups, resulted in colloidally stable ChNF suspensions. Hydrogels were prepared from such ChNF suspensions by directly adjusting the pH to $>7^{616}$ under the influence of surface charge screening.⁶¹⁷ However, this procedure often does not achieve good control of the homogeneity, interfibrillar interactions, and bridging during gelation. To avoid this issue, a gyroid hydrogel scaffold made from a ChNF suspension was developed by the "reverse templating" approach.⁶¹⁸ The sacrificial template was prepared by stepwise lithographic 3D printing of a mixture of methacrylates and acrylamides, which contained methacrylic anhydride as a hydrolytically labile cross-linker (Figure 35a1). After filling the void space of the template with a ChNF hydrogel, the template was dissolved in alkaline media (Figure 35a2), resulting in a ChNF system that retained the visual appearance of the original design (Figure 35a3) and led to an

aligned internal porous structure (Figure 35a4). On the other hand, in order to control the interactions leading to nanofiber interconnections, a gas phase coagulation was applied by exposing the system to a volatile alkaline (e.g., ammonium hydroxide) or acid (e.g., hydrochloric acid) vapor, leading to physically cross-linked ChNF hydrogels containing PD-ChNF or TEMPO-ChNF (Figure 35b).^{619–621} Besides hydrogels produced from pure nanochitin, blending of nanochitin with other components allows composite hydrogels with enhanced performances.^{622,623} For instance, loading alginate into a ChNC suspension improved the mechanical properties and swelling stability of the hydrogels due to strong electrostatic interactions between the nanocrystals and alginate molecules.⁶²⁴

Although physical cross-linking generates nanochitin hydrogels with robust structures and strength, further enhancement of the performance and functions of nanochitin-based hydrogels requires chemical cross-linking, leading to covalently entangled networks.⁶²⁵ In most cases, particularly for PD-ChNF, the cross-linking reaction takes place at the amino groups. For instance, high-axial-ratio ChNF was produced by the microfluidization of partially deacetylated chitin and were cross-linked with glutaraldehyde at various concentrations. By using an ice templating method, and through freezing and thawing, ultrastrong, highly viscoelastic, and shape-recoverable hydrogels were formed even at a ChNF concentration as low as 0.4 wt %.⁶²⁶ The obtained hydrogel retained its integrity after a number of dehydration (compression) and swelling (immersion) cycles, which demonstrates the advantage of covalent cross-linking to generate high-performance nanochitin hydrogels. Recently, inspired by a naturally occurring quinone hardening process during insect cuticle sclerotization, a quinone-cross-linked hydrogel was produced from surfacedeacetylated ChNF in neutral aqueous phase.^{625,627} Therein, covalent cross-linking occurred between the amino groups present on the surface of ChNF and the quinone rings, derived from the oxidation of phenol.⁶²² The obtained hydrogels displayed a nearly 10-fold higher tensile strength compared to the hydrogels formed by nondeacetylated ChNF, indicating the extended cross-linking between quinone and amino groups. Genipin, a natural product extracted from gardenia fruit, has shown low cytotoxicity and has been demonstrated to efficiently cross-link β -ChNF, forming strong hydrogels.⁶¹⁵ The most significant improvement of genipin-cross-linked ChNF hydrogels was that they maintained their original shape in highly concentrated urea, realizing a strong resistance to chemical degradation.

A sol-gel transition can occur in nanofibril suspensions subjected to exchange of water with miscible organic solvents, e.g., acetone, ethanol, etc.⁶²⁸ Further removal of the solvent in the produced organogel leads to aerogels with given 3D network structures. Following this concept, a mesoporous ChNC aerogel has been produced via ethanol substitution followed by supercritical CO₂ drying of the organogel.⁶¹⁴ The supercritical drying retained the mesoporous network in the dried ChNC aerogel (Figure 35c), following shrinkage that can be as small as 4%. Such aerogels exhibit low density (0.043 g/ cm), high porosity (up to 97%), large specific surface area (261 m^2/g), and excellent mechanical performance (modulus up to 9.3 MPa). The obtained lightweight materials offer promise for thermal insulation, catalysis, and biomaterials. In addition to aerogel formation from supercritical drying, a dried nanochitin gel can be produced from freeze-drying of the hydrogel,



Figure 36. (a) SEM image (upper panel) and fluorescent micrograph (bottom panel) of osteoblast cells on alginate-containing ChNC hydrogel (ChNC/alginate ratio of 1). Adapted from ref 624. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society. (b) Representative photos of cutaneous wounds treated with BMSCs alone and BMSC-encapsulated ChNF hydrogel, indicating the accelerated healing at all time points after incorporating BMSCs in the ChNF hydrogel. Adapted with permission from ref 644. Copyright 2018 John Wiley and Sons. (c1) Schematic showing of the preparation of a polyacrylamide-ChNF hydrogel that is suitable as the electrolyte in solid-state ZIB containing a VO₂ cathode. (c2) Ragone plot of a Zn//VO₂ solid-state battery using polyacrylamide-ChNF hydrogel electrolyte compared with other vanadium-based cathodes for an aqueous ZIB. The results indicate the high energy density of the current system. (c3) Galvanostatic discharging and chemical self-charging (oxidation for 6 h) cycles of solid-state ZIB. Twenty cycles were performed continuously, showing excellent self-rechargeability. Adapted with permission from ref 652. Copyright 2021 John Wiley and Sons. (d) Visual appearance of dyed water before and after treatment with a ChNF hydrogel. Reactive Blue 19 (90 mg/L) was fully adsorbed by the ChNF hydrogel (pH 1.5 after 12 h contact at 150 rpm stirring). Adapted from ref 620. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

yielding a cryogel.^{629,630} For instance, a TEMPO-oxidized nanochitin hydrogel was subjected to sequential chemical and physical cross-linking followed by freeze-drying into a cryogel with tunable internal structures. 631 The main differences between a cryogel and an aerogel relate to the final internal 3D network that develops from the nanochitin gel. 632,633 The direction of ice crystal growth significantly influences the alignment of nanofibers and the formed porous structures.⁶²⁶ For instance, an aligned porous ChNC cryogel was produced by directional freeze-casting.⁶³⁴ This is because hexagonal water ice crystals exhibit strong anisotropic growth kinetics, varying over 2 orders of magnitude as far as crystallographic orientation. The freezing process is easier for crystals that exhibit parallel growth in the direction of temperature gradient, thereby generating oriented pores, which depends on the solidification conditions used.⁶³⁵ Thus, when the bottom of a hydrogel is in contact with liquid N2, ice crystals grow vertically along the direction of the thermal gradient (Figure 35d). Moreover, adjusting the freezing rate allows control of

the formation of the microstructure formed from the ChNF cryogel, ranging from oriented sheets to 3D aperiodic nanofiber networks (Figure 35e). The latter was shown to be similar in size and interconnectivity to that of the cuticle of the white *Cyphochilus* beetle.⁵⁵⁴

In sum, a number of methods have been used to produce nanochitin gels. The limited mechanical strength of these gels is a drawback, particularly in the case of nanochitin cryogels obtained upon drying. Hence, covalent cross-linking has been used as an option to improve the strength of the hydrogels, noting that it carries a counteracting effect, namely, reduced control of the microstructure. Taken together, it is critical to nondestructively balance the formation and chitin nanoparticle networking along with the methods used to transfer 3D constructions into the dried counterparts.

5.4.2. Emerging Applications of Nanochitin Gels. As introduced previously, nanochitin brings various beneficial characteristics: versatility, biocompatibility, biodegradability, low immunogenicity, and antibacterial activity. In this

Nanochitin gels have been widely used in biomedical applications, for instance, in tissue engineering, wound dressing, drug delivery, antimicrobial patches, etc. This is derived from chitin's biocompatibility, biodegradability, and nontoxicity as well as its processability into given material shapes, such as sponges and scaffolds.^{610,636} For instance, gasphase coagulation of PD-ChNF hydrogels containing glycerophosphate led to porous and stable structures that can be used as delivery vehicles for prolonged release of microemulsions.⁶³⁷ Tissue engineering based on hydrogels belongs to the interdisciplinary fields of life sciences and engineering, opening the way for systematic designs. The latter are used with living cells to process biological substitutes for body implantation and/or as a guide for tissue regeneration.⁶ Nanochitin gels have attractive chemical, morphological, and mechanical advantages for applications in tissue engineering, 639 particularly because they can be easily molded into different geometries to support the attachment and proliferation of cells (e.g., osteoblasts and others).⁶⁴⁰ Typically, ChNF hydrogels are used as templates for the mineralization of calcium phosphate crystals, leading to bone tissue engineering with improved cell adhesion and osteointegration.⁶⁴¹ Mineralized ChNF hydrogels accelerated the differentiation of osteoblasts in subcutaneous tissues of rats. Meanwhile, osteoblasts were found surrounding the areas of mineralization, wherein fibroblasts and collagen were distributed tightly in the hydrogel. Additionally, incorporating alginate with ChNC produced a nanocomposite hydrogel with improved adhesion and proliferation of osteoblast cells (Figure 36a).⁶²⁴ This is associated with a hierarchical inner structure significantly enhancing the mechanical strength and inhibiting swelling of ChNF-based hydrogels.

Besides tissue engineering, the high stability and superior antibacterial properties of nanochitin hydrogels make them suitable as wound healing materials.^{642,643} For instance, cellencapsulated ChNF-based hydrogels induced differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) in the absence of inducers.⁶⁴⁴ The ChNF-based hydrogel protected BMSCs from elimination by the harsh wound microenvironment, eventually enhancing cutaneous wound regeneration (Figure 36b). In another example, a 3D ChNF-based porous sponge, derived from a quaternary chitin/PD-ChNF hydrogel, was cross-linked by glutaraldehyde and was effective in hemostasis of noncompressible wounds.⁶⁴⁵ The underlying effect benefited from outstanding water absorbency, water-trigged shape recovery, and mechanical strength combined with antibacterial activity, cytocompatibility, and hemocompatibility. Hence, the sponges can be delivered into the wound cavity in the shape of a small patch that expands in volume upon contact with blood, filling the wound. This effect attracts and stimulates blood cells/platelets that are positively charged,⁶⁴⁶ thus promoting blood clotting. The use of noncompressible wound models in vivo, using rat livers, has shown superior hemostatic performance compared to the traditional hemostatic materials (medical gauze and gelatin sponges).

In a different type of application, N-doped electrochemical materials have been reported.^{647,648} Structurally, nanochitin hydrogels bear interconnected and robust network structures, which can be transferred into multilevel pores in aero- or cryogels, leading to hierarchically structured porous matri-

ces.⁶⁴⁹ Thus, taking advantage of these benefits, nanochitin gels have been shown in catalysis, electrochemical, and energy conversion devices. For instance, ChNF aerogels and their exposed C2 amines displayed great catalytic activity and excellent cycling stability toward the Knoevenagel condensation reaction between benzaldehyde and ethyl cyanoacetate.⁶¹⁶ The catalytic performance was even better than that measured in chitosan aerogels. The nonconductive nature of chitin can be addressed by introducing carbon nanotubes, producing conductive, mechanically robust, and self-standing in 3D porous structures from ChNF hydrogels.^{650,651} Using the structural advantage of ChNF hydrogels, a polyacrylamide-ChNF nanocomposite hydrogel was proposed as an electrolyte holder for a chemically self-charging, flexible solid-state zinc ion battery (ZIB) using a vanadium dioxide (VO₂) cathode (Figure 36c1).⁶⁵² With a power density of 139.0 W kg⁻¹, the ZIB delivered an energy density of 231.9 Wh kg⁻¹ (Figure 36c2). The superior electrochemical performance of the ZIB was partially attributed to the entangled network and robust tunnel structure of ChNF-based hydrogel electrolytes, which offered efficient pathways for ion diffusion during operation. Remarkably, the designed ZIB exhibited chemically selfcharging capability via redox reactions between the cathode and oxygen. After oxidation for 6 h in air, the ZIB delivered a high discharging capacity, 263.9 mAh g^{-1} at 0.2 A g^{-1} (Figure 36c3). With the assistance of a small amount of acetic acid in the electrolyte hydrogel, 20 cycles of galvanostatic discharging and chemical self-charging were achieved without loss in electrochemical performance.

Taking advantage of the abundant active functional groups, including primary amino, hydroxyl, and acetamido groups, chitin and nanochitin display great adsorption capacity;65 hence, they have gained attention as effective biosorbents for the removal of various types of pollutants.^{553,654} Therefore, exploiting such chemical advantages associated with structured internal networks (pores) of nanochitin gels, they are highly promising in environmental remediation, typically as filtration materials for water purification and for contaminant removal.655 For instance, ultralight (0.2 wt %) yet robust, selfstanding ChNF hydrogels were effective for dye removal (reactive Blue 19) from polluted water (Figure 36d), suggesting the use of ChNF-based hydrogels as a suitable biosorbent.⁶²⁰ Composite nanochitin gels have shown even better adsorption capability.^{481,656} A biohybrid cryogel made from PD-ChNF and TEMPO-CNF was prepared by selfassembly, driven by electrostatic forces and H-bonding, exhibiting a very high adsorption capacity (217 mg g^{-1} for As(III) under neutral pH conditions and 531 mg g^{-1} for methylene blue under alkaline aqueous conditions), which followed rapid adsorption kinetics.⁶⁰⁶ The results were explained by the highly porous and interconnected structure of the composite cryogel. Moreover, the respective cryogel was reusable, exhibiting a high methylene blue adsorption capacity (505 mg g^{-1} even after five successive adsorption-desorption cycles). A recent report indicates the use of ChNF cryogels decorated with silica toward superhydrophobic adsorbents for underwater collection of methane.657 The underlying mechanism of such an action of the ChNF cryogel relates to the formation of a silver mirrorlike film, making possible the entrance of methane gas through the pores. No such film was formed with pure ChNF, which resulted in aggregation of methane bubbles underneath the hydrophilic surface.



Figure 37. Industrial processing of (a) raw crab shells into (b) decolored, purified chitin flakes using (c) a pilot production system that removes the minerals, proteins, and surface pigment components of the crab shells. Adapted with permission from ref 661. Copyright 2017 MDPI.

6. INDUSTRIALIZATION PERSPECTIVES

In addition to the renewability, sustainability and unique chemical characteristics, the resource-efficiency and costcompetitiveness of nanochitin should be considered. Mature industrial-scale large-volume production usually lowers manufacturing costs; however, the physicochemical properties determining the design, processing, and application of industrialized nanochitin are not necessarily consistent. The market acceptability of nanochitin is also of importance for commercialization. Finally, the effectiveness of nanochitin and translating biomass waste to ecofriendly bioproducts are key factors dictating future industrial opportunities.^{658,659} Bearing these considerations in mind, this section introduces some industrialization perspectives (Figure 2, panel 6).

6.1. Industrialization Opportunities

6.1.1. Source of Feedstocks. The type of chitin feedstock relates to the performance and manufacturing cost of nanochitin as well as its price. Different chitin grades require given extraction strategies, resulting in associated process efficiencies and energy consumption levels. More importantly, chitin sources together with processing technologies directly impact the chemistry and structure of chitin and subsequent nanochitin, which ultimately affect functionality and application. Consequently, the structure-process-property relationships between chitin sources and applications should be considered. Crustacean shell waste represents approximately half of the total weight of shellfish,⁶⁶⁰ which is considered to be the main chitin source. However, other sources include squid $(\beta$ -chitin),²⁴⁸ which has unique advantages. For instance, the squid pen is easily processed and the isolated nanochitin has a large aspect ratio, enabling wide tunability as far as the flow behavior at given solid content, making it more competitive as functional additives.5

6.1.2. Industrial Production. While cellulose is currently produced worldwide in the context of the pulp and paper

industry, industrial processing of chitin lags behind.¹⁰ Commercialization of nanochitin has been favored by recent state-of-the-art technologies that allow processing of chitin into its nanosized structures. With these developments, preproduction of raw chitin involves DM, DP, and decoloring (Figure 37). Processing of chitin into nanochitin has been achieved over the last two decades in pilot plants operating at high pressure and temperature but under cost-effective conditions, using chemical, enzymatic, or combined approaches.^{290,661} Industrial production still requires manufacturers to consider the chemical composition of the source feedstock, including minerals and proteins as well as the interactions that exist in the hierarchical chitin structures and their effect on the selection of processing conditions. The purity of the produced nanochitin significantly impacts the manufacturing costs and properties as well as commercialization; for instance, this includes the chitosan/chitin content, depending on the DDA. In industrial production, over-reaction leads to the formation of chitosan; meanwhile, depending on the application, high-purity nanochitin (chitosan-free) does not necessarily perform better than low-purity mixtures.⁶⁶² It should be noted that due to the reduced processing involved, products containing nanochitin/chitosan may be more costcompetitive compared with pure nanochitin. The manufacturing cost of nanochitin also depends on the target nanochitin morphology, e.g., size and size distribution, degree of nanofibrillation, etc. For example, nanochitin with smaller dimensions and higher nanofibrillation degrees entails a higher cost compared with the microfibrillated forms. The trade-off between performance and cost should be considered in the selection of nanochitin.

Nanochitin processing method, storage, transport, purity and intended use are all important considerations in efforts to scale-up production. This leads to the key component of nanochitin: water. Nanochitin is typically extracted in three different forms, considering the water content: (1) as a suspension with a solid content <1 wt %; (2) as a wet gel with a solid content of 2–10 wt %; and (3) as a dry powder. The water content may be adjusted to different levels by using additional processing, including spray-drying. To facilitate storage and transport, nanochitin in the dry powder form is preferred. For applications such as solvent-based plastics, textiles, and composites, dry powder is required, given the lack of water dispersibility. By contrast, most of the applications relating to nanochitin for biomedical applications usually favor its hydrated form, *i.e.*, a wet nanochitin gel that can be easily incorporated into the given system prior to use.

6.1.3. Consumer Acceptability. Even if nanochitin is used as functional component in industry, its applications may be limited by the lack of consumer acceptance.⁶⁶³ Consumers must balance the potential functional benefits provided by nanochitin with any potential risks. Consequently, there is a need to understand what consumers perceive as beneficial and how they construe risks.⁶⁶⁴ However, consumers often make decisions based on public opinion that may unintentionally highlight the potential risks of nanoparticles, with less attention to details and the science involved. This specially applies to nanopolysaccharides that are potentially safe. Another aspect is that of biodegradation: due to a preference for the acetylated sites, some families of enzymes, e.g., chitotriosidases (chitinases), degrade more quickly chitin nanoparticles than the chitosan polymer.⁶⁶⁵ To facilitate the industrialization and commercialization of nanochitin, public awareness and acceptability of nanochitin should be carefully considered, requiring the development of holistic and integrated approaches.

6.2. Bioeconomy Vision

Beyond the advantages described in previous sections, a strong driver for a future sustainable society, for instance, in developing and utilizing chitin and nanochitin, is the shift from petroleum-based materials toward a circular economy and, ultimately, to a circular bioeconomy.^{32,666–668} While such a shift requires deep transformations,² including fundamental changes in policies, technologies, organization, social acceptance, and markets, nanochitin offers great opportunities that fit many urgent needs. For instance, due to the vast sources and rapid regenerative practices in the crustacean industries, the production and utilization of nanochitin provides a balanced use of marine resources, safeguarding the biodiversity of the planet. The seafood waste-nanochitin nexus stimulates the reuse, recycling, and upcycling of crab shell waste and byproducts, minimizing the loss of natural resources. Moreover, taking advantage of advancements in nanochitin chemistry and technologies, such waste can be transferred to ecofriendly, high-value-added products via simple, scalable, and cost-effective routes. For example, nanochitin shows great promise as a replacement of some oil-derived plastics and chemicals, similarly to nanocelluloses.^{669 -671} Finally, relatively high conversion rates, going from chitin to nanochitin, enable low emissions of non-essentials, which prevents the unnecessary exploitation of low-valued byproducts, particularly alleviating the massive impact of production that is unlikely to be offset by recycling. In sum, we anticipate that the prominent features of nanochitin will expand the development of a biobased material, making it an additional enabler for the future circular bioeconomy.

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

The breadth, diversity, and scope of recent research associated with nanochitin have witnessed an expansion over the past two decades. Chitin and its nanoform, nanochitin, have attracted great interest; simultaneously, materials innovation from aquaculture offers a solution to many of the issues related to agricultural land use. Despite the fact that nanochitin shares similar morphological features compared to other nanopolysaccharides but bear distinctive chemical feaures, research advances in the area of nanochitin are still lagging behind plant-based nanocelluloses.

This Review summarized the fundamental chemical and biological aspects of chitin, highlighting the prominent role of chitin in constructing hierarchically multileveled structures in living organisms. The most distinctive characteristic of chitin is that it contains nitrogen, which can lead to cationic moieties, a desirable feature in a number of applications. The isolation of varying axial-aspect nanochitin depends on the chemical composition of chitin as well as the structures it forms, starting from the elementary chitin assemblies and going to higher orders or length scales. Based on the hierarchical structures of fibrous chitin, two types of mesostructured assemblies can be considered, nanofibers and nanocrystals, which can be isolated by top-down approaches, as discussed in this Review. The methods used in the isolation of chitin assemblies involve mechanical, chemical, and biological treatments, which directly impact the characteristics and application of the produced nanochitin. They are biocolloids that can be conveniently used in the construction of new materials. The assembly of nanochitin is paramount for achieving desirable performance, and therefore, we discussed the assembly forces and the interactions relevant to fibrillar nanoparticles and supramolecular assemblies dispersed in given media. Nanochitin provides an opportunity for new designs and inspires new strategies for material development, for instance, by regulating the self-assembly or by compounding with other materials. We considered a range of nanochitinderived bioproducts in different dimensional formats (0D to 3D), emphasizing hierarchical structuring. Such materials display unique physicochemical properties and biological activity. Nanochitin is associated with anisotropy, high specific surface area, networking, nano-confinement, and optical effects. Such features are relevant to applications in the health, packaging, electronic, environmental, catalysis, and biomedical fields. We ended with a brief account of the production of nanochitin considering the feedstock, processing methods, and consumer acceptability.

Although great progress has been achieved to engineer nanochitin into sustainable and functional materials, many challenges remain related to processability and performance. Initiatives in this area require a deep understanding of the nature of interactions involving chitin and nanochitin. Efforts to retain the complex structure of nanochitin, upon isolation, are highly desirable, yet far from successful. New knowledge about the natural assembly of nanochitin is needed to facilitate fractionation and to open new uses. This requires the development of cost-effective, green processes that make full use of every feature encoded in nanochitin building blocks.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

- Orlando J. Rojas Bioproducts Institute, Department of Chemical & Biological Engineering, Department of Chemistry, and Department of Wood Science, 2360 East Mall, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3, Canada; Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, FI-00076 Aalto, Finland; ⊙ orcid.org/0000-0003-4036-4020; Phone: +1 604 822 3457; Email: orlando.rojas@ ubc.ca, orlando.rojas@aalto.fi
- Yimin Fan Jiangsu Co-Innovation Center of Efficient Processing and Utilization of Forest Resources, Jiangsu Key Lab of Biomass-Based Green Fuel and Chemicals, College of Chemical Engineering, Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing 210037, P.R. China; orcid.org/0000-0003-2764-1310; Email: fanyimin@njfu.edu.cn
- Long Bai Key Laboratory of Bio-based Material Science & Technology (Ministry of Education), Northeast Forestry University, Harbin 150040, P.R. China; Bioproducts Institute, Department of Chemical & Biological Engineering, Department of Chemistry, and Department of Wood Science, 2360 East Mall, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3, Canada; Orcid.org/0000-0003-3356-9095; Phone: +86 15046656920; Email: long.bai@ nefu.edu.cn

Authors

- Liang Liu Jiangsu Co-Innovation Center of Efficient Processing and Utilization of Forest Resources, Jiangsu Key Lab of Biomass-Based Green Fuel and Chemicals, College of Chemical Engineering, Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing 210037, P.R. China; orcid.org/0000-0002-5430-2501
- Marianelly Esquivel Polymer Research Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, National University of Costa Rica, Heredia 3000, Costa Rica; Present Address: Polymers Research Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Universidad Nacional and Doctorate in Natural Sciences for Development (DOCINADE), Instituto Tecnológico de Costa Rica, Universidad Estatal a Distancia, Heredia 3000, Costa Rica
- Blaise L. Tardy Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, FI-00076 Aalto, Finland; Department of Chemical Engineering, Khalifa University, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates; Orcid.org/ 0000-0002-7648-0376
- Siqi Huan Key Laboratory of Bio-based Material Science & Technology (Ministry of Education), Northeast Forestry University, Harbin 150040, P.R. China; Bioproducts Institute, Department of Chemical & Biological Engineering, Department of Chemistry, and Department of Wood Science, 2360 East Mall, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3, Canada
- Xun Niu Bioproducts Institute, Department of Chemical & Biological Engineering, Department of Chemistry, and Department of Wood Science, 2360 East Mall, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3, Canada
- Shouxin Liu Key Laboratory of Bio-based Material Science & Technology (Ministry of Education), Northeast Forestry University, Harbin 150040, P.R. China

Guihua Yang – State Key Laboratory of Biobased Material and Green Papermaking, Qilu University of Technology, Shandong Academy of Sciences, Jinan 250353, China

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00125

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Long Bai is a professor at Northeast Forestry University (NEFU), China. His B. Eng. (2011) and Ph.D. (2016) degrees were obtained from NEFU, with a major in polymer science and biobased materials and engineering. After graduation, he joined Prof. O. J. Rojas' group as a postdoctoral research fellow at Aalto University (Finland) and The University of British Columbia (Canada) (2017–2021). His current research interests include the design and construction of multiphase materials using sustainable nanopolysaccharides from agricultural and aquacultural residues in the context of bioeconomy.

Liang Liu is currently a postdoctoral fellow under the supervision of Prof. Qiang Yong at Nanjing Forestry University (NJFU), China. He received his Ph.D. degree from NJFU (2018) and was a visiting student with Prof. O. J. Rojas at Aalto University, supported by Priority Academic Program Development of Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions (2017–2018). His current research interests relate to the production of nanochitin and uses in hydrogel/aerogel forms.

Marianelly Esquivel is a professor at Universidad Nacional (UNA), Costa Rica, and researcher at the Polymer Research Laboratory (POLIUNA). She is a Ph.D. candidate at the interuniversity doctoral program DOCINADE (Natural Sciences for Development) with UNA and UBC. She is trained in Industrial Chemistry with an emphasis in polymers (UNA) and holds a M.Sc. degree in Forest Products from the Universidad de Guadalajara, México. Her research interests focus on the use of aquaculture and agro-industrial waste to extract high value-added materials. This serves as the basis for the generation of new materials and products, contributing to the development of a bioeconomy framework in developing countries such as her own Costa Rica.

Blaise L. Tardy is an assistant professor at Khalifa University (United Arab Emirates) and a visiting researcher at Aalto University (Finland). He obtained his M.Sc. in bioengineering from the Swiss Federal Institute of Science and Technology (EPFL), Switzerland (2009), and his Ph.D. degree in chemical and biomolecular engineering from The University of Melbourne, Australia (2015). His research is dedicated to the formation of sustainable materials from natural polymers and biobased particles. His current research relates to global bioeconomical efforts connecting fundamental and applied sciences to facilitate the widespread implementation of sustainable materials and processes. Such work considers agricultural and aquacultural practices as well as processing of natural building blocks.

Siqi Huan is a professor at Northeast Forestry University (NEFU), China. She obtained her Ph.D. degree in wood science and engineering from NEFU (2016). After graduation, she joined Prof. O. J. Rojas' group as postdoctoral researcher at Aalto University (Finland) and The University of British Columbia (Canada) (2017– 2021). Her research interests focus on 3D printing and electrospinning technologies to design and develop multifunctional materials using various renewable resources, from either single or multiple phase systems. Xun Niu is currently a Ph.D. candidate under the supervision of Prof. O. J. Rojas in Department of Chemical and Biological at The University of British Columbia, Canada. Xun obtained her Master degree in Chemical Processing of Forestry Products from Nanjing Forestry University. Her current research focuses on biobased multifunctional materials capitalizing on small biosynthetic building blocks, networks, and their structure-property correlations.

Shouxin Liu earned his Ph.D. degree in 2002 working on the chemical processing and engineering of forest products under the supervision of Prof. Shirun Zhang. From his achievements in the area of carbon materials, Dr. Liu was named Yangtse River Scholar (2015). His current research focus relates to active carbon materials, carbon aerogels, nanodots, and nanocellulose.

Guihua Yang is a professor in the State Key Laboratory of Biobased Material and Green Papermaking at Qilu University of Technology, China. Dr. Yang is Expert of the Special Government Allowance of the State Council and Distinguished Expert of Shandong Taishan Scholars. She is Member of Nanocellulose and Materials Professional Committee of China Paper Society and Member of American Chemical Society. Her research fields include pulp and paper, highyield clean bleaching, biotechnology, high-value utilization of solid waste, utilization of biomass resources, and preparation of wood fiber functional materials. She is recipient of 16 national and provincial teaching and scientific research awards, and published more than 300 academic papers and 56 Chinese patents.

Yimin Fan is a professor at Nanjing Forestry University (NJFU), China. She was awarded the Jiangsu Specially-Appointed Professorship in 2012 at the age of 32. She obtained her Master degree from NJFU (2005), supervised by Prof. Shiyuan Yu, and her Ph.D. degree (2009) from The University of Tokyo, supervised by Prof. Akira Isogai. She was a postdoctoral researcher from 2009 to 2011 at The University of Tokyo (Prof. Isogai, coadvisor) under a fellowship of the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS). Her research interest spans the preparation and characterization of biomass-based nanomaterials and their functionalization and application. She has made important contributions to the development of new approaches for the preparation of nanofibers from cellulose, chitin and silk. She is active in the scale up production of nanochitin and related functional designs and applications.

Orlando J. Rojas is a professor and Canada Excellence Research Chair at the University of British Columbia, with joint appointments with the Departments of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Wood Science, and Chemistry. He is adjunct professor in the Departments of Bioproducts and Biosystems of Aalto University and Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering of North Carolina State University. Dr. Rojas is the recipient of the 2018 Anselme Payen Award in the area of Cellulose and Renewable Materials. He is elected Fellow of the American Chemical Society and the Finnish Academy of Science and Letters. He received the 2015 Tappi Nanotechnology Award and 2013 Faculty Scholar of North Carolina State University. Dr. Rojas is Associate Editor of the ACS journal Biomacromolecules. His recent research grants include the prestigious ERC-Advanced from the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme. He is the scientific director of UBC's Bioproducts Institute and research PI of the Finnish Materials Bioeconomy Flagship (FinnCERES), part of the Boreal Alliance initiative.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review project was supported by different programs across five countries, including the China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (2021M700734); the Natural Science Foundation of Heilongjiang Province (YQ2021C008 and YQ2021C009); the Fundamental Research Funds for Central Universities (No. 2572021BB04); the Canada Excellence Research Chair Program (CERC-2018-00006); the Canada Foundation for Innovation (Project No. 38623); the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program (ERC Advanced Grant Agreement 788489, "BioElCell" in Finland) and the Costa Rica interuniversity doctoral program (DOCINADE) for Natural Sciences for Development.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA = Acrylic acidAPS = Ammonium persulfate BMSCs = Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells ChNC = Chitin nanocrystal ChNF = Chitin nanofiber CNC = Cellulose nanocrystal CNF = Cellulose nanofibril Cryo-TEM = Cryogenic transmission electron microscope Cryo-SEM = Cryogenic scanning electron microscope DA = Degree of acetylation DDA = Degree of deacetylation DFT = Density function theory DM = Demineralization DP = Deproteinization EDC = N-(3-(Dimethylamino)propyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride EDL = Electric double layer EISA = Evaporation-induced self-assembly GIT = Gastrointestinal tract H-bonding = Hydrogen bonding HIPPE = High-internal-phase Pickering emulsion INPC = Interfacial nanoparticle complexation LC = Liquid crystal LCP = Liquid crystalline phase LNP = Lignin nanoparticles MD = Molecular dynamic O/W = Oil-in-waterPD-ChNF = Partially deacetylated ChNF PEG = Poly(ethylene glycol) PET = Poly(ethylene terephthalate) POM = Polarized optical microscopy RI = Refractive index SAXS = Small-angle X-ray scattering TEMPO = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl radical TEMPO-ChNF = TEMPO-oxidized ChNF TEMPO-CNF = TEMPO-oxidized CNF $VO_2 = Vanadium dioxide$ vdW = van der Waals W/O = Water-in-oilZIB = Zinc ion battery

REFERENCES

(1) Geng, Y.; Sarkis, J.; Bleischwitz, R. How to Globalize the Circular Economy. *Nature* 2019, 565, 153–155.

(2) Muscat, A.; de Olde, E. M.; Ripoll-Bosch, R.; Van Zanten, H. H.; Metze, T. A.; Termeer, C. J.; van Ittersum, M. K.; de Boer, I. J. Principles, Drivers and Opportunities of a Circular Bioeconomy. *Nat. Food* **2021**, *2*, 561–566.

(3) Sunagawa, S.; Acinas, S. G.; Bork, P.; Bowler, C.; Eveillard, D.; Gorsky, G.; Guidi, L.; Iudicone, D.; Karsenti, E.; Lombard, F.; et al.

Review

Tara Oceans: Towards Global Ocean Ecosystems Biology. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2020, 18, 428–445.

(4) Manohara, H.; Nayak, S. S.; Franklin, G.; Nataraj, S. K.; Mondal, D. Progress in Marine Derived Renewable Functional Materials and Biochar for Sustainable Water Purification. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 8305–8331.

(5) Visbeck, M. Ocean Science Research Is Key for a Sustainable Future. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 690.

(6) Zhou, Z.-F.; Menna, M.; Cai, Y.-S.; Guo, Y.-W. Polyacetylenes of Marine Origin: Chemistry and Bioactivity. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, 115, 1543–1596.

(7) Golden, C. D.; Koehn, J. Z.; Shepon, A.; Passarelli, S.; Free, C. M.; Viana, D. F.; Matthey, H.; Eurich, J. G.; Gephart, J. A.; Fluet-Chouinard, E.; et al. Aquatic Foods to Nourish Nations. *Nature* **2021**, 598, 315–320.

(8) Kerton, F. M.; Liu, Y.; Omari, K. W.; Hawboldt, K. Green Chemistry and the Ocean-Based Biorefinery. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15*, 860–871.

(9) Rinaudo, M. Chitin and Chitosan: Properties and Applications. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2006, 31, 603–632.

(10) Yan, N.; Chen, X. Don't Waste Seafood Waste. *Nature* 2015, *524*, 155–157.

(11) Hungria, D. B.; dos Santos Tavares, C. P.; Pereira, L. Â.; da Silva, U. d. A. T.; Ostrensky, A. Global Status of Production and Commercialization of Soft-Shell Crabs. *Aquacult. Int.* **2017**, *25*, 2213–2226.

(12) Ravi Kumar, M. N.V A Review of Chitin and Chitosan Applications. *React. Funct. Polym.* 2000, 46, 1–27.

(13) Bartlett, D. H.; Azam, F. Chitin, Cholera, and Competence. *Science* **2005**, *310*, 1775–1777.

(14) Anitha, A.; Sowmya, S.; Kumar, P. S.; Deepthi, S.; Chennazhi, K.; Ehrlich, H.; Tsurkan, M.; Jayakumar, R. Chitin and Chitosan in Selected Biomedical Applications. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2014**, *39*, 1644–1667.

(15) Kurita, K. Controlled Functionalization of the Polysaccharide Chitin. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2001, *26*, 1921–1971.

(16) Casadidio, C.; Peregrina, D. V.; Gigliobianco, M. R.; Deng, S.; Censi, R.; Di Martino, P. Chitin and Chitosans: Characteristics, Eco-Friendly Processes, and Applications in Cosmetic Science. *Mar. Drugs* **2019**, *17*, 369.

(17) Zhou, Y.; Jiang, S.; Jiao, Y.; Wang, H. Synergistic Effects of Nanochitin on Inhibition of Tobacco Root Rot Disease. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **201**7, *99*, 205–212.

(18) Duan, B.; Huang, Y.; Lu, A.; Zhang, L. Recent Advances in Chitin Based Materials Constructed via Physical Methods. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2018**, *82*, 1–33.

(19) Ling, S.; Chen, W.; Fan, Y.; Zheng, K.; Jin, K.; Yu, H.; Buehler, M. J.; Kaplan, D. L. Biopolymer Nanofibrils: Structure, Modeling, Preparation, and Applications. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2018**, *85*, 1–56.

(20) Sashiwa, H.; Aiba, S.-i. Chemically Modified Chitin and Chitosan as Biomaterials. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2004, *29*, 887–908.

(21) Philibert, T.; Lee, B. H.; Fabien, N. Current Status and New Perspectives on Chitin and Chitosan as Functional Biopolymers. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *181*, 1314–1337.

(22) Ling, S.; Kaplan, D. L.; Buehler, M. J. Nanofibrils in Nature and Materials Engineering. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2018**, *3*, 18016.

(23) Ma, X.; Gözaydın, G.; Yang, H.; Ning, W.; Han, X.; Poon, N. Y.; Liang, H.; Yan, N.; Zhou, K. Upcycling Chitin-Containing Waste into Organonitrogen Chemicals via an Integrated Process. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2020**, *117*, 7719–7728.

(24) Marchessault, R. H.; Morehead, F. F.; Walter, N. M. Liquid Crystal Systems from Fibrillar Polysaccharides. *Nature* **1959**, *184*, 632–633.

(25) Paillet, M.; Dufresne, A. Chitin Whisker Reinforced Thermoplastic Nanocomposites. *Macromolecules* **2001**, *34*, 6527–6530.

(26) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Zhao, B.; Zhu, Y.; Esquena, J.; Chen, F.; Gao, G.; Zussman, E.; Chu, G.; Rojas, O. J. All-Aqueous Liquid Crystal Nanocellulose Emulsions with Permeable Interfacial Assembly. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 13380–13390.

(27) Habibi, Y.; Lucia, L. A.; Rojas, O. J. Cellulose Nanocrystals: Chemistry, Self-Assembly, and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110*, 3479–3500.

(28) Li, T.; Chen, C.; Brozena, A. H.; Zhu, J.; Xu, L.; Driemeier, C.; Dai, J.; Rojas, O. J.; Isogai, A.; Wågberg, L.; et al. Developing Fibrillated Cellulose as a Sustainable Technological Material. *Nature* **2021**, 590, 47–56.

(29) Minke, R.; Blackwell, J. The Structure of *α*-Chitin. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1978**, 120, 167–181.

(30) Shamshina, J. L.; Berton, P.; Rogers, R. D. Advances in Functional Chitin Materials: A Review. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 6444–6457.

(31) Moussian, B. Chitin: Structure, chemistry and biology. In *Targeting Chitin-containing Organisms*; Springer: 2019; p 5–18.

(32) Yan, N.; Chen, X. Sustainability: Don't Waste Seafood Waste. *Nature* **2015**, 524, 155–157.

(33) Richards, A. G.; Richards, P. A. The Cuticular Protuberances of Insects. Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. **1979**, *8*, 143–157.

(34) Hoy, R. R.; Robert, D. Tympanal Hearing in Insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* **1996**, *41*, 433–450.

(35) Watson, G. S.; Cribb, B. W.; Watson, J. A. How Micro/ Nanoarchitecture Facilitates Anti-Wetting: An Elegant Hierarchical Design on the Termite Wing. *ACS Nano* **2010**, *4*, 129–136.

(36) Siddique, R. H.; Gomard, G.; Hölscher, H. The Role of Random Nanostructures for the Omnidirectional Anti-Reflection Properties of the Glasswing Butterfly. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 6909.

(37) Miserez, A.; Schneberk, T.; Sun, C.; Zok, F. W.; Waite, J. H. The Transition from Stiff to Compliant Materials in Squid Beaks. *Science* **2008**, *319*, 1816–1819.

(38) Salvatierra, H. N.; Regner, E. L.; Baigorí, M. D.; Pera, L. M. Orchestration an Extracellular Lipase Production from Aspergillus Niger MYA 135: Biomass Morphology and Fungal Physiology. *AMB Expr.* **2021**, *11*, 42.

(39) Lachke, S. A.; Joly, S.; Daniels, K.; Soll, D. R. Phenotypic Switching and Filamentation in Candida Glabrata. *Microbiology* **2002**, *148*, 2661–2674.

(40) Sun, J.; Bhushan, B. Hierarchical Structure and Mechanical Properties of Nacre: A Review. *Rsc Adv.* 2012, 2, 7617–7632.

(41) Espinosa, H. D.; Rim, J. E.; Barthelat, F.; Buehler, M. J. Merger of Structure and Material in Nacre and Bone-Perspectives on De Novo Biomimetic Materials. *Prog. Mater. Sci.* **2009**, *54*, 1059–1100.

(42) Bamba, Y.; Ogawa, Y.; Saito, T.; Berglund, L. A.; Isogai, A. Estimating the Strength of Single Chitin Nanofibrils via Sonication-Induced Fragmentation. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 4405–4410.

(43) Nishino, T.; Matsui, R.; Nakamae, K. Elastic Modulus of the Crystalline Regions of Chitin and Chitosan. J. Polym. Sci., Part B: Polym. Phys. **1999**, 37, 1191–1196.

(44) Nikolov, S.; Petrov, M.; Lymperakis, L.; Friák, M.; Sachs, C.; Fabritius, H. O.; Raabe, D.; Neugebauer, J. Revealing the Design Principles of High-Performance Biological Composites Using Ab Initio and Multiscale Simulations: The Example of Lobster Cuticle. *Adv. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 519–526.

(45) Fabritius, H. O.; Sachs, C.; Triguero, P. R.; Raabe, D. Influence of Structural Principles on the Mechanics of a Biological Fiber-Based Composite Material with Hierarchical Organization: The Exoskeleton of the Lobster Homarus Americanus. *Adv. Mater.* **2009**, *21*, 391–400.

(46) Grunenfelder, L. K.; Herrera, S.; Kisailus, D. Crustacean-Derived Biomimetic Components and Nanostructured Composites. *Small* **2014**, *10*, 3207–3232.

(47) Suksangpanya, N.; Yaraghi, N. A.; Kisailus, D.; Zavattieri, P. Twisting Cracks in Bouligand Structures. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 2017, 76, 38–57.

(48) Weaver, J. C.; Milliron, G. W.; Miserez, A.; Evans-Lutterodt, K.; Herrera, S.; Gallana, I.; Mershon, W. J.; Swanson, B.; Zavattieri, P.; DiMasi, E.; et al. The Stomatopod Dactyl Club: A Formidable Damage-Tolerant Biological Hammer. *Science* **2012**, *336*, 1275–1280. (49) Barthelat, F.; Yin, Z.; Buehler, M. J. Structure and Mechanics of Interfaces in Biological Materials. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2016**, *1*, 16007. (50) Malik, I. A.; Mirkhalaf, M.; Barthelat, F. Bio-Inspired "Jigsaw"-like Interlocking Sutures: Modeling, Optimization, 3D Printing and Testing. J. Mech. Phys. Solids 2017, 102, 224–238.

(51) Malik, I. A.; Barthelat, F. Bioinspired Sutured Materials for Strength and Toughness: Pullout Mechanisms and Geometric Enrichments. *Int. J. Solids Struct.* **2018**, *138*, 118–133.

(52) Mirkhalaf, M.; Tanguay, J.; Barthelat, F. Carving 3D Architectures within Glass: Exploring New Strategies to Transform the Mechanics and Performance of Materials. *Extreme Mech. Lett.* **2016**, *7*, 104–113.

(53) Rivera, J.; Hosseini, M. S.; Restrepo, D.; Murata, S.; Vasile, D.; Parkinson, D. Y.; Barnard, H. S.; Arakaki, A.; Zavattieri, P.; Kisailus, D. Toughening Mechanisms of the Elytra of the Diabolical Ironclad Beetle. *Nature* **2020**, *586*, 543–548.

(54) Raabe, D.; Sachs, C.; Romano, P. The Crustacean Exoskeleton as an Example of a Structurally and Mechanically Graded Biological Nanocomposite Material. *Acta Mater.* **2005**, *53*, 4281–4292.

(55) Checa, A. G.; Cartwright, J. H.; Sánchez-Almazo, I.; Andrade, J. P.; Ruiz-Raya, F. The Cuttlefish Sepia Officinalis (Sepiidae, Cephalopoda) Constructs Cuttlebone from a Liquid-Crystal Precursor. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 11513.

(56) Wang, B.; Yang, W.; Sherman, V. R.; Meyers, M. A. Pangolin Armor: Overlapping, Structure, and Mechanical Properties of the Keratinous Scales. *Acta Biomater.* **2016**, *41*, 60–74.

(57) Zhu, D.; Szewciw, L.; Vernerey, F.; Barthelat, F. Puncture Resistance of the Scaled Skin from Striped Bass: Collective Mechanisms and Inspiration for New Flexible Armor Designs. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 2013, 24, 30–40.

(58) Mirkhalaf, M.; Dastjerdi, A. K.; Barthelat, F. Overcoming the Brittleness of Glass through Bio-Inspiration and Micro-Architecture. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 3166.

(59) Jahn, J.; Weeber, M.; Boehner, J.; Steinhilper, R. Assessment Strategies for Composite-Metal Joining Technologies-A Review. *Procedia CIRP* **2016**, *50*, 689–694.

(60) Tardy, B. L.; Mattos, B. D.; Otoni, C. G.; Beaumont, M.; Majoinen, J.; Kamarainen, T.; Rojas, O. J. Deconstruction and Reassembly of Renewable Polymers and Biocolloids into Next Generation Structured Materials. *Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *121*, 14088– 14188.

(61) Vukusic, P.; Sambles, J.; Lawrence, C. Colour Mixing in Wing Scales of a Butterfly. *Nature* **2000**, *404*, 457–457.

(62) Ren, J.; Wang, Y.; Yao, Y.; Wang, Y.; Fei, X.; Qi, P.; Lin, S.; Kaplan, D. L.; Buehler, M. J.; Ling, S. Biological Material Interfaces as Inspiration for Mechanical and Optical Material Designs. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 12279–12336.

(63) Sharma, V.; Crne, M.; Park, J. O.; Srinivasarao, M. Structural Origin of Circularly Polarized Iridescence in Jeweled Beetles. *Science* **2009**, 325, 449–451.

(64) Arwin, H.; Magnusson, R.; Landin, J.; Järrendahl, K. Chirality-Induced Polarization Effects in the Cuticle of Scarab Beetles: 100 Years After Michelson. *Philos. Mag.* **2012**, *92*, 1583–1599.

(65) Srinivasarao, M. Nano-Optics in the Biological World: Beetles, Butterflies, Birds, and Moths. *Chem. Rev.* **1999**, *99*, 1935–1962.

(66) McNamara, M. E.; Briggs, D. E.; Orr, P. J.; Noh, H.; Cao, H. The Original Colours of Fossil Beetles. *Proc. R. Soc. B* **2012**, *279*, 1114–1121.

(67) Frka-Petesic, B.; Kamita, G.; Guidetti, G.; Vignolini, S. Angular Optical Response of Cellulose Nanocrystal Films Explained by the Distortion of the Arrested Suspension upon Drying. *Phys. Rev. Mater.* **2019**, *3*, 045601.

(68) Wang, H.; Zhang, K.-Q. Photonic Crystal Structures with Tunable Structure Color as Colorimetric Sensors. *Sensors* **2013**, *13*, 4192–4213.

(69) Gagnon, Y. L.; Templin, R. M.; How, M. J.; Marshall, N. J. Circularly Polarized Light as a Communication Signal in Mantis Shrimps. *Curr. Biol.* **2015**, *25*, 3074–3078.

(70) Tardy, B. L.; Mattos, B. D.; Greca, L. G.; Kämäräinen, T.; Klockars, K. W.; Rojas, O. J. Tessellation of Chiral-Nematic Cellulose Nanocrystal Films by Microtemplating. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2019, 29, 1808518.

(71) Parker, A. R.; Mckenzie, D. R.; Large, M. C. Multilayer Reflectors in Animals Using Green and Gold Beetles as Contrasting Examples. *J. Exp. Biol.* **1998**, *201*, 1307–1313.

(72) Wilts, B. D.; Sheng, X.; Holler, M.; Diaz, A.; Guizar-Sicairos, M.; Raabe, J.; Hoppe, R.; Liu, S. H.; Langford, R.; Onelli, O. D.; et al. Evolutionary-Optimized Photonic Network Structure in White Beetle Wing Scales. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1702057.

(73) Goldstein, D. H. Polarization Properties of Scarabaeidae. *Appl. Opt.* **2006**, *45*, 7944–7950.

(74) Lenau, T.; Barfoed, M. Colours and Metallic Sheen in Beetle Shells-A Biomimetic Search for Material Structuring Principles Causing Light Interference. *Adv. Eng. Mater.* **2008**, *10*, 299–314.

(75) Rizzo, N.; Gardner, K.; Walls, D. e. a.; Keiper-Hrynko, N.; Ganzke, T.; Hallahan, D. Characterization of the Structure and Composition of Gecko Adhesive Setae. *J. R. Soc., Interface* **2006**, *3*, 441–451.

(76) Arzt, E.; Gorb, S.; Spolenak, R. From Micro to Nano Contacts in Biological Attachment Devices. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2003**, *100*, 10603–10606.

(77) Peisker, H.; Michels, J.; Gorb, S. N. Evidence for a Material Gradient in the Adhesive Tarsal Setae of the Ladybird Beetle Coccinella Septempunctata. *Nat. Commun.* **2013**, *4*, 1661.

(78) Büscher, T. H.; Buckley, T. R.; Grohmann, C.; Gorb, S. N.; Bradler, S. The Evolution of Tarsal Adhesive Microstructures in Stick and Leaf Insects (Phasmatodea). *Front. Ecol. Evol.* **2018**, *6*, 69.

(79) Song, Y.; Dai, Z.; Wang, Z.; Ji, A.; Gorb, S. N. The Synergy between the Insect-Inspired Claws and Adhesive Pads Increases the Attachment Ability on Various Rough Surfaces. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 26219.

(80) Amador, G. J.; Matherne, M.; Waller, D. A.; Mathews, M.; Gorb, S. N.; Hu, D. L. Honey Bee Hairs and Pollenkitt are Essential for Pollen Capture and Removal. *Bioinspiration Biomimetics* **2017**, *12*, 026015.

(81) Aldred, N.; Chan, V. B. S.; Emami, K.; Okano, K.; Clare, A. S.; Mount, A. S. Chitin is a Functional Component of the Larval Adhesive of Barnacles. *Commun. Biol.* **2020**, *3*, 31.

(82) Schroeder, T. B.; Houghtaling, J.; Wilts, B. D.; Mayer, M. It's Not a Bug, it's a Feature: Functional Materials in Insects. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1705322.

(83) Mason, A. C.; Pollack, G. S. Introduction to Insect Acoustics. In *Insect Hearing*; Springer: 2016; p 1–15.

(84) Battisti, A.; Holm, G.; Fagrell, B.; Larsson, S. Urticating Hairs in Arthropods: Their Nature and Medical Significance. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* **2011**, *56*, 203–220.

(85) Brackenbury, J. Locomotion Through Use of the Mouth Brushes in the Larva of Culex Pipiens (Diptera: Culicidae). *Proc. Royal Soc. B* 2001, 268, 101–106.

(86) Huber, J.; Noyes, J. A New Genus and Species of Fairyfly, Tinkerbella Nana (Hymenoptera, Mymaridae), with Comments on Its Sister Genus Kikiki, and Discussion on Small Size Limits in Arthropods. J. Hymenopt. Res. **2013**, *32*, 17–44.

(87) Ewing, A. W. The Antenna of Drosophila as a 'Love Song' Receptor. *Physiol. Entomol.* **1978**, *3*, 33–36.

(88) Clark, A. Beyond the Flesh: Some Lessons from a Mole Cricket. Artif. life 2005, 11, 233-244.

(89) Zhao, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhu, K. Y. Chito-Protein Matrices in Arthropod Exoskeletons and Peritrophic Matrices. In *Extracellular Sugar-Based Biopolymers Matrices*; Springer: 2019; p 3–56.

(90) Merzendorfer, H. Insect Chitin Synthases: A Review. J. Comp. Physiol., B 2006, 176, 1–15.

(91) Zhu, K. Y.; Merzendorfer, H.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, J.; Muthukrishnan, S. Biosynthesis, Turnover, and Functions of Chitin in Insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* **2016**, *61*, 177–196.

(92) Liu, X.; Cooper, A. M.; Zhang, J.; Zhu, K. Y. Biosynthesis, Modifications and Degradation of Chitin in the Formation and Turnover of Peritrophic Matrix in Insects. J. Insect Physiol. 2019, 114, 109–115.

(93) Imai, T.; Watanabe, T.; Yui, T.; Sugiyama, J. The Directionality of Chitin Biosynthesis: A Revisit. *Biochem. J.* **2003**, *374*, 755–760.

(94) Gohlke, S.; Muthukrishnan, S.; Merzendorfer, H. In Vitro and in Vivo Studies on the Structural Organization of Chs3 from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2017**, *18*, 702.

(95) Muthukrishnan, S.; Merzendorfer, H.; Arakane, Y.; Kramer, K. J. Chitin Metabolism in Insects. In *Insect Molecular Biology and Biochemistry*; Elsevier: 2012; p 193–235.

(96) Demolliens, A.; Boucher, C.; Durocher, Y.; Jolicoeur, M.; Buschmann, M. D.; De Crescenzo, G. Tyrosinase-Catalyzed Synthesis of a Universal Coil-Chitosan Bioconjugate for Protein Immobilization. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 1849–1854.

(97) Vincent, J. F. If it's Tanned It Must Be Dry: A Critique. J. Adhes. 2009, 85, 755-769.

(98) Lomakin, J.; Huber, P. A.; Eichler, C.; Arakane, Y.; Kramer, K. J.; Beeman, R. W.; Kanost, M. R.; Gehrke, S. H. Mechanical Properties of the Beetle Elytron, a Biological Composite Material. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 321–335.

(99) Andersen, S. O. Insect Cuticular Sclerotization: A Review. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2010**, 40, 166–178.

(100) Schofield, R. M.; Nesson, M. H.; Richardson, K. A. Tooth Hardness Increases with Zinc-Content in Mandibles of Young Adult Leaf-Cutter Ants. *Naturwissenschaften* **2002**, *89*, 579–583.

(101) Quicke, D. L.; Wyeth, P.; Fawke, J. D.; Basibuyuk, H. H.; Vincent, J. F. Manganese and Zinc in the Ovipositors and Mandibles of Hymenopterous Insects. *J. Linn. Soc. London, Zool.* **1998**, *124*, 387–396.

(102) Vincent, J. F.; Wegst, U. G. Design and Mechanical Properties of Insect Cuticle. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* **2004**, 33, 187–199.

(103) Reynolds, S. E. The Mechanical Properties of the Abdominal Cuticle of Rhodnius Larvae. J. Exp. Biol. **1975**, 62, 69–80.

(104) Bolognesi, R.; Arakane, Y.; Muthukrishnan, S.; Kramer, K. J.; Terra, W. R.; Ferreira, C. Sequences of cDNAs and Expression of Genes Encoding Chitin Synthase and Chitinase in the Midgut of Spodoptera Frugiperda. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2005**, *35*, 1249– 1259.

(105) Arakane, Y.; Muthukrishnan, S. Insect Chitinase and Chitinase-like Proteins. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **2010**, *67*, 201–216.

(106) Filho, B. P. D.; Lemos, F. J. A.; Secundino, N. F. C.; Pascoa, V.; Pereira, S. T.; Pimenta, P. F. P. Presence of Chitinase and Beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase in the Aedes Aegypti: A Chitinolytic System Involving Peritrophic Matrix Formation and Degradation. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2002**, *32*, 1723–1729.

(107) Kim, S.-K. Chitin, Chitosan, Oligosaccharides and Their Derivatives: Biological Activities and Applications; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2010; p 295–304.

(108) Tang, L.; Liang, J.; Zhan, Z.; Xiang, Z.; He, N. Identification of the Chitin-Binding Proteins from the Larval Proteins of Silkworm, Bombyx Mori. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2010**, *40*, 228–234.

(109) Kramer, K. J.; Corpuz, L.; Choi, H. K.; Muthukrishnan, S. Sequence of a cDNA and Expression of the Gene Encoding Epidermal and Gut Chitinases of Manduca Sexta. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **1993**, 23, 691–701.

(110) Campbell, P. M.; Cao, A. T.; Hines, E. R.; East, P. D.; Gordon, K. H. Proteomic Analysis of the Peritrophic Matrix from the Gut of the Caterpillar, Helicoverpa Armigera. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2008**, 38, 950–958.

(111) Dixit, R.; Arakane, Y.; Specht, C. A.; Richard, C.; Kramer, K. J.; Beeman, R. W.; Muthukrishnan, S. Domain Organization and Phylogenetic Analysis of Proteins from the Chitin Deacetylase Gene Family of Tribolium Castaneum and Three Other Species of Insects. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2008**, *38*, 440–451.

(112) Zhu, Q.; Arakane, Y.; Beeman, R. W.; Kramer, K. J.; Muthukrishnan, S. Functional Specialization Among Insect Chitinase Family Genes Revealed by RNA Interference. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2008**, *105*, 6650–6655.

(113) Muthukrishnan, S.; Merzendorfer, H.; Arakane, Y.; Yang, Q. Chitin Organizing and Modifying Enzymes and Proteins Involved in Remodeling of the Insect Cuticle. In *Targeting Chitin-containing* Organisms; Springer: 2019; p 83-114.

(114) Chaudhari, S. S.; Arakane, Y.; Specht, C. A.; Moussian, B.; Boyle, D. L.; Park, Y.; Kramer, K. J.; Beeman, R. W.; Muthukrishnan, S. Knickkopf Protein Protects and Organizes Chitin in the Newly Synthesized Insect Exoskeleton. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2011, 108, 17028–17033.

(115) Moussian, B.; Seifarth, C.; Müller, U.; Berger, J.; Schwarz, H. Cuticle Differentiation During Drosophila Embryogenesis. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* **2006**, *35*, 137–152.

(116) Moussian, B. Recent Advances in Understanding Mechanisms of Insect Cuticle Differentiation. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2010, 40, 363–375.

(117) Giraud-Guille, M.-M.; Chanzy, H.; Vuong, R. Chitin Crystals in Arthropod Cuticles Revealed by Diffraction Contrast Transmission Electron Microscopy. J. Struct. Biol. **1990**, 103, 232–240.

(118) Neville, A.; Parry, D.; Woodhead-Galloway, J. The Chitin Crystallite in Arthropod Cuticle. *J. Cell Sci.* **1976**, *21*, 73–82.

(119) Mrak, P.; Bogataj, U.; Štrus, J.; Žnidaršič, N. Cuticle Morphogenesis in Crustacean Embryonic and Postembryonic Stages. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* **2017**, *46*, 77–95.

(120) Muzzarelli, R. A. Chitin Nanostructures in Living Organisms. In *Chitin*; Springer: 2011; p 1–34.

(121) Roer, R. D.; Dillaman, R. M. The Initiation and Early Stages of Postmolt Mineralization in the Blue Crab, Callinectes sapidus. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **2018**, *5*, 151.

(122) Rao, A.; Roncal-Herrero, T.; Schmid, E.; Drechsler, M.; Scheffner, M.; Gebauer, D.; Kröger, R.; Cölfen, H. On Biomineralization: Enzymes Switch on Mesocrystal Assembly. *ACS Cent. Sci.* **2019**, *5*, 357–364.

(123) Marxen, J. C.; Becker, W.; Finke, D.; Hasse, B.; Epple, M. Early Mineralization in Biomphalaria Glabrata: Microscopic and Structural Results. *J. Molluscan Stud.* **2003**, *69*, 113–121.

(124) Politi, Y.; Arad, T.; Klein, E.; Weiner, S.; Addadi, L. Sea Urchin Spine Calcite Forms via a Transient Amorphous Calcium Carbonate Phase. *Science* **2004**, *306*, 1161–1164.

(125) Susana Cortizo, M.; Berghoff, C. F.; Alessandrini, J. L. Characterization of Chitin from Lllex Argentinus Squid Pen. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2008, 74, 10–15.

(126) Freitas, F.; Roca, C.; Reis, M. Fungi as Sources of Polysaccharides for Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Applications. *Handbook of Polymers for Pharmaceutical Technologies* **2015**, *3*, 61–103.

(127) Orlean, P. Architecture and Biosynthesis of the Saccharomyces Cerevisiae Cell Wall. *Genetics* **2012**, *192*, 775–818.

(128) Merzendorfer, H. The Cellular Basis of Chitin Synthesis in Fungi and Insects: Common Principles and Differences. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **2011**, *90*, 759–769.

(129) Stalhberger, T.; Simenel, C.; Clavaud, C.; Eijsink, V. G.; Jourdain, R.; Delepierre, M.; Latgé, J.-P.; Breton, L.; Fontaine, T. Chemical Organization of the Cell Wall Polysaccharide Core of Malassezia Restricta. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, *289*, 12647–12656.

(130) Araújo, D.; Ferreira, I. C.; Torres, C. A.; Neves, L.; Freitas, F. Chitinous Polymers: Extraction from Fungal Sources, Characterization and Processing Towards Value-Added Applications. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **2020**, *95*, 1277–1289.

(131) Bracker, C. E.; Ruiz-Herrera, J.; Bartnicki-Garcia, S. Structure and Transformation of Chitin Synthetase Particles (Chitosomes) during Microfibril Synthesis in Vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1976**, 73, 4570–4574.

(132) Mouriño-Pérez, R. R.; Riquelme, M. Recent Advances in Septum Biogenesis in Neurospora Crassa. In *Advances in Genetics*; Elsevier: 2013; Vol. 83, p 99–134.

(133) Bartnicki-Garcia, S. Chitosomes: Past, Present and Future. *FEMS Yeast Res.* **2006**, *6*, 957–965.

(134) Merzendorfer, H.; Zimoch, L. Chitin Metabolism in Insects: Structure, Function and Regulation of Chitin Synthases and Chitinases. J. Exp. Biol. 2003, 206, 4393–4412.

(135) Nawawi, W. M.; Jones, M.; Murphy, R. J.; Lee, K.-Y.; Kontturi, E.; Bismarck, A. Nanomaterials Derived from Fungal Sources-Is It the New Hype? *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 30–55.

(136) Jones, M.; Weiland, K.; Kujundzic, M.; Theiner, J.; Kählig, H.; Kontturi, E.; John, S.; Bismarck, A.; Mautner, A. Waste-Derived Low-Cost Mycelium Nanopapers with Tunable Mechanical and Surface Properties. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 3513–3523.

(137) Veronico, P.; Gray, L.; Jones, J.; Bazzicalupo, P.; Arbucci, S.; Cortese, M.; Di Vito, M.; De Giorgi, C. Nematode Chitin Synthases: Gene Structure, Expression and Function in Caenorhabditis Elegans and the Plant Parasitic Nematode Meloidogyne Artiellia. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* **2001**, *266*, 28–34.

(138) Mulisch, M.; Hausmann, K. Localization of Chitin on Ultrathin Sections of Cysts of Two Ciliated Protozoa, Blepharisma Undulans and Pseudomicrothorax Dubius, Using Colloidal Gold Conjugated Wheat Germ Agglutinin. *Protoplasma* **1989**, *152*, 77–86.

(139) Roncero, C.; Sánchez, Y. Cell Separation and the Maintenance of Cell Integrity During Cytokinesis in Yeast: The Assembly of a Septum. *Yeast* **2010**, *27*, 521–530.

(140) Jang, M. K.; Kong, B. G.; Jeong, Y. I.; Lee, C. H.; Nah, J. W. Physicochemical Characterization of α -Chitin, β -Chitin, and γ -Chitin Separated from Natural Resources. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2004**, *42*, 3423–3432.

(141) Ogawa, Y.; Hori, R.; Kim, U.-J.; Wada, M. Elastic Modulus in the Crystalline Region and the Thermal Expansion Coefficients of α -Chitin Determined Using Synchrotron Radiated X-Ray Diffraction. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2011**, *83*, 1213–1217.

(142) Neville, A. C. Biology of Fibrous Composites: Development Beyond the Cell Membrane; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 1993; p 1–85.

(143) Blackwell, J.; Weih, M. Structure of Chitin-Protein Complexes: Ovipositor of the Ichneumon Fly Megarhyssa. J. Mol. Biol. **1980**, 137, 49–60.

(144) Kurita, K.; Tomita, K.; Tada, T.; Ishii, S.; Nishimura, S. I.; Shimoda, K. Squid Chitin as a Potential Alternative Chitin Source: Deacetylation Behavior and Characteristic Properties. *J. Polym. Sci.*, *Part A: Polym. Chem.* **1993**, *31*, 485–491.

(145) Ogawa, Y.; Kobayashi, K.; Kimura, S.; Nishiyama, Y.; Wada, M.; Kuga, S. X-Ray Texture Analysis Indicates Downward Spinning of Chitin Microfibrils in Tubeworm Tube. *J. Struct. Biol.* **2013**, *184*, 212–216.

(146) Ogawa, Y.; Kimura, S.; Wada, M. Electron Diffraction and High-Resolution Imaging on Highly-Crystalline β -Chitin Microfibril. *J. Struct. Biol.* **2011**, *176*, 83–90.

(147) Miserez, A.; Rubin, D.; Waite, J. H. Cross-Linking Chemistry of Squid Beak. J. Biol. Chem. 2010, 285, 38115–38124.

(148) Saito, Y.; Putaux, J.; Okano, T.; Gaill, F.; Chanzy, H. Structural Aspects of the Swelling of β Chitin in HCl and Its Conversion into α Chitin. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 3867–3873.

(149) Noishiki, Y.; Takami, H.; Nishiyama, Y.; Wada, M.; Okada, S.; Kuga, S. Alkali-Induced Conversion of β -Chitin to α -Chitin. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 896–899.

(150) Rudall, K. The Chitin/Protein Complexes of Insect Cuticles. In Advances in Insect Physiology; Elsevier: 1963; Vol. 1, p 257-313.

(151) Kaya, M.; Mujtaba, M.; Ehrlich, H.; Salaberria, A. M.; Baran, T.; Amemiya, C. T.; Galli, R.; Akyuz, L.; Sargin, I.; Labidi, J. On Chemistry of γ -Chitin. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *176*, 177–186.

(152) Pillai, C.; Paul, W.; Sharma, C. P. Chitin and Chitosan Polymers: Chemistry, Solubility and Fiber Formation. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2009**, *34*, 641–678.

(153) Yi, H.; Wu, L.-Q.; Bentley, W. E.; Ghodssi, R.; Rubloff, G. W.; Culver, J. N.; Payne, G. F. Biofabrication with Chitosan. *Biomacromolecules* **2005**, *6*, 2881–2894.

(154) Kienzle-Sterzer, C.; Rodriguez-Sanchez, D.; Rha, C. Dilute Solution Behavior of a Cationic Polyelectrolyte. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **1982**, 27, 4467–4470.

(155) Weimarn, P. V. Conversion of Fibroin, Chitin, Casein, and Similar Substances into the Ropy-Plastic State and Colloidal Solution. *Ind. Eng. Chem.* **1927**, *19*, 109–110.

(156) Hongu, T.; Phillips, G. O. New Fibers, 2nd ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1997; p 94–121.

(157) Chen, B.; Sun, K.; Zhang, K. Rheological Properties of Chitin/ Lithium Chloride, N, N-dimethyl Acetamide Solutions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2004**, *58*, 65–69.

(158) Chang, J. S.; Chang, K. L. B.; Tsai, M. L. Liquid-Crystalline Behavior of Chitosan in Malic Acid. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 105, 2670–2675.

(159) Jeong, S.-Y.; Ma, Y.-D. Thermotropic Liquid Crystalline Properties of (8-Cholesteryloxycarbonyl) Heptanoated Polysaccharides. *Polymer (Korea)* **2006**, *30*, 338–349.

(160) Thevarajah, J. J.; Van Leeuwen, M. P.; Cottet, H.; Castignolles, P.; Gaborieau, M. Determination of the Distributions of Degrees of Acetylation of Chitosan. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2017**, *95*, 40–48.

(161) Ifuku, S.; Saimoto, H. Chitin Nanofibers: Preparations, Modifications, and Applications. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4*, 3308–3318.

(162) Carvalho, L. C.; Queda, F.; Santos, C. V. A.; Marques, M. M. B. Selective Modification of Chitin and Chitosan: En Route to Tailored Oligosaccharides. *Chem. - Asian J.* **2016**, *11*, 3468–3481.

(163) Gopalan Nair, K.; Dufresne, A.; Gandini, A.; Belgacem, M. N. Crab Shell Chitin Whiskers Reinforced Natural Rubber Nanocomposites. 3. Effect of Chemical Modification of Chitin Whiskers. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 1835–1842.

(164) Anastopoulos, I.; Bhatnagar, A.; Bikiaris, D. N.; Kyzas, G. Z. Chitin Adsorbents for Toxic Metals: A Review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2017, 18, 114.

(165) Percot, A.; Viton, C.; Domard, A. Optimization of Chitin Extraction from Shrimp Shells. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 12–18.

(166) Kikkawa, Y.; Tokuhisa, H.; Shingai, H.; Hiraishi, T.; Houjou, H.; Kanesato, M.; Imanaka, T.; Tanaka, T. Interaction Force of Chitin-Binding Domains onto Chitin Surface. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 2126–2131.

(167) Sietsma, J.; Wessels, J. Evidence for Covalent Linkages between Chitin and β -Glucan in a Fungal Wall. *Microbiology* **1979**, 114, 99–108.

(168) Janesch, J.; Jones, M.; Bacher, M.; Kontturi, E.; Bismarck, A.; Mautner, A. Mushroom-Derived Chitosan-Glucan Nanopaper Filters for the Treatment of Water. *React. Funct. Polym.* **2020**, *146*, 104428.

(169) Nawawi, W. M. F. W.; Lee, K.-Y.; Kontturi, E.; Bismarck, A.; Mautner, A. Surface Properties of Chitin-Glucan Nanopapers from Agaricus bisporus. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *148*, 677–687.

(170) Nawawi, W. M.; Jones, M. P.; Kontturi, E.; Mautner, A.; Bismarck, A. Plastic to Elastic: Fungi-Derived Composite Nanopapers with Tunable Tensile Properties. *Compos. Sci. Technol.* **2020**, *198*, 108327.

(171) Matica, M. A.; Aachmann, F. L.; Tøndervik, A.; Sletta, H.; Ostafe, V. Chitosan as a Wound Dressing Starting Material: Antimicrobial Properties and Mode of Action. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 5889.

(172) Li, J.; Zhuang, S. Antibacterial Activity of Chitosan and Its Derivatives and Their Interaction Mechanism with Bacteria: Current State and Perspectives. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2020**, *138*, 109984.

(173) Singh, R.; Shitiz, K.; Singh, A. Chitin and Chitosan: Biopolymers for Wound Management. Int. Wound J. 2017, 14, 1276–1289.

(174) Sahariah, P.; Masson, M. Antimicrobial Chitosan and Chitosan Derivatives: A Review of the Structure-Activity Relationship. *Biomacromolecules* **201**7, *18*, 3846–3868.

(175) Raafat, D.; Von Bargen, K.; Haas, A.; Sahl, H.-G. Insights into the Mode of Action of Chitosan as an Antibacterial Compound. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2008**, *74*, 3764–3773.

(176) Fu, X.; Shen, Y.; Jiang, X.; Huang, D.; Yan, Y. Chitosan Derivatives with Dual-Antibacterial Functional Groups for Antimicrobial Finishing of Cotton Fabrics. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2011**, *85*, 221–227.

(177) Schoukens, G. Advanced Textiles for Wound Care (Second ed.); Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2009; p 114–152. (178) Palma-Guerrero, J.; Lopez-Jimenez, J.; Pérez-Berná, A.; Huang, I. C.; Jansson, H. B.; Salinas, J.; Villalaín, J.; Read, N.; Lopez-Llorca, L. Membrane Fluidity Determines Sensitivity of Filamentous Fungi to Chitosan. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2010**, *75*, 1021–1032. (179) Galván Márquez, I.; Akuaku, J.; Cruz, I.; Cheetham, J.; Golshani, A.; Smith, M. L. Disruption of Protein Synthesis as Antifungal Mode of Action by Chitosan. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **2013**,

164, 108–112. (180) Zhang, Y.; Li, Y.; Ma, J.; Wang, X.; Yuan, Z.; Wang, W. Convenient Preparation of Charge-Adaptive Chitosan Nanomedicines for Extended Blood Circulation and Accelerated Endosomal Escape. *Nano Res.* **2018**, *11*, 4278–4292.

(181) Xing, K.; Zhu, X.; Peng, X.; Qin, S. Chitosan Antimicrobial and Eliciting Properties for Pest Control in Agriculture: A Review. *Agron. Sustainable Dev.* **2015**, *35*, 569–588.

(182) Chandrasekaran, M.; Kim, K. D.; Chun, S. C. Antibacterial Activity of Chitosan Nanoparticles: A Review. *Processes* **2020**, *8*, 1173.

(183) Dash, M.; Chiellini, F.; Ottenbrite, R. M.; Chiellini, E. Chitosan-A Versatile Semi-Synthetic Polymer in Biomedical Applications. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2011**, *36*, 981–1014.

(184) Liu, H.; Wang, C.; Li, C.; Qin, Y.; Wang, Z.; Yang, F.; Li, Z.; Wang, J. A Functional Chitosan-Based Hydrogel as a Wound Dressing and Drug Delivery System in the Treatment of Wound Healing. *Rsc Adv.* **2018**, *8*, 7533–7549.

(185) Chen, F.; Li, X.; Mo, X.; He, C.; Wang, H.; Ikada, Y. Electrospun Chitosan-P(LLA-CL) Nanofibers for Biomimetic Extracellular Matrix. *J. Biomater. Sci., Polym. Ed.* **2008**, *19*, 677–691.

(186) Kosaka, T.; Kaneko, Y.; Nakada, Y.; Matsuura, M.; Tanaka, S. Effect of Chitosan Implantation on Activation of Canine Macrophages and Polymorphonuclear Cells after Surgical Stress. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* **1996**, *58*, 963–967.

(187) Howling, G. I.; Dettmar, P. W.; Goddard, P. A.; Hampson, F. C.; Dornish, M.; Wood, E. J. The Effect of Chitin and Chitosan on the Proliferation of Human Skin Fibroblasts and Keratinocytes in Vitro. *Biomaterials* **2001**, *22*, 2959–2966.

(188) Mori, T.; Okumura, M.; Matsuura, M.; Ueno, K.; Tokura, S.; Okamoto, Y.; Minami, S.; Fujinaga, T. Effects of Chitin and Its Derivatives on the Proliferation and Cytokine Production of Fibroblasts in Vitro. *Biomaterials* **1997**, *18*, 947–951.

(189) Raafat, D.; Sahl, H. G. Chitosan and Its Antimicrobial Potential-A Critical Literature Survey. *Microb. Biotechnol.* 2009, 2, 186–201.

(190) Morin-Crini, N.; Lichtfouse, E.; Torri, G.; Crini, G. Applications of Chitosan in Food, Pharmaceuticals, Medicine, Cosmetics, Agriculture, Textiles, Pulp and Paper, Biotechnology, and Environmental Chemistry. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *17*, 1667–1692.

(191) Jeong, K. C.; Kang, M. Y.; Kang, J.; Baumler, D. J.; Kaspar, C. W. Reduction of Escherichia coli O157: H7 Shedding in Cattle by Addition of Chitosan Microparticles to Feed. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2011**, 77, 2611–2616.

(192) Cao, R.; Xue, C.-h.; Liu, Q. Changes in Microbial Flora of Pacific Oysters (Crassostrea Gigas) During Refrigerated Storage and Its Shelf-Life Extension by Chitosan. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **2009**, *131*, 272–276.

(193) Rong, C.; Qi, L.; Bang-zhong, Y.; Lan-lan, Z. Combined Effect of Ozonated Water and Chitosan on the Shelf-Life of Pacific Oyster (Crassostrea Gigas). *Innovative Food Sci. Emerging Technol.* **2010**, *11*, 108–112.

(194) Azuma, K.; Osaki, T.; Wakuda, T.; Ifuku, S.; Saimoto, H.; Tsuka, T.; Imagawa, T.; Okamoto, Y.; Minami, S. Beneficial and Preventive Effect of Chitin Nanofibrils in a Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Acute Ulcerative Colitis Model. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2012**, *87*, 1399–1403.

(195) Anraku, M.; Tabuchi, R.; Ifuku, S.; Nagae, T.; Iohara, D.; Tomida, H.; Uekama, K.; Maruyama, T.; Miyamura, S.; Hirayama, F.; et al. An Oral Absorbent, Surface-Deacetylated Chitin Nano-Fiber Ameliorates Renal Injury and Oxidative Stress in 5/6 Nephrectomized Rats. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *161*, 21–25. (196) Butchosa, N.; Brown, C.; Larsson, P. T.; Berglund, L. A.; Bulone, V.; Zhou, Q. Nanocomposites of Bacterial Cellulose Nanofibers and Chitin Nanocrystals: Fabrication, Characterization and Bactericidal Activity. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15*, 3404–3413.

(197) Liang, R.; Li, X.; Yuan, W.; Jin, S.; Hou, S.; Wang, M.; Wang, H. Antifungal Activity of Nanochitin Whisker Against Crown Rot Diseases of Wheat. J. Agric. Food Chem. **2018**, 66, 9907–9913.

(198) Pereira, A. G.; Fajardo, A. R.; Gerola, A. P.; Rodrigues, J. H.; Nakamura, C. V.; Muniz, E. C.; Hsieh, Y.-L. First Report of Electrospun Cellulose Acetate Nanofibers Mats with Chitin and Chitosan Nanowhiskers: Fabrication, Characterization, and Antibacterial Activity. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, *250*, 116954.

(199) Kulling, D.; Vournakis, J. N.; Woo, S.; Demcheva, M. V.; Tagge, D. U.; Rios, G.; Finkielsztein, S.; Hawes, R. H. Endoscopic Injection of Bleeding Esophageal Varices with a Poly-N-acetyl Glucosamine Gel Formulation in the Canine Portal Hypertension Model. *Gastrointest. Endosc.* **1999**, *49*, 764–771.

(200) Wan, A. C.; Khor, E.; Hastings, G. W. Hydroxyapatite Modified Chitin as Potential Hard Tissue Substitute Material. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **1997**, *38*, 235–241.

(201) Wan, A. C.; Khor, E.; Hastings, G. W. Preparation of a Chitin-Apatite Composite by in Situ Precipitation onto Porous Chitin Scaffolds. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. **1998**, 41, 541–548.

(202) Blasinska, A.; Drobnik, J. Effects of Nonwoven Mats of Di-Obutyrylchitin and Related Polymers on the Process of Wound Healing. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 776–782.

(203) Kifune, K. Clinical Application of Chitin Artificial Skin (Beschitin W). In *Advances in Chitin Chitosan*; Elsevier: Essex, 1992; p 9–15.

(204) Xu, J.; Liu, L.; Yu, J.; Zou, Y.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y. DDA (Degree of Deacetylation) and pH-Dependent Antibacterial Properties of Chitin Nanofibers Against Escherichia coli. *Cellulose* **2019**, *26*, 2279–2290.

(205) Chien, R.-C.; Yen, M.-T.; Mau, J.-L. Antimicrobial and Antitumor Activities of Chitosan from Shiitake Stipes, Compared to Commercial Chitosan from Crab Shells. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, *138*, 259–264.

(206) Domard, A. A Perspective on 30 Years Research on Chitin and Chitosan. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2011**, *84*, 696–703.

(207) Jayakumar, R.; Prabaharan, M.; Nair, S.; Tamura, H. Novel Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibers in Biomedical Applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2010**, *28*, 142–150.

(208) Meyers, M. A.; McKittrick, J.; Chen, P.-Y. Structural Biological Materials: Critical Mechanics-Materials Connections. *Science* **2013**, 339, 773–779.

(209) Younes, I.; Rinaudo, M. Chitin and Chitosan Preparation from Marine Sources. Structure, Properties and Applications. *Mar. Drugs* **2015**, *13*, 1133–1174.

(210) El Knidri, H.; Belaabed, R.; Addaou, A.; Laajeb, A.; Lahsini, A. Extraction, Chemical Modification and Characterization of Chitin and Chitosan. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2018**, *120*, 1181–1189.

(211) Aye, K. N.; Stevens, W. F. Improved Chitin Production by Pretreatment of Shrimp Shells. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2004, 79, 421–425.

(212) Hu, X.; Tian, Z.; Li, X.; Wang, S.; Pei, H.; Sun, H.; Zhang, Z. Green, Simple, and Effective Process for the Comprehensive Utilization of Shrimp Shell Waste. *ACS Omega* **2020**, *5*, 19227–19235.

(213) Devi, R.; Dhamodharan, R. Pretreatment in Hot Glycerol for Facile and Green Separation of Chitin from Prawn Shell Waste. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 846–853.

(214) Kaya, M.; Baran, T.; Karaarslan, M. A New Method for Fast Chitin Extraction from Shells of Crab, Crayfish and Shrimp. *Nat. Prod. Res.* **2015**, *29*, 1477–1480.

(215) Borić, M.; Puliyalil, H.; Novak, U.; Likozar, B. An Intensified Atmospheric Plasma-Based Process for the Isolation of the Chitin Biopolymer from Waste Crustacean Biomass. *Green Chem.* **2018**, *20*, 1199–1204.

(216) Mahlous, M.; Tahtat, D.; Benamer, S.; Khodja, A. N. Gamma Irradiation-Aided Chitin/Chitosan Extraction from Prawn Shells. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. B* **2007**, *265*, 414–417.

(217) Mathew, G. M.; Mathew, D. C.; Sukumaran, R. K.; Sindhu, R.; Huang, C.-C.; Binod, P.; Sirohi, R.; Kim, S.-H.; Pandey, A. Sustainable and Eco-Friendly Strategies for Shrimp Shell Valorization. *Environ. Pollut.* **2020**, *267*, 115656.

(218) Abdullin, V.; Artemenko, S.; Ovchinnnikova, G.; Arzamastsev, O. Extraction Processes in Extraction of the Biopolymer Chitin from Crab Shells. *Fibre Chem.* **2008**, *40*, 513–516.

(219) Nidheesh, T.; Suresh, P. Optimization of Conditions for Isolation of High Quality Chitin from Shrimp Processing Raw Byproducts Using Response Surface Methodology and Its Characterization. J. Food Sci. Technol. **2015**, *52*, 3812–3823.

(220) Tokatlı, K.; Demirdöven, A. Optimization of Chitin and Chitosan Production from Shrimp Wastes and Characterization. J. Food Process. Preserv. 2018, 42, No. e13494.

(221) Said Al Hoqani, H. A.; AL-Shaqsi, N.; Hossain, M. A.; Al Sibani, M. A. Isolation and Optimization of the Method for Industrial Production of Chitin and Chitosan from Omani Shrimp Shell. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2020**, *492*, 108001.

(222) Charoenvuttitham, P.; Shi, J.; Mittal, G. S. Chitin Extraction from Black Tiger Shrimp (Penaeus Monodon) Waste Using Organic Acids. *Sep. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *41*, 1135–1153.

(223) El Knidri, H.; El Khalfaouy, R.; Laajeb, A.; Addaou, A.; Lahsini, A. Eco-friendly Extraction and Characterization of Chitin and Chitosan from the Shrimp Shell Waste via Microwave Irradiation. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.* **2016**, *104*, 395–405.

(224) EL Knidri, H.; Dahmani, J.; Addaou, A.; Laajeb, A.; Lahsini, A. Rapid and Efficient Extraction of Chitin and Chitosan for Scale-Up Production: Effect of Process Parameters on Deacetylation Degree and Molecular Weight. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *139*, 1092–1102. (225) Kjartansson, G. T.; Zivanovic, S.; Kristbergsson, K.; Weiss, J. Sonication-Assisted Extraction of Chitin from Shells of Fresh Water Prawns (Macrobrachium Rosenbergii). *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2006**, *54*, 3317–3323.

(226) Devi, R.; Dhamodharan, R. Sustainable Process for Separating Chitin and Simultaneous Synthesis of Carbon Nanodots from Shellfish Waste Using 2% Aqueous Urea Solution. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 11313–11325.

(227) Aneesh, P.; Anandan, R.; Kumar, L. R.; Ajeeshkumar, K.; Kumar, K. A.; Mathew, S. A Step to Shell Biorefinery-Extraction of Astaxanthin-Rich Oil, Protein, Chitin, and Chitosan from Shrimp Processing Waste. *Biomass Convers. Biorefin.* **2020**, 1–10.

(228) Adour, L.; Arbia, W.; Amrane, A.; Mameri, N. Combined Use of Waste Materials-Recovery of Chitin from Shrimp Shells by Lactic Acid Fermentation Supplemented with Date Juice Waste or Glucose. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **2008**, *83*, 1664–1669.

(229) Flores-Albino, B.; Arias, L.; Gómez, J.; Castillo, A.; Gimeno, M.; Shirai, K. Chitin and L (+)-Lactic Acid Production from Crab (Callinectes Bellicosus) Wastes by Fermentation of Lactobacillus sp. B2 Using Sugar Cane Molasses As Carbon Source. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.* **2012**, 35, 1193–1200.

(230) Jung, W.; Jo, G.; Kuk, J.; Kim, Y.; Oh, K.; Park, R. Production of Chitin from Red Crab Shell Waste by Successive Fermentation with Lactobacillus Paracasei KCTC-3074 and Serratia Marcescens FS-3. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2007**, *68*, 746–750.

(231) Ghorbel-Bellaaj, O.; Younes, I.; Maâlej, H.; Hajji, S.; Nasri, M. Chitin Extraction from Shrimp Shell Waste Using Bacillus Bacteria. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2012**, *51*, 1196–1201.

(232) Kaur, S.; Dhillon, G. S. Recent Trends in Biological Extraction of Chitin from Marine Shell Wastes: A Review. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.* **2015**, *35*, 44–61.

(233) Gortari, M. C.; Hours, R. A. Biotechnological Processes for Chitin Recovery Out of Crustacean Waste: A Mini-Review. *Electron. J. Biotechnol.* **2013**, *16*, 14–14.

(234) Lopes, C.; Antelo, L. T.; Franco-Uría, A.; Alonso, A. A.; Pérez-Martín, R. Chitin Production from Crustacean Biomass: Sustainability Assessment of Chemical and Enzymatic Processes. J. Cleaner Prod. 2018, 172, 4140-4151.

(235) Setoguchi, T.; Kato, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Facile Production of Chitin from Crab Shells Using Ionic Liquid and Citric Acid. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2012**, *50*, 861–864.

(236) Shamshina, J.; Barber, P.; Gurau, G.; Griggs, C.; Rogers, R. Pulping of Crustacean Waste Using Ionic Liquids: To Extract or Not to Extract. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 6072–6081.

(237) Hong, S.; Yuan, Y.; Yang, Q.; Zhu, P.; Lian, H. Versatile Acid Base Sustainable Solvent for Fast Extraction of Various Molecular Weight Chitin from Lobster Shell. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *201*, 211– 217.

(238) Qin, Y.; Lu, X.; Sun, N.; Rogers, R. D. Dissolution or Extraction of Crustacean Shells Using Ionic Liquids to Obtain High Molecular Weight Purified Chitin and Direct Production of Chitin Films and Fibers. *Green Chem.* **2010**, *12*, 968–971.

(239) Zhu, P.; Gu, Z.; Hong, S.; Lian, H. One-Pot Production of Chitin with High Purity from Lobster Shells Using Choline Chloride-Malonic Acid Deep Eutectic Solvent. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *177*, 217–223.

(240) Saravana, P. S.; Ho, T. C.; Chae, S.-J.; Cho, Y.-J.; Park, J.-S.; Lee, H.-J.; Chun, B.-S. Deep Eutectic Solvent-Based Extraction and Fabrication of Chitin Films from Crustacean Waste. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *195*, 622–630.

(241) Shamshina, J. L. Chitin in Ionic Liquids: Historical Insights into the Polymer's Dissolution and Isolation. A Review. *Green Chem.* **2019**, *21*, 3974–3993.

(242) Bogdanova, O.; Istomina, A.; Glushkova, N.; Belousov, S.; Kuznetsov, N.; Polyakov, D.; Malakhov, S.; Krasheninnikov, S.; Bakirov, A.; Kamyshinsky, R.; et al. Effect of Exfoliating Agent on Rheological Behavior of β -Chitin Fibrils in Aqueous Suspensions and on Mechanical Properties of Poly(acrylic acid)/ β -Chitin Composites. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *139*, 161–169.

(243) Isogai, A. Emerging Nanocellulose Technologies: Recent Developments. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2000630.

(244) Shams, M. I.; Ifuku, S.; Nogi, M.; Oku, T.; Yano, H. Fabrication of Optically Transparent Chitin Nanocomposites. *Appl. Phys. A: Mater. Sci. Process.* **2011**, *102*, 325–331.

(245) Lu, Y.; Sun, Q.; She, X.; Xia, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, J.; Yang, D. Fabrication and Characterisation of α -Chitin Nanofibers and Highly Transparent Chitin Films by Pulsed Ultrasonication. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2013**, *98*, 1497–1504.

(246) Tanaka, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Facile Nanofibrillation of Chitin Derivatives by Gas Bubbling and Ultrasonic Treatments in Water. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2014**, *398*, 25–30.

(247) Zhao, H.-P.; Feng, X.-Q.; Gao, H. Ultrasonic Technique for Extracting Nanofibers from Nature Materials. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2007**, *90*, 073112.

(248) Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers from Squid Pen β -Chitin by Simple Mechanical Treatment under Acid Conditions. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1919–1923.

(249) Ifuku, S.; Nomura, R.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers from Mushrooms. *Materials* **2011**, *4*, 1417–1425.

(250) Ifuku, S.; Nogi, M.; Abe, K.; Yoshioka, M.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Yano, H. Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers with a Uniform Width as α -Chitin from Crab Shells. *Biomacromolecules* **2009**, *10*, 1584–1588.

(251) Ifuku, S.; Nogi, M.; Yoshioka, M.; Morimoto, M.; Yano, H.; Saimoto, H. Fibrillation of Dried Chitin into 10–20 nm Nanofibers by a Simple Grinding Method under Acidic Conditions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2010**, *81*, 134–139.

(252) Ifuku, S.; Nogi, M.; Abe, K.; Yoshioka, M.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Yano, H. Simple Preparation Method of Chitin Nanofibers with a Uniform Width of 10–20 nm from Prawn Shell under Neutral Conditions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2011**, *84*, 762–764.

(253) Wu, J.; Zhang, K.; Girouard, N.; Meredith, J. C. Facile Route to Produce Chitin Nanofibers as Precursors for Flexible and

Review

Transparent Gas Barrier Materials. *Biomacromolecules* 2014, 15, 4614–4620.

(254) Ifuku, S.; Urakami, T.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Preparation of a Protein-Chitin Nanofiber Complex from Crab Shells and Its Application as a Reinforcement Filler or Substrate for Biomineralization. *Rsc Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 64196–64201.

(255) Salaberria, A. M.; Fernandes, S. C.; Diaz, R. H.; Labidi, J. Processing of α -Chitin Nanofibers by Dynamic High Pressure Homogenization: Characterization and Antifungal Activity against A. niger. Carbohydr. Polym. **2015**, 116, 286–291.

(256) Ono, Y.; Ogura, K.; Kaku, Y.; Fujisawa, S.; Isogai, A. Structural Changes in α -Chitin Through Nanofibrillation by High-Pressure Homogenization in Water. *Polymer J.* **2020**, *52*, 813–818.

(257) Wu, Q.; Mushi, N. E.; Berglund, L. A. High-Strength Nanostructured Films based on Well-Preserved α -Chitin Nanofibrils Disintegrated from Insect Cuticles. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 604–612.

(258) Wu, Q.; Jungstedt, E.; Šoltésová, M.; Mushi, N. E.; Berglund, L. A. High Strength Nanostructured Films based on Well-Preserved β -Chitin Nanofibrils. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 11001–11011.

(259) Mushi, N. E.; Butchosa, N.; Salajkova, M.; Zhou, Q.; Berglund, L. A. Nanostructured Membranes Based on Native Chitin Nanofibers Prepared by Mild Process. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *112*, 255–263.

(260) Liu, D.; Zhu, Y.; Li, Z.; Tian, D.; Chen, L.; Chen, P. Chitin Nanofibrils for Rapid and Efficient Removal of Metal Ions from Water System. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2013**, *98*, 483–489.

(261) Ifuku, S.; Yamada, K.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Nanofibrillation of Dry Chitin Powder by Star Burst System. J. Nanomater. 2012, 2012, 645624.

(262) Dutta, A. K.; Yamada, K.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Ifuku, S. Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers from Dry Chitin Powder by Star Burst System: Dependence on Number of Passes. J. Chitin Chitosan Sci. 2013, 1, 59–64.

(263) Kose, R.; Kondo, T. Favorable 3D-Network Formation of Chitin Nanofibers Dispersed in Water Prepared Using Aqueous Counter Collision. *Sen-i Gakkaishi* 2011, 67, 91–95.

(264) Suenaga, S.; Totani, K.; Nomura, Y.; Yamashita, K.; Shimada, I.; Fukunaga, H.; Takahashi, N.; Osada, M. Effect of Acidity on the Physicochemical Properties of α -and β -Chitin Nanofibers. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2017**, *102*, 358–366.

(265) Yihun, F. A.; Ifuku, S.; Saimoto, H.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M. Highly Transparent and Flexible Surface Modified Chitin Nanofibers Reinforced Poly(methyl methacrylate) Nanocomposites: Mechanical, Thermal and Optical Studies. *Polymer* **2020**, *197*, 122497.

(266) Ma, H.; Liu, L.; Yu, J.; Fan, Y. One-Step Preparation of Chitin Nanofiber Dispersion in Full pH Surroundings Using Recyclable Solid Oxalic Acid and Evaluation of Redispersed Performance. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, *22*, 4373–4382.

(267) Isogai, A.; Hänninen, T.; Fujisawa, S.; Saito, T. Catalytic Oxidation of Cellulose with Nitroxyl Radicals under Aqueous Conditions. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2018, *86*, 122–148.

(268) Song, Y.; Chen, W.; Niu, X.; Fang, G.; Min, H.; Pan, H. An Energy-Efficient One-Pot Swelling/Esterification Method to Prepare Cellulose Nanofibers with Uniform Diameter. *ChemSusChem* **2018**, *11*, 3714–3718.

(269) Yang, X.; Liu, J.; Pei, Y.; Zheng, X.; Tang, K. Recent Progress in Preparation and Application of Nano-Chitin Materials. *Energy Environ. Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 492–515.

(270) Liu, L.; Lv, H.; Jiang, J.; Zheng, K.; Ye, W.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y. Reinforced Chitosan Beads by Chitin Nanofibers for the Immobilization of β -Glucosidase. *Rsc Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 93331–93336.

(271) Pei, Y.; Wang, L.; Tang, K.; Kaplan, D. L. Biopolymer Nanoscale Assemblies as Building Blocks for New Materials: A Review. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2008552.

(272) Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Individual Chitin Nano-Whiskers Prepared from Partially Deacetylated α -Chitin by Fibril Surface Cationization. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2010**, *79*, 1046–1051. (273) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Xiang, W.; Liu, L.; Yang, Y.; Nugroho, R. W. N.; Fan, Y.; Rojas, O. J. Self-Assembled Networks of Short and Long Chitin Nanoparticles for Oil/Water Interfacial Superstabilization. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 6497–6511.

(274) Machida, J.; Suenaga, S.; Osada, M. Effect of the Degree of Acetylation on the Physicochemical Properties of α -Chitin Nano-fibers. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, 155, 350–357.

(275) Qi, Z.-D.; Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Fukuzumi, H.; Tsutsumi, Y.; Isogai, A. Improvement of Nanofibrillation Efficiency of α -Chitin in Water by Selecting Acid Used for Surface Cationisation. *Rsc Adv.* **2013**, 3, 2613–2619.

(276) Ye, W.; Yokota, S.; Fan, Y.; Kondo, T. A Combination of Aqueous Counter Collision and TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation for Doubled Carboxyl Contents of α -Chitin Nanofibers. *Cellulose* **2021**, 28, 2167–2181.

(277) Saito, T.; Kimura, S.; Nishiyama, Y.; Isogai, A. Cellulose Nanofibers Prepared by TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of Native Cellulose. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 2485–2491.

(278) Liu, L.; Borghei, M.; Wang, Z.; Xu, J.; Fan, Y.; Rojas, O. J. Salt-Induced Colloidal Destabilization, Separation, Drying, and Redispersion in Aqueous Phase of Cationic and Anionic Nanochitins. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2018**, *66*, 9189–9198.

(279) Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of β -Chitin to Prepare Individual Nanofibrils. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2009, 77, 832–838.

(280) Pang, K.; Ding, B.; Liu, X.; Wu, H.; Duan, Y.; Zhang, J. High-Yield Preparation of Zwitterionically Charged Chitin Nanofiber and Its Application in Doubly pH-Responsive Pickering Emulsion. *Green Chem.* **2017**, *19*, 3665–3670.

(281) Ma, Q.; Pang, K.; Wang, K.; Huang, S.; Ding, B.; Duan, Y.; Zhang, J. Ultrafine and Carboxylated β -Chitin Nanofibers Prepared from Squid Pen and Its Transparent Hydrogels. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, 211, 118–123.

(282) Iwamoto, S.; Endo, T. 3 nm Thick Lignocellulose Nanofibers Obtained from Esterified Wood with Maleic Anhydride. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2015**, *4*, 80–83.

(283) Aklog, Y. F.; Nagae, T.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Ifuku, S. Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers by Surface Esterification of Chitin with Maleic Anhydride and Mechanical Treatment. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, *153*, 55–59.

(284) Wang, Q.; Yan, X.; Chang, Y.; Ren, L.; Zhou, J. Fabrication and Characterization of Chitin Nanofibers Through Esterification and Ultrasound Treatment. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *180*, 81–87.

(285) Tran, T. H.; Nguyen, H.-L.; Hao, L. T.; Kong, H.; Park, J. M.; Jung, S.-H.; Cha, H. G.; Lee, J. Y.; Kim, H.; Hwang, S. Y.; et al. A Ball Milling-Based One-Step Transformation of Chitin Biomass to Organo-Dispersible Strong Nanofibers Passing Highly Time and Energy Consuming Processes. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *125*, 660– 667.

(286) Saito, T.; Okita, Y.; Nge, T.; Sugiyama, J.; Isogai, A. TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of Native Cellulose: Microscopic Analysis of Fibrous Fractions in the Oxidized Products. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2006**, *65*, 435–440.

(287) Liu, L.; Chenhuang, J.; Lu, Y.; Fan, Y.; Wang, Z. Facile Preparation of Nanochitins via Acid Assisted Colloid Milling in Glycerol. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 6935–6944.

(288) Yang, K.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, Z.; Li, M.; Shi, D.; Wang, X.; Jiang, T.; Zhang, Q.; Ding, B.; You, J. Pseudosolvent Intercalator of Chitin: Self-Exfoliating into Sub-1 nm Thick Nanofibrils for Multifunctional Chitinous Materials. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2007596.

(289) Kobayashi, K.; Kimura, S.; Togawa, E.; Wada, M. Crystal Transition between Hydrate and Anhydrous β -Chitin Monitored by Synchrotron X-Ray Fiber Diffraction. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2010**, *79*, 882–889.

(290) Ye, W.; Ma, H.; Liu, L.; Yu, J.; Lai, J.; Fang, Y.; Fan, Y. Biocatalyzed Route for the Preparation of Surface-Deacetylated Chitin Nanofibers. *Green Chem.* **2019**, *21*, 3143–3151.

(291) Jiang, J.; Ye, W.; Liu, L.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Cellulose Nanofibers Prepared Using the TEMPO/Laccase/O2 System. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 288–294.

(292) Blair, D. E.; Schüttelkopf, A. W.; MacRae, J. I.; van Aalten, D. M. Structure and Metal-Dependent Mechanism of Peptidoglycan Deacetylase, a Streptococcal Virulence Factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2005**, *102*, 15429–15434.

(293) Zeng, J.-B.; He, Y.-S.; Li, S.-L.; Wang, Y.-Z. Chitin Whiskers: An Overview. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 1–11.

(294) Dufresne, A. Processing of Polymer Nanocomposites Reinforced with Polysaccharide Nanocrystals. *Molecules* **2010**, *15*, 4111–4128.

(295) Lin, N.; Huang, J.; Dufresne, A. Preparation, Properties and Applications of Polysaccharide Nanocrystals in Advanced Functional Nanomaterials: A Review. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4*, 3274–3294.

(296) Zhang, M.; Li, Y.; Wang, W.; Yang, Y.; Shi, X.; Sun, M.; Hao, Y.; Li, Y. Comparison of Physicochemical and Rheology Properties of Shiitake Stipes-Derived Chitin Nanocrystals and Nanofibers. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, *244*, 116468.

(297) Yuan, Y.; Hong, S.; Lian, H.; Zhang, K.; Liimatainen, H. Comparison of Acidic Deep Eutectic Solvents in Production of Chitin Nanocrystals. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, *236*, 116095.

(298) Mincea, M.; Negrulescu, A.; Ostafe, V. Preparation, Modification, and Applications of Chitin Nanowhiskers: A Review. *Rev. Adv. Mater. Sci.* **2012**, *30*, 225–242.

(299) Marchessault, R.; Morehead, F.; Walter, N. Liquid Crystal Systems from Fibrillar Polysaccharides. *Nature* **1959**, *184*, 632–633.

(300) Oun, A. A.; Rhim, J.-W. Effect of Isolation Methods of Chitin Nanocrystals on the Properties of Chitin-Silver Hybrid Nanoparticles. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *197*, 349–358.

(301) Liu, L.; Seta, F. T.; An, X.; Yang, J.; Zhang, W.; Dai, H.; Cao, H.; Xu, Q.; Liu, H. Facile Isolation of Colloidal Stable Chitin Nano-Crystals from Metapenaeus Ensis Shell via Solid Maleic Acid Hydrolysis and Their Application for Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 9853–9875.

(302) Lu, Y.; Weng, L.; Zhang, L. Morphology and Properties of Soy Protein Isolate Thermoplastics Reinforced with Chitin Whiskers. *Biomacromolecules* **2004**, *5*, 1046–1051.

(303) Phongying, S.; Aiba, S.-i.; Chirachanchai, S. Direct Chitosan Nanoscaffold Formation via Chitin Whiskers. *Polymer* **2007**, *48*, 393–400.

(304) Narkevicius, A.; Steiner, L. M.; Parker, R. M.; Ogawa, Y.; Frka-Petesic, B.; Vignolini, S. Controlling the Self-Assembly Behavior of Aqueous Chitin Nanocrystal Suspensions. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, 20, 2830–2838.

(305) Chang, P. R.; Jian, R.; Yu, J.; Ma, X. Starch-Based Composites Reinforced with Novel Chitin Nanoparticles. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2010**, *80*, 420–425.

(306) Gopalan Nair, K.; Dufresne, A. Crab Shell Chitin Whisker Reinforced Natural Rubber Nanocomposites. 1. Processing and Swelling Behavior. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 657–665.

(307) Sriupayo, J.; Supaphol, P.; Blackwell, J.; Rujiravanit, R. Preparation and Characterization of α -Chitin Whisker-Reinforced Chitosan Nanocomposite Films with or without Heat Treatment. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2005**, *62*, 130–136.

(308) Junkasem, J.; Rujiravanit, R.; Supaphol, P. Fabrication of α -Chitin Whisker-Reinforced Poly(vinyl alcohol) Nanocomposite Nanofibres by Electrospinning. *Nanotechnology* **2006**, *17*, 4519.

(309) Wongpanit, P.; Sanchavanakit, N.; Pavasant, P.; Bunaprasert, T.; Tabata, Y.; Rujiravanit, R. Preparation and Characterization of Chitin Whisker-Reinforced Silk Fibroin Nanocomposite Sponges. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2007**, *43*, 4123–4135.

(310) Watthanaphanit, A.; Supaphol, P.; Tamura, H.; Tokura, S.; Rujiravanit, R. Fabrication, Structure, and Properties of Chitin Whisker-Reinforced Alginate Nanocomposite Fibers. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2008, 110, 890–899.

(311) Goodrich, J. D.; Winter, W. T. α -Chitin Nanocrystals Prepared from Shrimp Shells and Their Specific Surface Area Measurement. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 252–257. (312) Morin, A.; Dufresne, A. Nanocomposites of Chitin Whiskers from Riftia Tubes and Poly(caprolactone). *Macromolecules* **2002**, *35*, 2190–2199.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(313) Chen, Y.; Liu, Z.; Li, M.; Wu, X.; You, J.; Li, C. Guiding Growth Orientation of Two-Dimensional Au Nanocrystals with Marine Chitin Nanofibrils for Ultrasensitive and Ultrafast Sensing Hybrids. J. Mater. Chem. B **2017**, *5*, 9502–9506.

(314) Yu, Y.; Wu, H. Significant Differences in the Hydrolysis Behavior of Amorphous and Crystalline Portions within Microcrystalline Cellulose in Hot-Compressed Water. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *49*, 3902–3909.

(315) Bai, L.; Kämäräinen, T.; Xiang, W.; Majoinen, J.; Seitsonen, J.; Grande, R.; Huan, S.; Liu, L.; Fan, Y.; Rojas, O. J. Chirality from Cryo-Electron Tomograms of Nanocrystals Obtained by Lateral Disassembly and Surface Etching of Never-Dried Chitin. *ACS Nano* 2020, *14*, 6921–6930.

(316) Střelcová, Z.; Kulhánek, P.; Friák, M.; Fabritius, H.-O.; Petrov, M.; Neugebauer, J.; Koča, J. The Structure and Dynamics of Chitin Nanofibrils in an Aqueous Environment Revealed by Molecular Dynamics Simulations. *Rsc Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 30710–30721.

(317) Chen, S.; Chen, D. Surface Deacetylation of Chitin Nano-Whiskers. *Polym. Bull.* **2020**, *77*, 5345–5355.

(318) Li, J.; Revol, J. F.; Marchessault, R. Effect of Degree of Deacetylation of Chitin on the Properties of Chitin Crystallites. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 1997, 65, 373–380.

(319) Muzzarelli, R.; Muzzarelli, C.; Cosani, A.; Terbojevich, M. 6-Oxychitins, Novel Hyaluronan-like Regiospecifically Carboxylated Chitins. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **1999**, *39*, 361–367.

(320) Fan, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Chitin Nanocrystals Prepared by TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of α -Chitin. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 192–198.

(321) Ye, W.; Liu, L.; Wang, Z.; Yu, J.; Fan, Y. Investigation of Pretreatment Methods for Improving TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation and Nanofibrillation Efficiency of α -Chitin. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2019, 7, 19463–19473.

(322) Ifuku, S.; Hori, T.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Preparation of Zwitterionically Charged Nanocrystals by Surface TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation and Partial Deacetylation of α -Chitin. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *122*, 1–4.

(323) Jiang, J.; Yu, J.; Liu, L.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y.; Satio, T.; Isogai, A. Preparation and Hydrogel Properties of pH-sensitive Amphoteric Chitin Nanocrystals. J. Agric. Food Chem. **2018**, 66, 11372–11379.

(324) Aracri, E.; Valls, Č.; Vidal, T. Paper Strength Improvement by Oxidative Modification of Sisal Cellulose Fibers with Laccase-TEMPO System: Influence of the Process Variables. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2012**, *88*, 830–837.

(325) Baldrian, P. Fungal Laccases-Occurrence and Properties. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* **2006**, *30*, 215–242.

(326) Jiang, J.; Ye, W.; Yu, J.; Fan, Y.; Ono, Y.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Chitin Nanocrystals Prepared by Oxidation of α -Chitin Using the O2/Laccase/TEMPO System. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *189*, 178–183.

(327) Oun, A. A.; Rhim, J.-W. Effect of Oxidized Chitin Nanocrystals Isolated by Ammonium Persulfate Method on the Properties of Carboxymethyl Cellulose-Based Films. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2017, 175, 712–720.

(328) Liu, P.; Liu, H.; Schäfer, T.; Gutmann, T.; Gibhardt, H.; Qi, H.; Tian, L.; Zhang, X. C.; Buntkowsky, G.; Zhang, K. Unexpected Selective Alkaline Periodate Oxidation of Chitin for the Isolation of Chitin Nanocrystals. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 745–751.

(329) Liu, P.; Pang, B.; Dechert, S.; Zhang, X. C.; Andreas, L. B.; Fischer, S.; Meyer, F.; Zhang, K. Structure Selectivity of Alkaline Periodate Oxidation on Lignocellulose for Facile Isolation of Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 3218–3225. (330) Uto, T.; Idenoue, S.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Understanding Dissolution Process of Chitin Crystal in Ionic Liquids: Theoretical Study. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 20669–20677. (331) Lossada, F.; Hoenders, D.; Guo, J.; Jiao, D.; Walther, A. Self-Assembled Bioinspired Nanocomposites. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2020**, *53*, 2622–2635.

(332) Jones, M.; Kujundzic, M.; John, S.; Bismarck, A. Crab vs. Mushroom: A Review of Crustacean and Fungal Chitin in Wound Treatment. *Mar. Drugs* **2020**, *18*, 64.

(333) Zhou, J.; Butchosa, N. r.; Jayawardena, H. S. N.; Zhou, Q.; Yan, M.; Ramstrom, O. Glycan-Functionalized Fluorescent Chitin Nanocrystals for Biorecognition Applications. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2014**, *25*, 640–643.

(334) Kato, Y.; Kaminaga, J.; Matsuo, R.; Isogai, A. TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of Chitin, Regenerated Chitin and N-Acetylated Chitosan. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2004**, *58*, 421–426.

(335) Kiliona, K. P. S.; Zhou, M.; Zhu, Y.; Lan, P.; Lin, N. Preparation and Surface Modification of Crab Nanochitin for Organogels Based on Thiol-Ene Click Cross-linking. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *150*, 756–764.

(336) Ifuku, S.; Morooka, S.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Acetylation of Chitin Nanofibers and Their Transparent Nanocomposite Films. *Biomacromolecules* **2010**, *11*, 1326–1330.

(337) Lin, N.; Wei, S.; Xia, T.; Hu, F.; Huang, J.; Dufresne, A. Green Bionanocomposites from High-Elasticity "Soft" Polyurethane and High-Crystallinity "Rigid" Chitin Nanocrystals with Controlled Surface Acetylation. *Rsc Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 49098–49107.

(338) Huang, W.-C.; Wang, W.; Xue, C.; Mao, X. Effective Enzyme Immobilization onto a Magnetic Chitin Nanofiber Composite. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 8118–8124.

(339) Ou, X.; Cai, J.; Tian, J.; Luo, B.; Liu, M. Superamphiphobic Surfaces with Self-Cleaning and Antifouling Properties by Functionalized Chitin Nanocrystals. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 6690–6699.

(340) Ma, W.; Wu, H.; Higaki, Y.; Takahara, A. Halloysite Nanotubes: Green Nanomaterial for Functional Organic-Inorganic Nanohybrids. *Chem. Rec.* **2018**, *18*, 986–999.

(341) Zhang, T. W.; Chen, J. L.; Tian, T.; Shen, B.; Peng, Y. D.; Song, Y. H.; Jiang, B.; Lu, L. L.; Yao, H. B.; Yu, S. H. Sustainable Separators for High-Performance Lithium Ion Batteries Enabled by Chemical Modifications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1902023.

(342) Ou, X.; Yang, X.; Zheng, J.; Liu, M. Free-Standing Graphene Oxide-Chitin Nanocrystal Composite Membrane for Dye Adsorption and Oil/Water Separation. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 13379–13390.

(343) Kocer, H. B.; Cerkez, I.; Worley, S.; Broughton, R.; Huang, T. Polymeric Antimicrobial N-Halamine Epoxides. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2011**, *3*, 2845–2850.

(344) Dutta, A.; Egusa, M.; Kaminaka, H.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Ifuku, S. Facile Preparation of Surface N-halamine Chitin Nanofiber to Endow Antibacterial and Antifungal Activities. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *115*, 342–347.

(345) Kurita, K.; Ikeda, H.; Yoshida, Y.; Shimojoh, M.; Harata, M. Chemoselective Protection of the Amino Groups of Chitosan by Controlled Phthaloylation: Facile Preparation of a Precursor Useful for Chemical Modifications. *Biomacromolecules* **2002**, *3*, 1–4.

(346) Ifuku, S.; Suzuki, N.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Surface Phthaloylation of Chitin Nanofiber in Aqueous Media to Improve Dispersibility in Aromatic Solvents and Give Thermo-Responsive and Ultraviolet Protection Properties. *Rsc Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 19246–19250.

(347) Ifuku, S.; Suzuki, N.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Surface Maleylation and Naphthaloylation of Chitin Nanofibers for Property Enhancement. *React. Funct. Polym.* **2014**, *85*, 121–125.

(348) Pattabiraman, V. R.; Bode, J. W. Rethinking Amide Bond Synthesis. *Nature* **2011**, *480*, 471–479.

(349) Yang, R.; Su, Y.; Aubrecht, K. B.; Wang, X.; Ma, H.; Grubbs, R. B.; Hsiao, B. S.; Chu, B. Thiol-Functionalized Chitin Nanofibers for As (III) Adsorption. *Polymer* **2015**, *60*, 9–17.

(350) Wang, X. Challenges and Outlook for Catalytic Direct Amidation Reactions. *Nat. Catal.* **2019**, *2*, 98–102.

(351) Araki, J.; Kurihara, M. Preparation of Sterically Stabilized Chitin Nanowhisker Dispersions by Grafting of Poly(ethylene glycol) and Evaluation of Their Dispersion Stability. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 379–388.

(352) Carlmark, A.; Malmström, E. E. ATRP Grafting from Cellulose Fibers to Create Block-Copolymer Grafts. *Biomacromolecules* 2003, *4*, 1740–1745.

(353) Feng, L.; Zhou, Z.; Dufresne, A.; Huang, J.; Wei, M.; An, L. Structure and Properties of New Thermoforming Bionanocomposites based on Chitin Whisker-Graft-Polycaprolactone. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **2009**, *112*, 2830–2837.

(354) Ifuku, S.; Iwasaki, M.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Graft Polymerization of Acrylic Acid onto Chitin Nanofiber to Improve Dispersibility in Basic Water. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2012**, *90*, 623–627. (355) Jiang, X. C.; Zeng, Q. H.; Chen, C. Y.; Yu, A. B. Self-Assembly of Particles: Some Thoughts and Comments. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 16797–16805.

(356) Larbi, F.; García, A.; del Valle, L. J.; Hamou, A.; Puiggalí, J.; Belgacem, N.; Bras, J. Comparison of Nanocrystals and Nanofibers Produced from Shrimp Shell α -Chitin: From Energy Production to Material Cytotoxicity and Pickering Emulsion Properties. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *196*, 385–397.

(357) Smotrina, T.; Dresvyanina, E.; Grebennikov, S.; Kazakov, M.; Maslennikova, T.; Dobrovolskaya, I.; Yudin, V. Interaction between Water and the Composite Materials Based on Chitosan and Chitin Nanofibrils. *Polymer* **2020**, *189*, 122166.

(358) Dresvyanina, E.; Grebennikov, S.; Elokhovskii, V. Y.; Dobrovolskaya, I.; Ivan'kova, E.; Yudin, V.; Heppe, K.; Morganti, P. Thermodynamics of Interaction between Water and the Composite Films Based on Chitosan and Chitin Nanofibrils. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 245, 116552.

(359) Huang, Y.; He, M.; Lu, A.; Zhou, W.; Stoyanov, S. D.; Pelan, E. G.; Zhang, L. Hydrophobic Modification of Chitin Whisker and Its Potential Application in Structuring oil. *Langmuir* **2015**, *31*, 1641–1648.

(360) Parthasarathi, R.; Bellesia, G.; Chundawat, S.; Dale, B.; Langan, P.; Gnanakaran, S. Insights into Hydrogen Bonding and Stacking Interactions in Cellulose. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2011**, *115*, 14191–14202.

(361) Deringer, V. L.; Englert, U.; Dronskowski, R. Nature, Strength, and Cooperativity of the Hydrogen-Bonding Network in α -Chitin. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 996–1003.

(362) Beckham, G. T.; Crowley, M. F. Examination of the α -Chitin Structure and Decrystallization Thermodynamics at the Nanoscale. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2011**, *115*, 4516–4522.

(363) Franca, E. F.; Freitas, L. C.; Lins, R. D. Chitosan Molecular Structure as a Function of N-Acetylation. *Biopolymers* **2011**, *95*, 448-460.

(364) Franca, E. F.; Lins, R. D.; Freitas, L. C.; Straatsma, T. P. Characterization of Chitin and Chitosan Molecular Structure in Aqueous Solution. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2008**, *4*, 2141–2149.

(365) Ajdary, R.; Tardy, B. L.; Mattos, B. D.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J. Plant Nanomaterials and Inspiration from Nature: Water Interactions and Hierarchically Structured Hydrogels. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2001085.

(366) Foroozesh, J.; Kumar, S. Nanoparticles Behaviors in Porous Media: Application to Enhanced Oil Recovery. *J. Mol. Liq.* **2020**, *316*, 113876.

(367) Ninham, B. W. On Progress in Forces Since the DLVO Theory. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **1999**, 83, 1–17.

(368) Boluk, Y.; Zhao, L.; Incani, V. Dispersions of Nanocrystalline Cellulose in Aqueous Polymer Solutions: Structure Formation of Colloidal Rods. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 6114–6123.

(369) Kumar, S.; Foroozesh, J. Chitin Nanocrystals Based Complex Fluids: A Green Nanotechnology. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2021, 257, 117619.

(370) Lin, N.; Zhao, S.; Gan, L.; Chang, P. R.; Xia, T.; Huang, J. Preparation of Fungus-Derived Chitin Nanocrystals and Their

Dispersion Stability Evaluation in Aqueous Media. Carbohydr. Polym. 2017, 173, 610-618.

(371) Torlopov, M.; Martakov, I.; Mikhaylov, V.; Tsvetkov, N.; Krivoshapkin, P. Regulation of Structure, Rheological and Surface Properties of Chitin Nanocrystal Dispersions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *174*, 1164–1171.

(372) Tzoumaki, M. V.; Moschakis, T.; Biliaderis, C. G. Metastability of Nematic Gels Made of Aqueous Chitin Nanocrystal Dispersions. *Biomacromolecules* **2010**, *11*, 175–181.

(373) Araki, J. Electrostatic or Steric?-Preparations and Characterizations of Well-Dispersed Systems Containing Rod-like Nanowhiskers of Crystalline Polysaccharides. *Soft Matter* **2013**, *9*, 4125– 4141.

(374) Matter, F.; Luna, A. L.; Niederberger, M. From Colloidal Dispersions to Aerogels: How to Master Nanoparticle Gelation. *Nano Today* **2020**, *30*, 100827.

(375) Pandey, A.; Derakhshandeh, M.; Kedzior, S. A.; Pilapil, B.; Shomrat, N.; Segal-Peretz, T.; Bryant, S. L.; Trifkovic, M. Role of Interparticle Interactions on Microstructural and Rheological Properties of Cellulose Nanocrystal Stabilized Emulsions. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2018**, *532*, 808–818.

(376) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Xiang, W.; Rojas, O. J. Pickering Emulsions by Combining Cellulose Nanofibrils and Nanocrystals: Phase Behavior and Depletion Stabilization. *Green Chem.* **2018**, *20*, 1571– 1582.

(377) Zhang, X.; Servos, M. R.; Liu, J. Ultrahigh Nanoparticle Stability Against Salt, pH, and Solvent with Retained Surface Accessibility via Depletion Stabilization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 9910–9913.

(378) Mao, Y.; Cates, M.; Lekkerkerker, H. Depletion Force in Colloidal Systems. *Phys. A* **1995**, 222, 10–24.

(379) Tzoumaki, M. V.; Moschakis, T.; Biliaderis, C. G. Mixed Aqueous Chitin Nanocrystal-Whey Protein Dispersions: Microstructure and Rheological Behaviour. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2011**, *25*, 935–942.

(380) Tardy, B. L.; Richardson, J. J.; Greca, L. G.; Guo, J.; Ejima, H.; Rojas, O. J. Exploiting Supramolecular Interactions from Polymeric Colloids for Strong Anisotropic Adhesion between Solid Surfaces. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1906886.

(381) Flauraud, V.; Mastrangeli, M.; Bernasconi, G. D.; Butet, J.; Alexander, D. T.; Shahrabi, E.; Martin, O. J.; Brugger, J. Nanoscale Topographical Control of Capillary Assembly of Nanoparticles. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2017**, *12*, 73–80.

(382) Liu, H.; Feng, Y.; Cao, X.; Luo, B.; Liu, M. Chitin Nanocrystals as an Eco-Friendly and Strong Anisotropic Adhesive. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 11356–11368.

(383) Broesch, D. J.; Dutka, F.; Frechette, J. Curvature of Capillary Bridges as a Competition between Wetting and Confinement. *Langmuir* **2013**, *29*, 15558–15564.

(384) Greca, L. G.; De France, K. J.; Majoinen, J.; Kummer, N.; Luotonen, O. I. V.; Campioni, S.; Rojas, O. J.; Nystrom, G.; Tardy, B. L. Chitin-Amyloid Synergism and Their Use as Sustainable Structural Adhesives. J. Mater. Chem. A **2021**, *9*, 19741–19753.

(385) Alizadehgiashi, M.; Khabibullin, A.; Li, Y.; Prince, E.; Abolhasani, M.; Kumacheva, E. Shear-Induced Alignment of Anisotropic Nanoparticles in a Single-Droplet Oscillatory Microfluidic Platform. *Langmuir* **2018**, *34*, 322–330.

(386) Calabrese, V.; Haward, S. J.; Shen, A. Q. Effects of Shearing and Extensional Flows on the Alignment of Colloidal Rods. *Macromolecules* **2021**, *54*, 4176–4185.

(387) Belamie, E.; Davidson, P.; Giraud-Guille, M. Structure and Chirality of the Nematic Phase in α -Chitin Suspensions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 14991–15000.

(388) Liu, W.; Zhu, L.; Ma, Y.; Ai, L.; Wen, W.; Zhou, C.; Luo, B. Well-Ordered Chitin Whiskers Layer with High Stability on the Surface of Poly(d, l-lactide) Film for Enhancing Mechanical and Osteogenic Properties. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, *212*, 277–288.

(389) Yudin, V. E.; Dobrovolskaya, I. P.; Neelov, I. M.; Dresvyanina, E. N.; Popryadukhin, P. V.; Ivan'kova, E. M.; Elokhovskii, V. Y.;

Kasatkin, I. A.; Okrugin, B. M.; Morganti, P. Wet Spinning of Fibers Made of Chitosan and Chitin Nanofibrils. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2014, 108, 176–182.

(390) Das, M.; Chambon, L.; Varga, Z.; Vamvakaki, M.; Swan, J. W.; Petekidis, G. Shear Driven Vorticity Aligned Flocs in a Suspension of Attractive Rigid Rods. *Soft Matter* **2021**, *17*, 1232–1245.

(391) Nge, T. T.; Hori, N.; Takemura, A.; Ono, H.; Kimura, T. Synthesis and FTIR Spectroscopic Studies on Shear Induced Oriented Liquid Crystalline Chitin/Poly(acrylic acid) Composite. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **2003**, *90*, 1932–1940.

(392) Ko, Y. G.; Shin, S. S.; Choi, U. S.; Park, Y. S.; Woo, J. W. Gelation of Chitin and Chitosan Dispersed Suspensions Under Electric Field: Effect of Degree of Deacetylation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2011**, *3*, 1289–1298.

(393) Belamie, E.; Boltoeva, M. Y.; Yang, K.; Cacciaguerra, T.; Alonso, B. Tunable Hierarchical Porosity from Self-Assembled Chitin-Silica Nano-Composites. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 16997–17006.

(394) Chatrabhuti, S.; Chirachanchai, S. Single Step Coupling for Multi-Responsive Water-Based Chitin/Chitosan Magnetic Nanoparticles. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2013**, *97*, 441–450.

(395) Boltoeva, M. Y.; Dozov, I.; Davidson, P.; Antonova, K.; Cardoso, L.; Alonso, B.; Belamie, E. Electric-Field Alignment of Chitin Nanorod-Siloxane Oligomer Reactive Suspensions. *Langmuir* **2013**, *29*, 8208–8212.

(396) Nge, T. T.; Hori, N.; Takemura, A.; Ono, H.; Kimura, T. Synthesis and Orientation Study of a Magnetically Aligned Liquid-Crystalline Chitin/Poly(acrylic acid) Composite. J. Polym. Sci., Part B: Polym. Phys. 2003, 41, 711–714.

(397) Alonso, B.; Belamie, E. Chitin-Silica Nanocomposites by Self-Assembly. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 8201–8204.

(398) Schilling, T.; Miller, M. A.; Van der Schoot, P. Percolation in Suspensions of Hard Nanoparticles: From Spheres to Needles. *Europhys. Lett.* **2015**, *111*, 56004.

(399) Capron, I.; Rojas, O. J.; Bordes, R. Behavior of Nanocelluloses at Interfaces. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2017, 29, 83–95.

(400) Jamadagni, S. N.; Godawat, R.; Garde, S. How Surface Wettability Affects the Binding, Folding, and Dynamics of Hydrophobic Polymers at Interfaces. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25*, 13092–13099.

(401) Binks, B. P.; Clint, J. H. Solid Wettability From Surface Energy Components: Relevance to Pickering Emulsions. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18*, 1270–1273.

(402) McClements, D. J.; Bai, L.; Chung, C. Recent Advances in the Utilization of Natural Emulsifiers to Form and Stabilize Emulsions. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *8*, 205–236.

(403) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Li, Z.; McClements, D. J. Comparison of Emulsifying Properties of Food-Grade Polysaccharides in Oil-In-Water Emulsions: Gum Arabic, Beet Pectin, and Corn Fiber Gum. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2017**, *66*, 144–153.

(404) Ramsden, W. Separation of Solids in the Surface-Layers of Solutions and 'Suspensions' (Observations on Surface-Membranes, Bubbles, Emulsions, and Mechanical Coagulation).-Preliminary Account. *Proc. R. Soc. London* **1904**, *72*, 156–164.

(405) Pickering, S. U. Cxcvi.-Emulsions. J. Chem. Soc., Trans. 1907, 91, 2001–2021.

(406) Bai, L.; Greca, L. G.; Xiang, W.; Lehtonen, J.; Huan, S.; Nugroho, R. W. N.; Tardy, B. L.; Rojas, O. J. Adsorption and Assembly of Cellulosic and Lignin Colloids at Oil/Water Interfaces. *Langmuir* **2019**, *35*, 571–588.

(407) Binks, B. P. Particles as Surfactants-Similarities and Differences. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2002**, *7*, 21–41.

(408) Pang, B.; Liu, H.; Zhang, K. Recent Progress on Pickering Emulsions Stabilized by Polysaccharides-Based Micro/Nanoparticles. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2021**, 296, 102522.

(409) Sarkar, A.; Dickinson, E. Sustainable Food-Grade Pickering Emulsions Stabilized by Plant-Based Particles. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2020**, *49*, 69–81.

(410) Zhu, Y.; Huan, S.; Bai, L.; Ketola, A.; Shi, X.; Zhang, X.; Ketoja, J. A.; Rojas, O. J. High Internal Phase Oil-in-Water Pickering

Emulsions Stabilized by Chitin Nanofibrils: 3D Structuring and Solid Foam. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 11240–11251.

(411) Barkhordari, M. R.; Fathi, M. Production and Characterization of Chitin Nanocrystals from Prawn Shell and Their Application for Stabilization of Pickering Emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2018**, *82*, 338–345.

(412) Tzoumaki, M. V.; Moschakis, T.; Kiosseoglou, V.; Biliaderis, C. G. Oil-in-Water Emulsions Stabilized by Chitin Nanocrystal Particles. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2011**, *25*, 1521–1529.

(413) Demina, T.; Sotnikova, Y. S.; Istomin, A.; Grandfils, C.; Akopova, T.; Zelenetskii, A. Preparation of Poly(L, L-lactide) Microparticles via Pickering Emulsions Using Chitin Nanocrystals. *Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **2018**, 2018, 8518016.

(414) Watanabe, R.; Izaki, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Preparation of Nanochitin/Polystyrene Composite Particles by Pickering Emulsion Polymerization Using Scaled-Down Chitin Nanofibers. *Coatings* **2021**, *11*, 672.

(415) Huang, Y.; Liu, H.; Liu, S.; Li, S. Cinnamon Cassia Oil Emulsions Stabilized by Chitin Nanofibrils: Physicochemical Properties and Antibacterial Activities. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2020**, *68*, 14620–14631.

(416) Bencheikh, F.; Mabrouk, A. B.; Magnin, A.; Putaux, J.-L.; Boufi, S. Chitin Nanocrystals as Pickering Stabilizer for O/W Emulsions: Effect of the Oil Chemical Structure on the Emulsion Properties. *Colloids Surf.*, B 2021, 200, 111604.

(417) Huan, S.; Zhu, Y.; Xu, W.; McClements, D. J.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J. Pickering Emulsions via Interfacial Nanoparticle Complexation of Oppositely Charged Nanopolysaccharides. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 12581–12593.

(418) Madivala, B.; Vandebril, S.; Fransaer, J.; Vermant, J. Exploiting Particle Shape in Solid Stabilized Emulsions. *Soft Matter* **2009**, *5*, 1717–1727.

(419) Alargova, R. G.; Warhadpande, D. S.; Paunov, V. N.; Velev, O. D. Foam Superstabilization by Polymer Microrods. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20*, 10371–10374.

(420) Kaku, Y.; Fujisawa, S.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Synthesis of Chitin Nanofiber-Coated Polymer Microparticles via Pickering Emulsion. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 1886–1891.

(421) Gülseren, İ.; Corredig, M. Interactions of Chitin Nanocrystals with β -Lactoglobulin at the Oil-Water Interface, Studied by Drop Shape Tensiometry. *Colloids Surf.*, B **2013**, 111, 672–679.

(422) Liu, Z.; Hu, M.; Zhang, S.; Jiang, L.; Xie, F.; Li, Y. Oil-in-Water Pickering Emulsion Stabilization with Oppositely Charged Polysaccharide Particles: Chitin Nanocrystals/Fucoidan Complexes. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2021, 101, 3003–3012.

(423) Li, X. Liquid Marbles and Liquid Plasticines with Nanoparticle Monolayers. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2019**, *271*, 101988.

(424) Lam, S.; Velikov, K. P.; Velev, O. D. Pickering Stabilization of Foams and Emulsions with Particles of Biological Origin. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2014, 19, 490–500.

(425) Tzoumaki, M. V.; Karefyllakis, D.; Moschakis, T.; Biliaderis, C. G.; Scholten, E. Aqueous Foams Stabilized by Chitin Nanocrystals. *Soft Matter* **2015**, *11*, 6245–6253.

(426) Huang, Y.; Yang, J.; Chen, L.; Zhang, L. Chitin Nanofibrils to Stabilize Long-Life Pickering Foams and Their Application for Lightweight Porous Materials. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 10552–10561.

(427) Cho, M. S.; Oh, S.-G. Size Effect of Carboxymethyl Chitin Nanocrystals on the Properties of Foams in Aqueous Surfactant Solutions. *Colloids Surf.*, A **2020**, 604, 125306.

(428) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Rojas, O. J.; McClements, D. J. Recent Innovations in Emulsion Science and Technology for Food Applications. J. Agric. Food Chem. **2021**, 69, 8944–8963.

(429) Aizenberg, J.; Braun, P. V.; Wiltzius, P. Patterned Colloidal Deposition Controlled by Electrostatic and Capillary Forces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2000**, *84*, 2997.

(430) Wang, C.; Esker, A. R. Nanocrystalline Chitin Thin Films. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *102*, 151–158.

(431) Wijesena, R. N.; Tissera, N.; Perera, R.; de Silva, K. N. Side Selective Surface Modification of Chitin Nanofibers on Anionically Modified Cotton Fabrics. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *109*, 56–63.

(432) Zhong, T.; Wolcott, M. P.; Liu, H.; Wang, J. Developing Chitin Nanocrystals for Flexible Packaging Coatings. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, *226*, 115276.

(433) Salmon, S.; Hudson, S. M. Crystal Morphology, Biosynthesis, and Physical Assembly of Cellulose, Chitin, and Chitosan. J. Macromol. Sci., Polym. Rev. 1997, 37, 199–276.

(434) Lizundia, E.; Nguyen, T.-D.; Winnick, R. J.; MacLachlan, M. J. Biomimetic Photonic Materials Derived from Chitin and Chitosan. *J. Mater. Chem. C* **2021**, *9*, 796–817.

(435) João, C. F.; Echeverria, C.; Velhinho, A.; Silva, J. C.; Godinho, M. H.; Borges, J. P. Bio-Inspired Production of Chitosan/Chitin Films from Liquid Crystalline Suspensions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *155*, 372–381.

(436) Beck-Candanedo, S.; Roman, M.; Gray, D. G. Effect of Reaction Conditions on the Properties and Behavior of Wood Cellulose Nanocrystal Suspensions. *Biomacromolecules* **2005**, *6*, 1048–1054.

(437) Klemm, D.; Kramer, F.; Moritz, S.; Lindström, T.; Ankerfors, M.; Gray, D.; Dorris, A. Nanocelluloses: A New Family of Nature-Based Materials. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 5438–5466.

(438) Revol, J.-F.; Marchessault, R. In Vitro Chiral Nematic Ordering of Chitin Crystallites. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **1993**, *15*, 329–335.

(439) Belamie, E.; Mosser, G.; Gobeaux, F.; Giraud-Guille, M.-M. Possible Transient Liquid Crystal Phase During the Laying Out of Connective Tissues: α -Chitin and Collagen as Models. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2006**, *18*, S115.

(440) Tjipto-Margo, B.; Evans, G. T. The Onsager Theory of the Isotropic-Nematic Liquid Crystal Transition: Incorporation of the Higher Virial Coefficients. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1990**, *93*, 4254–4265.

(441) Mezzenga, R.; Jung, J.-M.; Adamcik, J. Effects of Charge Double Layer and Colloidal Aggregation on the Isotropic-Nematic Transition of Protein Fibers in Water. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 10401–10405.

(442) Liu, Y.; Liu, M.; Yang, S.; Luo, B.; Zhou, C. Liquid Crystalline Behaviors of Chitin Nanocrystals and Their Reinforcing Effect on Natural Rubber. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 325–336.

(443) Li, W.; Liu, W.; Wen, W.; Liu, H.; Liu, M.; Zhou, C.; Luo, B. The Liquid Crystalline Order, Rheology and Their Correlation in

Chitin Whiskers Suspensions. Carbohydr. Polym. 2019, 209, 92–100. (444) Li, J.; Revol, J.; Marchessault, R. Rheological Properties of Aqueous Suspensions of Chitin Crystallites. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1996, 183, 365–373.

(445) Mohraz, A. Interfacial Routes to Colloidal Gelation. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2016, 25, 89–97.

(446) Parker, R. M.; Guidetti, G.; Williams, C. A.; Zhao, T.; Narkevicius, A.; Vignolini, S.; Frka-Petesic, B. The Self-Assembly of Cellulose Nanocrystals: Hierarchical Design of Visual Appearance. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1704477.

(447) Murray, S.; Neville, A. The Role of the Electrostatic Coat in the Formation of Cholesteric Liquid Crystal Spherulites from α -Chitin. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. **1997**, 20, 123–130.

(448) Murray, S.; Neville, A. The Role of pH, Temperature and Nucleation in the Formation of Cholesteric Liquid Crystal Spherulites from Chitin and Chitosan. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **1998**, *22*, 137–144.

(449) Liu, W.; Liu, K.; Zhu, L.; Li, W.; Liu, K.; Wen, W.; Liu, M.; Li, H.; Zhou, C.; Luo, B. Liquid Crystalline and Rheological Properties of Chitin Whiskers with Different Chemical Structures and Chargeability. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *157*, 24–35.

(450) Yokoi, M.; Tanaka, R.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Dynamic Viscoelastic Functions of Liquid-Crystalline Chitin Nanofibril Dispersions. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 2564–2570.

(451) Liu, D.; Chang, Y.; Tian, D.; Wu, W.; Lu, A.; Prempeh, N.; Tan, M.; Huang, Y. Lyotropic Liquid Crystal Self-Assembly of H2O2-Hydrolyzed Chitin Nanocrystals. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *196*, 66– 72.

Review

(452) Odijk, T. Theory of Lyotropic Polymer Liquid Crystals. Macromolecules 1986, 19, 2313–2329.

(453) Nguyen, T. D.; Shopsowitz, K. E.; MacLachlan, M. J. Mesoporous Silica and Organosilica Films Templated by Nanocrystalline Chitin. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2013**, *19*, 15148–15154.

(454) Parker, R. M.; Frka-Petesic, B.; Guidetti, G.; Kamita, G.; Consani, G.; Abell, C.; Vignolini, S. Hierarchical Self-Assembly of Cellulose Nanocrystals in A Confined Geometry. *ACS Nano* **2016**, *10*, 8443–8449.

(455) Frka-Petesic, B.; Guidetti, G.; Kamita, G.; Vignolini, S. Controlling the Photonic Properties of Cholesteric Cellulose Nanocrystal Films with Magnets. *Adv. Mater.* **201**7, *29*, 1701469.

(456) Matsumura, S.; Kajiyama, S.; Nishimura, T.; Kato, T. Formation of Helically Structured Chitin/CaCO3 Hybrids Through an Approach Inspired by the Biomineralization Processes of Crustacean Cuticles. *Small* **2015**, *11*, 5127–5133.

(457) Mendoza-Galván, A.; Muñoz-Pineda, E.; Järrendahl, K.; Arwin, H. Birefringence of Nanocrystalline Chitin Films Studied by Mueller-Matrix Spectroscopic Ellipsometry. *Opt. Mater. Express* **2016**, *6*, 671–681.

(458) Nguyen, T.-D.; Shopsowitz, K. E.; MacLachlan, M. J. Mesoporous Nitrogen-Doped Carbon from Nanocrystalline Chitin Assemblies. J. Mater. Chem. A 2014, 2, 5915–5921.

(459) Wijesena, R. N.; Tissera, N. D.; Rathnayaka, V.; de Silva, R. M.; de Silva, K. N. Colloidal Stability of Chitin Nanofibers in Aqueous Systems: Effect of pH, Ionic Strength, Temperature & Concentration. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 235, 116024.

(460) Montroni, D.; Marzec, B.; Valle, F.; Nudelman, F.; Falini, G. β -Chitin Nanofibril Self-Assembly in Aqueous Environments. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 2421–2429.

(461) Ianiro, A.; Giosia, M. D.; Fermani, S.; Samorì, C.; Barbalinardo, M.; Valle, F.; Pellegrini, G.; Biscarini, F.; Zerbetto, F.; Calvaresi, M.; et al. Customizing Properties of β -Chitin in Squid Pen (Gladius) by Chemical Treatments. *Mar. Drugs* **2014**, *12*, 5979– 5992.

(462) Li, M.-C.; Wu, Q.; Song, K.; French, A. D.; Mei, C.; Lei, T. pH-Responsive Water-Based Drilling Fluids Containing Bentonite and Chitin Nanocrystals. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 3783–3795.

(463) Facchine, E. G.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J.; Khan, S. A. Associative Structures Formed from Cellulose Nanofibrils and Nanochitins are pH-Responsive and Exhibit Tunable Rheology. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2021**, *588*, 232–241.

(464) Liu, Y.; Stoeckel, D.; Gordeyeva, K.; Agthe, M.; Schutz, C.; Fall, A. B.; Bergström, L. Nanoscale Assembly of Cellulose Nanocrystals During Drying and Redispersion. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2018**, *7*, 172–177.

(465) Riehle, F.; Hoenders, D.; Guo, J.; Eckert, A.; Ifuku, S.; Walther, A. Sustainable Chitin Nanofibrils Provide Outstanding Flame-Retardant Nanopapers. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 1098–1108.

(466) Jin, S.-A.; Khan, S. A.; Spontak, R. J.; Rojas, O. J. Anion-Specific Water Interactions with Nanochitin: Donnan and Osmotic Pressure Effects as Revealed by Quartz Microgravimetry. *Langmuir* **2021**, *37*, 11242–11250.

(467) Kunz, W.; Henle, J.; Ninham, B. W. 'Zur Lehre von der Wirkung der Salze'(About the Science of the Effect of Salts): Franz Hofmeister's Historical Papers. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2004, 9, 19–37.

(468) Vlachy, N.; Jagoda-Cwiklik, B.; Vácha, R.; Touraud, D.; Jungwirth, P.; Kunz, W. Hofmeister Series and Specific Interactions of Charged Headgroups with Aqueous Ions. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *146*, 42–47.

(469) Bastos-González, D.; Pérez-Fuentes, L.; Drummond, C.; Faraudo, J. Ions at Interfaces: The Central Role of Hydration and Hydrophobicity. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2016**, *23*, 19–28.

(470) Lewis, G. N.; Randall, M. The Activity Coefficient of Strong Electrolytes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1921**, 43, 1112–1154.

(471) Debye, P. The Theory of Electrolytes I. The Lowering of the Freezing Point and Related Occurrences. *Phys. Z.* **1923**, *24*, 185–206. (472) Okur, H. I.; Hladílková, J.; Rembert, K. B.; Cho, Y.; Heyda, J.; Dzubiella, J.; Cremer, P. S.; Jungwirth, P. Beyond the Hofmeister Series: Ion-Specific Effects on Proteins and Their Biological Functions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2017**, *121*, 1997–2014.

(473) Jin, S.-A.; Facchine, E. G.; Khan, S. A.; Rojas, O. J.; Spontak, R. J. Mesophase Characteristics of Cellulose Nanocrystal Films Prepared from Electrolyte Suspensions. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2021, 599, 207–218.

(474) Salaberria, A. M.; Labidi, J.; Fernandes, S. C. Different Routes to Turn Chitin into Stunning Nano-objects. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2015**, *68*, 503–515.

(475) Xia, Y.; Yang, P.; Sun, Y.; Wu, Y.; Mayers, B.; Gates, B.; Yin, Y.; Kim, F.; Yan, H. One-Dimensional Nanostructures: Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, 353–389.

 (476) Liu, Y.; Wu, F.; Zhao, X.; Liu, M. High-Performance Strain Sensors based on Spirally Structured Composites with Carbon Black, Chitin nanocrystals, and Natural Rubber. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2018, 6, 10595–10605.

(477) Teramoto, Y. Material Development Using the Inherent Features of Nano-Cellulose and Nano-Chitin: Necessity of Simple Processes and Cross-Disciplinary Collaboration. *Adv. Powder Technol.* **2020**, *31*, 528–532.

(478) Huang, J.; Zhong, Y.; Zhang, L.; Cai, J. Extremely Strong and Transparent Chitin Films: A High-Efficiency, Energy-Saving, and "Green" Route Using An Aqueous KOH/Urea Solution. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2017**, *27*, 1701100.

(479) Huan, S.; Ajdary, R.; Bai, L.; Klar, V.; Rojas, O. J. Low Solids Emulsion Gels Based on Nanocellulose for 3D-Printing. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 635–644.

(480) Bai, L.; Huan, S.; Zhu, Y.; Chu, G.; McClements, D. J.; Rojas, O. J. Recent advances in food emulsions and engineering foodstuffs using plant-based nanocelluloses. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.* **2021**, *12*, 383–406.

(481) Huang, Y.; Sun, Y.; Liu, H. Fabrication of Chitin Nanofiber-PDMS Composite Aerogels from Pickering Emulsion Templates with Potential Application in Hydrophobic Organic Contaminant Removal. J. Hazard. Mater. 2021, 419, 126475.

(482) Bai, L.; Lv, S.; Xiang, W.; Huan, S.; McClements, D. J.; Rojas, O. J. Oil-in-Water Pickering Emulsions via Microfluidization with Cellulose Nanocrystals: 1. Formation and Stability. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2019**, *96*, 699–708.

(483) Noguchi, S.; Sato, K.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Preparation of Composite and Hollow Particles from Self-Assembled Chitin Nanofibers by Pickering Emulsion Polymerization. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *126*, 187–192.

(484) Jiao, B.; Shi, A.; Wang, Q.; Binks, B. P. High-Internal-Phase Pickering Emulsions Stabilized Solely by Peanut-Protein-Isolate Microgel Particles with Multiple Potential Applications. *Angew. Chem.* **2018**, *130*, 9418–9422.

(485) Perrin, E.; Bizot, H.; Cathala, B.; Capron, I. Chitin Nanocrystals for Pickering High Internal Phase Emulsions. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 3766–3771.

(486) Huan, S.; Mattos, B. D.; Ajdary, R.; Xiang, W.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J. Two-Phase Emulgels for Direct Ink Writing of Skin-Bearing Architectures. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1902990.

(487) Sun, G.; Liu, X.; McClements, D. J.; Liu, S.; Li, B.; Li, Y. Chitin Nanofibers Improve the Stability and Functional Performance of Pickering Emulsions Formed from Colloidal Zein. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2021**, *589*, 388–400.

(488) Lv, S.; Zhou, H.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J.; McClements, D. J. Development of Food-Grade Pickering Emulsions Stabilized by a Mixture of Cellulose Nanofibrils and Nanochitin. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2021**, *113*, 106451.

(489) Sun, G.; Zhao, Q.; Liu, S.; Li, B.; Li, Y. Complex of Raw Chitin Nanofibers and Zein Colloid Particles as Stabilizer for Producing Stable Pickering Emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2019**, *97*, 105178.

(490) Zhou, H.; Lv, S.; Liu, J.; Tan, Y.; Muriel Mundo, J. L.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J.; McClements, D. J. Modulation of Physicochemical Characteristics of Pickering Emulsions: Utilization of Nanocelluloseand Nanochitin-Coated Lipid Droplet Blends. J. Agric. Food Chem. **2020**, 68, 603–611.

(491) McClements, D. J. Future Foods: A Manifesto for Research Priorities in Structural Design of Foods. *Food Funct.* **2020**, *11*, 1933–1945.

(492) Rao, J.; Chen, B.; McClements, D. J. Improving the Efficacy of Essential Oils as Antimicrobials in Foods: Mechanisms of Action. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *10*, 365–387.

(493) Kavetsou, E.; Koutsoukos, S.; Daferera, D.; Polissiou, M. G.; Karagiannis, D.; Perdikis, D. C.; Detsi, A. Encapsulation of Mentha Pulegium Essential Oil in Yeast Cell Microcarriers: An Approach to Environmentally Friendly Pesticides. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2019**, *67*, 4746–4753.

(494) Bai, L.; Lv, S.; Xiang, W.; Huan, S.; McClements, D. J.; Rojas, O. J. Oil-in-Water Pickering Emulsions via Microfluidization with Cellulose Nanocrystals: 2. In Vitro Lipid Digestion. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2019**, *96*, 709–716.

(495) Hill, J. O.; Wyatt, H. R.; Reed, G. W.; Peters, J. C. Obesity and the Environment: Where Do We Go From Here? *Science* 2003, *299*, 853–855.

(496) Tzoumaki, M. V.; Moschakis, T.; Scholten, E.; Biliaderis, C. G. In Vitro Lipid Digestion of Chitin Nanocrystal Stabilized O/W Emulsions. *Food Funct.* **2013**, *4*, 121–129.

(497) Zhou, H.; Liu, J.; Dai, T.; Mundo, J. L. M.; Tan, Y.; Bai, L.; McClements, D. J. The Gastrointestinal Fate of Inorganic and Organic Nanoparticles in Vitamin D-Fortified Plant-Based Milks. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2021**, *112*, 106310.

(498) Zhou, H.; Tan, Y.; Lv, S.; Liu, J.; Mundo, J. L. M.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J.; McClements, D. J. Nanochitin-Stabilized Pickering Emulsions: Influence of Nanochitin on Lipid Digestibility and Vitamin Bioaccessibility. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2020**, *106*, 105878.

(499) Zhou, H.; Dai, T.; Liu, J.; Tan, Y.; Bai, L.; Rojas, O. J.; McClements, D. J. Chitin Nanocrystals Reduce Lipid Digestion and β -Carotene Bioaccessibility: An in-Vitro INFOGEST Gastrointestinal Study. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2021**, *113*, 106494.

(500) Xue, W.; Han, Y.; Tan, J.; Wang, Y.; Wang, G.; Wang, H. Effects of Nanochitin on the Enhancement of the Grain Yield and Quality of Winter Wheat. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2018**, *66*, 6637–6645. (501) Li, Z.; Su, L.; Wang, H.; An, S.; Yin, X. Physicochemical and Biological Properties of Nanochitin-Abamectin Conjugate for Noctuidae Insect Pest Control. *J. Nanopart. Res.* **2020**, *22*, 286.

(502) Azuma, K.; Nishihara, M.; Shimizu, H.; Itoh, Y.; Takashima, O.; Osaki, T.; Itoh, N.; Imagawa, T.; Murahata, Y.; Tsuka, T.; et al. Biological Adhesive Based on Carboxymethyl Chitin Derivatives and Chitin Nanofibers. *Biomaterials* **2015**, *42*, 20–29.

(503) Azuma, K.; Koizumi, R.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Osaki, T.; Ito, N.; Yamashita, M.; Tsuka, T.; Imagawa, T.; et al. Hair Growth-Promoting Activities of Chitosan and Surface-Deacetylated Chitin Nanofibers. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *126*, 11–17.

(504) Zhou, Y.; Jing, M.; Levy, A.; Wang, H.; Jiang, S.; Dou, D. Molecular Mechanism of Nanochitin Whisker Elicits Plant Resistance Against Phytophthora and the Receptors in Plants. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *165*, 2660–2667.

(505) Dolphen, R.; Thiravetyan, P. Adsorption of Melanoidins by Chitin Nanofibers. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2011**, *166*, 890–895.

(506) Li, Z.; Wang, H.; An, S.; Yin, X. Nanochitin Whisker Enhances Insecticidal Activity of Chemical Pesticide for Pest Insect Control and Toxicity. *J. Nanobiotechnol.* **2021**, *19*, 49.

(507) Egusa, M.; Matsukawa, S.; Miura, C.; Nakatani, S.; Yamada, J.; Endo, T.; Ifuku, S.; Kaminaka, H. Improving Nitrogen Uptake Efficiency by Chitin Nanofiber Promotes Growth in Tomato. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *151*, 1322–1331.

(508) Salaberria, A. M.; Labidi, J.; Fernandes, S. C. Chitin Nanocrystals and Nanofibers as Nano-sized Fillers into Thermoplastic Starch-Based Biocomposites Processed by Melt-Mixing. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *256*, 356–364. (509) Rubentheren, V.; Ward, T. A.; Chee, C. Y.; Tang, C. K. Processing and Analysis of Chitosan Nanocomposites Reinforced with Chitin Whiskers and Tannic Acid as a Crosslinker. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *115*, 379–387.

(510) Salaberria, A. M.; Diaz, R. H.; Labidi, J.; Fernandes, S. C. Role of Chitin Nanocrystals and Nanofibers on Physical, Mechanical and Functional Properties in Thermoplastic Starch Films. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2015**, *46*, 93–102.

(511) Chau, T. T. L.; Le, D. Q. T.; Le, H. T.; Nguyen, C. D.; Nguyen, L. V.; Nguyen, T.-D. Chitin Liquid-Crystal-Templated Oxide Semiconductor Aerogels. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2017**, *9*, 30812– 30820.

(512) Oh, D. X.; Cha, Y. J.; Nguyen, H.-L.; Je, H. H.; Jho, Y. S.; Hwang, D. S.; Yoon, D. K. Chiral Nematic Self-Assembly of Minimally Surface Damaged Chitin Nanofibrils and Its Load Bearing Functions. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 23245.

(513) Hubbe, M. A.; Tayeb, P.; Joyce, M.; Tyagi, P.; Kehoe, M.; Dimic-Misic, K.; Pal, L. Rheology of Nanocellulose-Rich Aqueous Suspensions: A Review. *BioResources* **2017**, *12*, 9556–9661.

(514) De Vicente, J.; Segovia-Gutiérrez, J.; Andablo-Reyes, E.; Vereda, F.; Hidalgo-Álvarez, R. Dynamic Rheology of Sphere-and Rod-Based Magnetorheological Fluids. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *131*, 194902.

(515) Petrova, V. A.; Elokhovskiy, V. Y.; Raik, S. V.; Poshina, D. N.; Romanov, D. P.; Skorik, Y. A. Alginate Gel Reinforcement with Chitin Nanowhiskers Modulates Rheological Properties and Drug Release Profile. *Biomolecules* **2019**, *9*, 291.

(516) Wang, H.; Li, B.; Ding, F.; Ma, T. Improvement of Properties of Smart Ink via Chitin Nanofiber and Application as Freshness Indicator. *Prog. Org. Coat.* **2020**, *149*, 105921.

(517) Shan, J.; Liu, D.; Su, F.; Li, M.; Tian, H.; Guo, M.; Qiao, W.; He, J.; Li, Q.; Qian, J. Anisotropic Structure and Properties of Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibril-Supported Starch Foams. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 17387–17396.

(518) Carsi, M.; Sanchis, M. J.; Gómez, C. M.; Rodriguez, S.; G. Torres, F. Effect of Chitin Whiskers on the Molecular Dynamics of Carrageenan-Based Nanocomposites. *Polymers* **2019**, *11*, 1083.

(519) Li, M.-C.; Wu, Q.; Song, K.; Cheng, H.; Suzuki, S.; Lei, T. Chitin Nanofibers as Reinforcing and Antimicrobial Agents in Carboxymethyl Cellulose Films: Influence of Partial Deacetylation. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 4385–4395.

(520) Pasquier, E.; Mattos, B. D.; Belgacem, N.; Bras, J.; Rojas, O. J. Lignin Nanoparticle Nucleation and Growth on Cellulose and Chitin Nanofibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, *22*, 880–889.

(521) Shang, L.; Yu, Y.; Liu, Y.; Chen, Z.; Kong, T.; Zhao, Y. Spinning and Applications of Bioinspired Fiber Systems. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 2749–2772.

(522) Gonska, N.; López, P. A.; Lozano-Picazo, P.; Thorpe, M.; Guinea, G. V.; Johansson, J.; Barth, A.; Pérez-Rigueiro, J.; Rising, A. Structure-Function Relationship of Artificial Spider Silk Fibers Produced by Straining Flow Spinning. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 2116–2124.

(523) Lundahl, M. J.; Klar, V.; Ajdary, R.; Norberg, N.; Ago, M.; Cunha, A. G.; Rojas, O. J. Absorbent Filaments from Cellulose Nanofibril Hydrogels Through Continuous Coaxial Wet Spinning. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 27287–27296.

(524) Lundahl, M. J.; Klar, V.; Wang, L.; Ago, M.; Rojas, O. J. Spinning of Cellulose Nanofibrils into Filaments: A Review. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *56*, 8–19.

(525) Eom, W.; Shin, H.; Ambade, R. B.; Lee, S. H.; Lee, K. H.; Kang, D. J.; Han, T. H. Large-Scale Wet-Spinning of Highly Electroconductive MXene Fibers. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 2825.

(526) Iwamoto, S.; Isogai, A.; Iwata, T. Structure and Mechanical Properties of Wet-Spun Fibers Made from Natural Cellulose Nanofibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 831–836.

(527) Das, P.; Heuser, T.; Wolf, A.; Zhu, B.; Demco, D. E.; Ifuku, S.; Walther, A. Tough and Catalytically Active Hybrid Biofibers Wet-Spun from Nanochitin Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 4205–4212.

(528) Wang, L.; Ezazi, N. Z.; Liu, L.; Ajdary, R.; Xiang, W.; Borghei, M.; Santos, H. A.; Rojas, O. J. Microfibers Synthesized by Wet-Spinning of Chitin Nanomaterials: Mechanical, Structural and Cell Proliferation Properties. *Rsc Adv.* **2020**, *10*, 29450–29459.

(529) Wu, J.; Cheng, X.; Yang, G. Preparation of Nanochitin-Contained Magnetic Chitosan Microfibers via Continuous Injection Gelation Method for Removal of Ni (II) Ion from Aqueous Solution. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *125*, 404–413.

(530) Xu, J.; Zhou, Z.; Cai, J.; Tian, J. Conductive Biomass-Based Composite Wires with Cross-Linked Anionic Nanocellulose and Cationic Nanochitin As Scaffolds. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *156*, 1183–1190.

(531) Mittal, N.; Ansari, F.; Gowda.V, K.; Brouzet, C.; Chen, P.; Larsson, P. T.; Roth, S. V.; Lundell, F.; Wagberg, L.; Kotov, N. A.; et al. Multiscale Montrol of Nanocellulose Assembly: Transferring Remarkable Nanoscale Fibril Mechanics to Macroscale Fibers. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 6378–6388.

(532) Torres-Rendon, J. G.; Schacher, F. H.; Ifuku, S.; Walther, A. Mechanical Performance of Macrofibers of Cellulose and Chitin Nanofibrils Aligned by Wet-Stretching: A Critical Comparison. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 2709–2717.

(533) Amaike, M.; Senoo, Y.; Yamamoto, H. Sphere, Honeycomb, Regularly Spaced Droplet and Fiber Structures of Polyion Complexes of Chitosan and Gellan. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **1998**, *19*, 287– 289.

(534) Wan, A. C.; Cutiongco, M. F.; Tai, B. C.; Leong, M. F.; Lu, H. F.; Yim, E. K. Fibers by Interfacial Polyelectrolyte Complexation-Processes, Materials and Applications. *Mater. Today* **2016**, *19*, 437–450.

(535) Grande, R.; Trovatti, E.; Carvalho, A. J.; Gandini, A. Continuous Microfiber Drawing by Interfacial Charge Complexation between Anionic Cellulose Nanofibers and Cationic Chitosan. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2017**, *5*, 13098–13103.

(536) Toivonen, M. S.; Kurki-Suonio, S.; Wagermaier, W.; Hynninen, V.; Hietala, S.; Ikkala, O. Interfacial Polyelectrolyte Complex Spinning of Cellulose Nanofibrils for Advanced Bicomponent Fibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1293–1301.

(537) Grande, R.; Bai, L.; Wang, L.; Xiang, W.; Ikkala, O.; Carvalho, A. J.; Rojas, O. J. Nanochitins of Varying Aspect Ratio and Properties of Microfibers Produced by Interfacial Complexation with Seaweed Alginate. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. **2020**, *8*, 1137–1145.

(538) Zhang, K.; Ketterle, L.; Järvinen, T.; Hong, S.; Liimatainen, H. Conductive Hybrid Filaments of Carbon Nanotubes, Chitin Nanocrystals and Cellulose Nanofibers Formed by Interfacial Nanoparticle Complexation. *Mater. Des.* **2020**, *191*, 108594.

(539) Huan, S.; Liu, G.; Cheng, W.; Han, G.; Bai, L. Electrospun Poly(lactic acid)-Based Fibrous Nanocomposite Reinforced by Cellulose Nanocrystals: Impact of Fiber Uniaxial Alignment on Microstructure and Mechanical Properties. *Biomacromolecules* **2018**, *19*, 1037–1046.

(540) Jalvo, B.; Mathew, A. P.; Rosal, R. Coaxial Poly(lactic acid) Electrospun Composite Membranes Incorporating Cellulose and Chitin Nanocrystals. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2017**, *544*, 261–271.

(541) Teo, W. E.; Ramakrishna, S. A Review on Electrospinning Design and Nanofibre Assemblies. *Nanotechnology* **2006**, *17*, R89.

(542) Bhardwaj, N.; Kundu, S. C. Electrospinning: A Fascinating Fiber Fabrication Technique. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2010**, *28*, 325–347.

(543) Huan, S.; Bai, L.; Cheng, W.; Han, G. Manufacture of Electrospun All-Aqueous Poly(vinyl alcohol)/Cellulose Nanocrystal Composite Nanofibrous Mats with Enhanced Properties Through Controlling Fibers Arrangement and Microstructure. *Polymer* **2016**, *92*, 25–35.

(544) Wang, H.; Kong, L.; Ziegler, G. R. Fabrication of Starch-Nanocellulose Composite Fibers by Electrospinning. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2019**, *90*, 90–98.

(545) Schiffman, J. D.; Schauer, C. L. One-Step Electrospinning of Cross-Linked Chitosan Fibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 2665–2667.

(546) Naseri, N.; Algan, C.; Jacobs, V.; John, M.; Oksman, K.; Mathew, A. P. Electrospun Chitosan-Based Nanocomposite Mats Reinforced with Chitin Nanocrystals for Wound Dressing. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *109*, 7–15.

(547) Zhu, L.; Liang, K.; Ji, Y. Prominent Reinforcing Effect of Chitin Nanocrystals on Electrospun Polydioxanone Nanocomposite Fiber Mats. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. **2015**, 44, 35–42.

(548) Naseri, N.; Mathew, A. P.; Oksman, K. Electrospinnability of Bionanocomposites with High Nanocrystal Loadings: The Effect of Nanocrystal Surface Characteristics. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, *147*, 464–472.

(549) Ahmed, M.; Hameed, B.; Hummadi, E. Review on Recent Progress in Chitosan/Chitin-Carbonaceous Material Composites for the Adsorption of Water Pollutants. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 247, 116690.

(550) Mujtaba, M.; Morsi, R. E.; Kerch, G.; Elsabee, M. Z.; Kaya, M.; Labidi, J.; Khawar, K. M. Current Advancements in Chitosan-Based Film Production for Food Technology: A Review. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *121*, 889–904.

(551) Naghdi, T.; Golmohammadi, H.; Yousefi, H.; Hosseinifard, M.; Kostiv, U.; Horak, D.; Merkoci, A. Chitin Nanofiber Paper Toward Optical (Bio)sensing Applications. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 15538–15552.

(552) Satam, C. C.; Irvin, C. W.; Lang, A. W.; Jallorina, J. C. R.; Shofner, M. L.; Reynolds, J. R.; Meredith, J. C. Spray-Coated Multilayer Cellulose Nanocrystal-Chitin Nanofiber Films for Barrier Applications. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. **2018**, *6*, 10637–10644.

(553) Ma, H.; Burger, C.; Hsiao, B. S.; Chu, B. Ultrafine Polysaccharide Nanofibrous Membranes for Water Purification. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 970–976.

(554) Wu, J.; Meredith, J. C. Assembly of Chitin Nanofibers into Porous Biomimetic Structures via Freeze Drying. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2014**, *3*, 185–190.

(555) Fazli Wan Nawawi, W. M.; Lee, K.-Y.; Kontturi, E.; Murphy, R. J.; Bismarck, A. Chitin Nanopaper from Mushroom Extract: Natural Composite of Nanofibers and Glucan from a Single Biobased Source. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 6492–6496.

(556) Pasquier, E.; Beaumont, M.; Mattos, B. D.; Otoni, C. G.; Winter, A.; Rosenau, T.; Belgacem, M. N.; Rojas, O. J.; Bras, J. Upcycling Byproducts from Insect (Fly Larvae and Mealworm) Farming into Chitin Nanofibers and Films. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2021**, *9*, 13618–13629.

(557) Fan, Y.; Fukuzumi, H.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Comparative Characterization of Aqueous Dispersions and Cast Films of Different Chitin Nanowhiskers/Nanofibers. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2012**, *50*, 69–76.

(558) Zhang, Y.; Jiang, J.; Liu, L.; Zheng, K.; Yu, S.; Fan, Y. Preparation, Assessment, and Comparison of α -Chitin Nano-Fiber films with Different Surface Charges. Nanoscale Res. Lett. **2015**, 10, 226.

(559) Espinosa, H.; Prorok, B.; Fischer, M. A Methodology for Determining Mechanical Properties of Freestanding Thin Films and MEMS Materials. *J. Mech. Phys. Solids* **2003**, *51*, 47–67.

(560) Ifuku, S.; Ikuta, A.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Control of Mechanical Properties of Chitin Nanofiber Film Using Glycerol without Losing Its Characteristics. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *101*, 714–717.

(561) Mushi, N. E.; Nishino, T.; Berglund, L. A.; Zhou, Q. Strong and Tough Chitin Film from α -Chitin Nanofibers Prepared by High Pressure Homogenization and Chitosan Addition. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. **2019**, 7, 1692–1697.

(562) Henriksson, M.; Berglund, L. A.; Isaksson, P.; Lindström, T.; Nishino, T. Cellulose Nanopaper Structures of High Toughness. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1579–1585.

(563) Yang, X.; Reid, M. S.; Olsén, P.; Berglund, L. A. Eco-Friendly Cellulose Nanofibrils Designed by Nature: Effects from Preserving Native State. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 724–735.

(564) Hoque, N. A.; Thakur, P.; Biswas, P.; Saikh, M. M.; Roy, S.; Bagchi, B.; Das, S.; Ray, P. P. Biowaste Crab Shell-Extracted Chitin Nanofiber-Based Superior Piezoelectric Nanogenerator. J. Mater. Chem. A 2018, 6, 13848-13858.

(565) Lange, J.; Wyser, Y. Recent Innovations in Barrier Technologies for Plastic Packaging-A Review. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2003, *16*, 149–158.

(566) Yan, L.; Li, P.; Zhou, W.; Wang, Z.; Fan, X.; Chen, M.; Fang, Y.; Liu, H. Shrimp Shell-Inspired Antifouling Chitin Nanofibrous Membrane for Efficient Oil/Water Emulsion Separation with in Situ Removal of Heavy Metal Ions. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 2064–2072.

(567) Wang, Z.; Li, P.; Fang, Y.; Yan, L.; Zhou, W.; Fan, X.; Liu, H. One-Step Recovery of Noble Metal Ions from Oil/Water Emulsions by Chitin Nanofibrous Membrane for Further Recycling Utilization. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, *223*, 115064.

(568) Horacek, H.; Grabner, R. Advantages of Flame Retardants Based on Nitrogen Compounds. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* **1996**, *54*, 205–215.

(569) Zhang, T.; Kuga, S.; Wu, M.; Huang, Y. Chitin Nanofibril-Based Flame Retardant for Paper Application. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 12360–12365.

(570) Pan, H.; Wang, W.; Pan, Y.; Song, L.; Hu, Y.; Liew, K. M. Formation of Self-Extinguishing Flame Retardant Biobased Coating on Cotton Fabrics via Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Chitin Derivatives. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *115*, 516–524.

(571) Gaan, S.; Sun, G.; Hutches, K.; Engelhard, M. H. Effect of Nitrogen Additives on Flame Retardant Action of Tributyl Phosphate: Phosphorus-Nitrogen Synergism. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* **2008**, *93*, 99–108.

(572) Chu, S.; Cui, Y.; Liu, N. The Path Towards Sustainable Energy. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 16–22.

(573) Lizundia, E.; Kundu, D. Advances in Natural Biopolymerbased Electrolytes and Separators for Battery Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2005646.

(574) Zhang, T.-W.; Shen, B.; Yao, H.-B.; Ma, T.; Lu, L.-L.; Zhou, F.; Yu, S.-H. Prawn Shell Derived Chitin Nanofiber Membranes as Advanced Sustainable Separators for Li/Na-Ion Batteries. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 4894–4901.

(575) Hashiguchi, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kadokawa, J.-i. Fabrication of Highly Flexible Nanochitin Film and Its Composite Film with Anionic Polysaccharide. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, *270*, 118369.

(576) Saito, K.; Morita, K.; Ogawa, M. Preparation of a Chitin/Clay Hybrid Film by a Mechanochemical Method. *ACS Appl. Polym. Mater.* **2020**, *2*, 4733–4738.

(577) Hu, Y.; Liu, L.; Yu, J.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y. Preparation of Silk Nanowhisker-Composited Amphoteric Cellulose/Chitin Nanofiber Membranes. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 1625–1635.

(578) Ifuku, S.; Morooka, S.; Nakagaito, A. N.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H. Preparation and Characterization of Optically Transparent Chitin Nanofiber/(Meth)acrylic Resin Composites. *Green Chem.* **2011**, *13*, 1708–1711.

(579) Peng, C.; Chen, G. Preparation and Assessment of Heat-Treated α -Chitin Nanowhiskers Reinforced Poly(viny alcohol) Film for Packaging Application. *Materials* **2018**, *11*, 1883.

(580) Shi, Y.; Wu, G.; Chen, S.-C.; Song, F.; Wang, Y.-Z. Green Fabrication of High-Performance Chitin Nanowhiskers/PVA Composite Films with a "Brick-and-Mortar" Structure. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 17807–17815.

(581) Irvin, C. W.; Satam, C. C.; Meredith, J. C.; Shofner, M. L. Mechanical Reinforcement and Thermal Properties of PVA Tricomponent Nanocomposites with Chitin Nanofibers and Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Composites, Part A* **2019**, *116*, 147–157.

(582) Xu, J.; Deng, X.; Dong, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, J.; Cai, J.; Zhang, Y. High-Strength, Transparent and Superhydrophobic Nanocellulose/Nanochitin Membranes Fabricated via Crosslinking of Nanofibers and Coating F-SiO2 Suspensions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 247, 116694.

(583) Robles, E.; Salaberria, A. M.; Herrera, R.; Fernandes, S. C.; Labidi, J. Self-Bonded Composite Films Based on Cellulose Nanofibers and Chitin Nanocrystals as Antifungal Materials. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, 144, 41–49.

(584) Satam, C. C.; Irvin, C. W.; Coffey, C. J.; Geran, R. K.; Ibarra-Rivera, R.; Shofner, M. L.; Meredith, J. C. Controlling Barrier and Mechanical Properties of Cellulose Nanocrystals by Blending with Chitin Nanofibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 545–555.

(585) Fernández-Marín, R.; Labidi, J.; Andrés, M. A.; Fernandes, S. C. Using α -Chitin Nanocrystals to Improve the Final Properties of Poly(vinyl alcohol) Films with Origanum vulgare Essential Oil. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* **2020**, *179*, 109227.

(586) Valencia, L.; Nomena, E. M.; Mathew, A. P.; Velikov, K. P. Biobased Cellulose Nanofibril-Oil Composite Films for Active Edible Barriers. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 16040–16047.

(587) Azarifar, M.; Ghanbarzadeh, B.; Abdulkhani, A.; et al. The Effects of Gelatin-CMC Films Incorporated with Chitin Nanofiber and Trachyspermum Ammi Essential Oil on the Shelf Life Characteristics of Refrigerated Raw Beef. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **2020**, *318*, 108493.

(588) Azarifar, M.; Ghanbarzadeh, B.; Khiabani, M. S.; Basti, A. A.; Abdulkhani, A.; Noshirvani, N.; Hosseini, M. The Optimization of Gelatin-CMC Based Active Films Containing Chitin Nanofiber and Trachyspermum Ammi Essential Oil by Response Surface Methodology. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, *208*, 457–468.

(589) Sahraee, S.; Milani, J. M.; Ghanbarzadeh, B.; Hamishehkar, H. Development of Emulsion Films based on Bovine Gelatin-Nano Chitin-Nano ZnO for Cake Packaging. *Food Sci. Nutr.* **2020**, *8*, 1303–1312.

(590) Jiménez-Saelices, C.; Trongsatitkul, T.; Lourdin, D.; Capron, I. Chitin Pickering Emulsion for Oil Inclusion in Composite Films. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 242, 116366.

(591) Fujisawa, S.; Togawa, E.; Kuroda, K. Facile Route to Transparent, Strong, and Thermally Stable Nanocellulose/Polymer Nanocomposites from an Aqueous Pickering Emulsion. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 266–271.

(592) Ben Cheikh, F.; Ben Mabrouk, A.; Magnin, A.; Lancelon-Pin, C.; Putaux, J.-L.; Boufi, S. Honeycomb Organization of Chitin Nanocrystals (ChNCs) in Nanocomposite Films of UV-Cured Waterborne Acrylated Epoxidized Soybean Oil Emulsified with ChNCs. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, *22*, 3780–3790.

(593) Wu, C.; Sun, J.; Chen, M.; Ge, Y.; Ma, J.; Hu, Y.; Pang, J.; Yan, Z. Effect of Oxidized Chitin Nanocrystals and Curcumin into Chitosan Films for Seafood Freshness Monitoring. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2019**, *95*, 308–317.

(594) Wu, C.; Li, Y.; Sun, J.; Lu, Y.; Tong, C.; Wang, L.; Yan, Z.; Pang, J. Novel Konjac Glucomannan Films with Oxidized Chitin Nanocrystals Immobilized Red Cabbage Anthocyanins for Intelligent Food Packaging. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2020**, *98*, 105245.

(595) Ge, Y.; Li, Y.; Bai, Y.; Yuan, C.; Wu, C.; Hu, Y. Intelligent Gelatin/Oxidized Chitin Nanocrystals Nanocomposite Films Containing Black Rice Bran Anthocyanins for Fish Freshness Monitorings. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *155*, 1296–1306.

(596) Chen, H.-T.; Zhou, J.; O'Hara, J. F.; Chen, F.; Azad, A. K.; Taylor, A. J. Antireflection Coating Using Metamaterials and Identification of Its Mechanism. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *105*, 073901. (597) Zhang, X.; Xiong, R.; Kang, S.; Yang, Y.; Tsukruk, V. V. Alternating Stacking of Nanocrystals and Nanofibers into Ultrastrong Chiral Biocomposite Laminates. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 14675–14685.

(598) Suzuki, S.; Teramoto, Y. Simple Inkjet Process to Fabricate Microstructures of Chitinous Nanocrystals for Cell Patterning. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1993–1999.

(599) Nguyen, H.-L.; Tran, T. H.; Hao, L. T.; Jeon, H.; Koo, J. M.; Shin, G.; Hwang, D. S.; Hwang, S. Y.; Park, J.; Oh, D. X. Biorenewable, Transparent, and Oxygen/Moisture Barrier Nanocellulose/Nanochitin-Based Coating on Polypropylene for Food Packaging Applications. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, *271*, 118421.

(600) Goetz, L. A.; Jalvo, B.; Rosal, R.; Mathew, A. P. Superhydrophilic Anti-Fouling Electrospun Cellulose Acetate Membranes Coated with Chitin Nanocrystals for Water Filtration. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2016**, *510*, 238–248.

(601) Chu, Z.; Seeger, S. Superamphiphobic Surfaces. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2014, 43, 2784–2798.

(602) van de Groep, J.; Spinelli, P.; Polman, A. Single-Step Soft-Imprinted Large-Area Nanopatterned Antireflection Coating. *Nano Lett.* **2015**, *15*, 4223–4228.

(603) Manabe, K. Growth of Porous Chitin-nanofibrous Structure via Layer-by-Layer Self-Assembly Under Existing Ionic Effects for Antireflective and Antifogging Coatings. *Prog. Org. Coat.* **2020**, *142*, 105599.

(604) Manabe, K.; Tanaka, C.; Moriyama, Y.; Tenjimbayashi, M.; Nakamura, C.; Tokura, Y.; Matsubayashi, T.; Kyung, K.-H.; Shiratori, S. Chitin Nanofibers Extracted from Crab Shells in Broadband Visible Antireflection Coatings with Controlling Layer-by-Layer Deposition and the Application for Durable Antifog Surfaces. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 31951–31958.

(605) Kim, T.; Tran, T. H.; Hwang, S. Y.; Park, J.; Oh, D. X.; Kim, B.-S. Crab-on-a-Tree: All Biorenewable, Optical and Radio Frequency Transparent Barrier Nanocoating for Food Packaging. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 3796–3805.

(606) Zhang, X.; Elsayed, I.; Navarathna, C.; Schueneman, G. T.; Hassan, E. B. Biohybrid Hydrogel and Aerogel from Self-Assembled Nanocellulose and Nanochitin as a High-Efficiency Adsorbent for Water Purification. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 46714– 46725.

(607) Nata, I. F.; Wang, S. S.-S.; Wu, T.-M.; Lee, C.-K. Carbonaceous Hydrogels Based on Hydrothermal Carbonization of Glucose with Chitin Nanofibers. *Soft Matter* **2012**, *8*, 3522–3525.

(608) Abe, K.; Ifuku, S.; Kawata, M.; Yano, H. Preparation of Tough Hydrogels Based on β -Chitin Nanofibers via NaOH Treatment. *Cellulose* **2014**, *21*, 535–540.

(609) Chen, C.; Yano, H.; Li, D.; Abe, K. Preparation of High-Strength α -Chitin Nanofiber-Based Hydrogels under Mild Conditions. *Cellulose* **2015**, *22*, 2543–2550.

(610) Ding, F.; Deng, H.; Du, Y.; Shi, X.; Wang, Q. Emerging Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibrous Materials for Biomedical Applications. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 9477–9493.

(611) Tao, F.; Cheng, Y.; Shi, X.; Zheng, H.; Du, Y.; Xiang, W.; Deng, H. Applications of Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibers in Bone Regenerative Engineering. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2020**, 230, 115658.

(612) Suginta, W.; Khunkaewla, P.; Schulte, A. Electrochemical Biosensor Applications of Polysaccharides Chitin and Chitosan. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 5458–5479.

(613) Mushi, N. E.; Kochumalayil, J.; Cervin, N. T.; Zhou, Q.; Berglund, L. A. Nanostructurally Controlled Hydrogel Based on Small-Diameter Native Chitin Nanofibers: Preparation, Structure, and Properties. *ChemSusChem* **2016**, *9*, 989–995.

(614) Heath, L.; Zhu, L.; Thielemans, W. Chitin Nanowhisker Aerogels. *ChemSusChem* **2013**, *6*, 537–544.

(615) Nata, I. F.; Wang, S. S.-S.; Wu, T.-M.; Lee, C.-K. β -Chitin Nanofibrils for Self-Sustaining Hydrogels Preparation via Hydro-thermal Treatment. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2012**, *90*, 1509–1514.

(616) Tsutsumi, Y.; Koga, H.; Qi, Z.-D.; Saito, T.; Isogai, A. Nanofibrillar Chitin Aerogels as Renewable Base Catalysts. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 4314–4319.

(617) Song, S.; Zhao, Y.; Yuan, X.; Zhang, J. β -Chitin Nanofiber Hydrogel as a Scaffold to in Situ Fabricate Monodispersed Ultra-Small Silver Nanoparticles. *Colloids Surf.*, A **2019**, 574, 36–43.

(618) Torres-Rendon, J. G.; Femmer, T.; De Laporte, L.; Tigges, T.; Rahimi, K.; Gremse, F.; Zafarnia, S.; Lederle, W.; Ifuku, S.; Wessling, M.; et al. Bioactive Gyroid Scaffolds Formed by Sacrificial Templating of Nanocellulose and Nanochitin Hydrogels as Instructive Platforms for Biomimetic Tissue Engineering. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 2989– 2995.

(619) Liu, L.; Wang, R.; Yu, J.; Hu, L.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y. Adsorption of Reactive Blue 19 from Aqueous Solution by Chitin Nanofiber-/ Nanowhisker-Based Hydrogels. *Rsc Adv.* **2018**, *8*, 15804–15812.

(620) Liu, L.; Wang, R.; Yu, J.; Jiang, J.; Zheng, K.; Hu, L.; Wang, Z.; Fan, Y. Robust Self-Standing Chitin Nanofiber/Nanowhisker Hydrogels with Designed Surface Charges and Ultralow Mass Content via Gas Phase Coagulation. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 3773–3781.

(621) Ma, H.; Xu, J.; Yu, J.; Liu, L.; Fan, Y. Visualization and Improvement of the Physical Gelation Process During Gas Phase Coagulation through Acid-Base Indicator Staining, Monitoring and Optimization. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 6871–6886.

(622) Li, W.; He, X.; Liu, K.; Wen, W.; Lu, L.; Liu, M.; Zhou, C.; Luo, B. Creating Ultrastrong and Osteogenic Chitin Nanocomposite Hydrogels via Chitin Whiskers with Different Surface Chemistries. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 17487–17499.

(623) Irvin, C. W.; Satam, C. C.; Liao, J.; Russo, P. S.; Breedveld, V.; Meredith, J. C.; Shofner, M. L. Synergistic Reinforcement of Composite Hydrogels with Nanofiber Mixtures of Cellulose Nanocrystals and Chitin Nanofibers. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, *22*, 340–352.

(624) Huang, Y.; Yao, M.; Zheng, X.; Liang, X.; Su, X.; Zhang, Y.; Lu, A.; Zhang, L. Effects of Chitin Whiskers on Physical Properties and Osteoblast Culture of Alginate based Nanocomposite Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 3499–3507.

(625) Chen, C.; Li, D.; Yano, H.; Abe, K. Insect Cuticle-Mimetic Hydrogels with High Mechanical Properties Achieved via the Combination of Chitin Nanofiber and Gelatin. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2019**, *67*, 5571–5578.

(626) Liu, L.; Bai, L.; Tripathi, A.; Yu, J.; Wang, Z.; Borghei, M.; Fan, Y.; Rojas, O. J. High Axial Ratio Nanochitins for Ultrastrong and Shape-Recoverable Hydrogels and Cryogels via Ice Templating. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 2927–2935.

(627) Chen, C.; Li, D.; Yano, H.; Abe, K. Bioinspired Hydrogels: Quinone Crosslinking Reaction for Chitin Nanofibers with Enhanced Mechanical Strength via Surface Deacetylation. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2019**, 207, 411–417.

(628) Capadona, J. R.; Van Den Berg, O.; Capadona, L. A.; Schroeter, M.; Rowan, S. J.; Tyler, D. J.; Weder, C. A Versatile Approach for the Processing of Polymer Nanocomposites with Self-Assembled Nanofibre Templates. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2007**, *2*, 765– 769.

(629) Tian, Y.; Liang, K.; Wang, X.; Ji, Y. Fabrication of Nanocomposite Bioelastomer Porous Scaffold based on Chitin Nanocrystal Supported Emulsion-Freeze-Casting. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2017, 5, 3305–3313.

(630) Wang, X.; Liang, K.; Tian, Y.; Ji, Y. A Facile and Green Emulsion Casting Method to Prepare Chitin Nanocrystal Reinforced Citrate-Based Bioelastomer. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *157*, 620–628.

(631) Liu, L.; Liu, Y.; Ma, H.; Xu, J.; Fan, Y.; Yong, Q. TEMPO-Oxidized Nanochitin Based Hydrogels and Inter-Structure Tunable Cryogels Prepared by Sequential Chemical and Physical Crosslinking. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, 272, 118495.

(632) Gao, K.; Guo, Y.; Niu, Q.; Fang, H.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, L.; Zhou, L. Effects of Chitin Nanofibers on the Microstructure and Properties of Cellulose Nanofibers/Chitin Nanofibers Composite Aerogels. *Cellulose* **2018**, *25*, 4591–4602.

(633) Suenaga, S.; Osada, M. Preparation of β -Chitin Nanofiber Aerogels by Lyophilization. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *126*, 1145–1149.

(634) Zhou, Y.; Fu, S.; Pu, Y.; Pan, S.; Ragauskas, A. J. Preparation of Aligned Porous Chitin Nanowhisker Foams by Directional Freeze-Casting Technique. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *112*, 277–283.

(635) Li, W.; Lu, K.; Walz, J. Freeze Casting of Porous Materials: Review of Critical Factors in Microstructure Evolution. *Int. Mater. Rev.* **2012**, *57*, 37–60.

(636) Muzzarelli, R. A.; Mehtedi, M. E.; Mattioli-Belmonte, M. Emerging Biomedical Applications of Nano-Chitins and Nano-Chitosans Obtained via Advanced Eco-Friendly Technologies from Marine Resources. *Mar. Drugs* **2014**, *12*, 5468–5502.

(637) Liu, L.; Ma, H.; Yu, J.; Fan, Y. Fabrication of Glycerophosphate-Based Nanochitin Hydrogels for Prolonged Release under in Vitro Physiological Conditions. *Cellulose* **2021**, *28*, 4887–4897.

(638) Lee, K. Y.; Mooney, D. J. Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101*, 1869–1880.

(639) Azuma, K.; Ifuku, S.; Osaki, T.; Okamoto, Y.; Minami, S. Preparation and Biomedical Applications of Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibers. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* **2014**, *10*, 2891–2920.

(640) Jayakumar, R.; Rani, V. D.; Shalumon, K.; Kumar, P. S.; Nair, S.; Furuike, T.; Tamura, H. Bioactive and Osteoblast Cell Attachment Studies of Novel α -and β -Chitin Membranes for Tissue-Engineering Applications. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2009**, *45*, 260–264.

(641) Kawata, M.; Azuma, K.; Izawa, H.; Morimoto, M.; Saimoto, H.; Ifuku, S. Biomineralization of Calcium Phosphate Crystals on Chitin Nanofiber Hydrogel for Bone Regeneration Material. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, *136*, 964–969.

(642) Jayakumar, R.; Prabaharan, M.; Kumar, P. S.; Nair, S.; Tamura, H. Biomaterials Based on Chitin and Chitosan in Wound Dressing Applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2011**, *29*, 322–337.

(643) Izumi, R.; Komada, S.; Ochi, K.; Karasawa, L.; Osaki, T.; Murahata, Y.; Tsuka, T.; Imagawa, T.; Itoh, N.; Okamoto, Y.; et al. Favorable Effects of Superficially Deacetylated Chitin Nanofibrils on the Wound Healing Process. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *123*, 461–467.

(644) Shou, K.; Huang, Y.; Qi, B.; Hu, X.; Ma, Z.; Lu, A.; Jian, C.; Zhang, L.; Yu, A. Induction of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Differentiation in the Absence of Soluble Inducer for Cutaneous Wound Regeneration by a Chitin Nanofiber-Based Hydrogel. *J. Tissue Eng. Regener. Med.* **2018**, *12*, No. e867-e880.

(645) Fang, Y.; Xu, Y.; Wang, Z.; Zhou, W.; Yan, L.; Fan, X.; Liu, H. 3D Porous Chitin Sponge with High Absorbency, Rapid Shape Recovery, and Excellent Antibacterial Activities for Noncompressible Wound. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2020**, 388, 124169.

(646) Tan, L.; Zhou, X.; Wu, K.; Yang, D.; Jiao, Y.; Zhou, C. Tannic Acid/CaII Anchored on the Surface of Chitin Nanofiber Sponge by Layer-by-Layer Deposition: Integrating Effective Antibacterial and Hemostatic Performance. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *159*, 304–315. (647) Borghei, M.; Lehtonen, J.; Liu, L.; Rojas, O. J. Advanced Biomass-Derived Electrocatalysts for the Oxygen Reduction Reaction. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1703691.

(648) Ding, B.; Huang, S.; Pang, K.; Duan, Y.; Zhang, J. Nitrogen-Enriched Carbon Nanofiber Aerogels Derived from Marine Chitin for Energy Storage and Environmental Remediation. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 177–185.

(649) Poskela, A.; Miettunen, K.; Borghei, M.; Vapaavuori, J.; Greca, L. G.; Lehtonen, J.; Solin, K.; Ago, M.; Lund, P. D.; Rojas, O. J. Nanocellulose and Nanochitin Cryogels Improve the Efficiency of Dye Solar Cells. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 10257–10265. (650) Liu, S.; Li, D. Synthesis of Chitin Nanofibers, MWCNTs and MnO2 Nanoflakes 3D Porous Network Flexible Gel-Film for High Supercapacitive Performance Electrodes. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2017**, *398*, 33–42.

(651) Chen, C.; Yang, C.; Li, S.; Li, D. A Three-Dimensionally Chitin Nanofiber/Carbon Nanotube Hydrogel Network for Foldable Conductive Paper. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2015**, *134*, 309–313.

(652) Liu, C.; Xu, W.; Mei, C.; Li, M.; Chen, W.; Hong, S.; Kim, W. Y.; Lee, S. y.; Wu, Q. A Chemically Self-Charging Flexible Solid-State Zinc-Ion Battery Based on VO2 Cathode and Polyacrylamide-Chitin Nanofiber Hydrogel Electrolyte. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2021**, *11*, 2003902.

(653) Bhatnagar, A.; Sillanpää, M. Applications of Chitin-and Chitosan-Derivatives for the Detoxification of Water and Wastewater-A Short Review. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *152*, 26–38.

(654) QU, J. Research Progress of Novel Adsorption Processes in Water Purification: A Review. J. Environ. Sci. 2008, 20, 1–13.

(655) Gopi, S.; Balakrishnan, P.; Divya, C.; Valic, S.; Bajsic, E. G.; Pius, A.; Thomas, S. Facile Synthesis of Chitin Nanocrystals Decorated on 3D Cellulose Aerogels as a New Multi-Functional Material for Waste Water Treatment with Enhanced Anti-Bacterial and Anti-Oxidant Properties. *New J. Chem.* **2017**, *41*, 12746–12755. (656) Ma, Z.; Liu, D.; Zhu, Y.; Li, Z.; Li, Z.; Tian, H.; Liu, H. Graphene Oxide/Chitin Nanofibril Composite Foams as Column Adsorbents for Aqueous Pollutants. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2016**, *144*, 230–237. (657) Xu, J.; Zhang, Y.; He, J.; Wu, J.; Li, W.; Zhang, H.; Wang, H.; Tu, J.; Zhou, Y.; Dong, Y.; et al. Natural and Sustainable Superhydrophobic Nanochitin Aerogels for Collecting Methane Bubbles from Underwater. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2021**, *9*, 5000–5009.

(658) Morganti, P.; Chen, H.-D. From the Circular Economy to a Green Economy. Note 1. Chitin Nanofibrils as Natural By-Products to Manage the Human and Environment Ecosystems. *J. Appl. Cosmetol* **2015**, *33*, 101–113.

(659) Morganti, P. Nanofabrication Using Nanomaterials; Ebothe, J., Ahmed, W., Eds.; One Central Press: Cheshire, 2016; p 1–22.

(660) Hamed, I.; Özogul, F.; Regenstein, J. M. Industrial Applications of Crustacean By-Products (Chitin, Chitosan, and Chitooligosaccharides): A Review. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *48*, 40–50.

(661) Vázquez, J. A.; Ramos, P.; Mirón, J.; Valcarcel, J.; Sotelo, C. G.; Pérez-Martín, R. I. Production of Chitin from Penaeus vannamei By-Products to Pilot Plant Scale Using a Combination of Enzymatic and Chemical Processes and Subsequent Optimization of the Chemical Production of Chitosan by Response Surface Methodology. *Mar. Drugs* **2017**, *15*, 180.

(662) Ifuku, S. Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibers: Preparation and Chemical Modifications. *Molecules* **2014**, *19*, 18367–18380.

(663) Currall, S. C.; King, E. B.; Lane, N.; Madera, J.; Turner, S. What Drives Public Acceptance of Nanotechnology? *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2006**, *1*, 153–155.

(664) Ganesh Pillai, R.; Bezbaruah, A. N. Perceptions and Attitude Effects on Nanotechnology Acceptance: An Exploratory Framework. *J. Nanopart. Res.* **2017**, *19*, 41.

(665) Eide, K. B.; Norberg, A. L.; Heggset, E. B.; Lindbom, A. R.; Vårum, K. M.; Eijsink, V. G.; Sørlie, M. Human Chitotriosidase-Catalyzed Hydrolysis of Chitosan. *Biochemistry* **2012**, *51*, 487–495.

(666) Morganti, P.; Carezzi, F.; Ciotto, P. D.; Tishchenko, G.; Chinaese, A.; Yudin, V. E. A Green Multifunctional Polymer from Discarded Material: Chitin Nanofibrils. *Br. J. Appl. Sci. Technol.* **2014**, *4*, 4175–4190.

(667) Nekvapil, F.; Aluas, M.; Barbu-Tudoran, L.; Suciu, M.; Pinzaru, S. C.; et al. From Blue Bioeconomy Towards Circular Economy Through High Sensitivity Analytical Research on Wasted Blue Crab Shell. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. **2019**, *7*, 16820–16827.

(668) Deng, J. J.; Mao, H. H.; Fang, W.; Li, Z. Q.; Luo, X. C.; et al. Enzymatic Conversion and Recovery of Protein, Chitin, and Astaxanthin from Shrimp Shell Waste. *J. Cleaner Prod.* **2020**, *271*, 122655.

(669) Philp, J. C.; Ritchie, R. J.; Guy, K. Biobased Plastics in a Bioeconomy. *Trends Biotechnol.* **2013**, *31*, 65–67.

(670) Otoni, C. G.; Azeredo, H. M.; Mattos, B. D.; Beaumont, M.; Correa, D. S.; Rojas, O. J. The Food-Materials Nexus: Next Generation Bioplastics and Advanced Materials from Agri-Food Residues. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2102520.

(671) Chen, C.; Wu, Q.; Wan, Z.; Yang, Q.; Xu, Z.; Li, D.; Jin, Y.; Rojas, O. J. Mildly Processed Chitin Used in One-Component Drinking Straws and Single Use Materials: Strength, Biodegradability and Recyclability. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2022**, *442*, 136173.